

Explanatory note

This explanatory note relates to this Bill as introduced into Parliament.

Overview of Bill

The objects of this Bill are to provide:

- (a) for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush and other fires in local government areas (or parts of areas) and other parts of the State constituted as rural fire districts, and
- (b) for the co-ordination of bush fire fighting and bush fire prevention throughout the State, and
- (c) for the protection of persons from injury or death, and property from damage, arising from bush fires, and
- (d) for the protection of the environment by requiring certain activities referred to in paragraphs (a)–(c) to be carried out having regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the *Protection of the Environment Administration Act 1991*.

The Bill provides for the constitution of all those parts of the State that are not within fire districts (within the meaning of the *Fire Brigades Act 1989*) as rural fire districts. The boundaries of the rural fire districts are the same as those areas of the State constituted as local government areas, the Western Division and Lord Howe Island or are combinations of such areas. Generally, responsibilities for the areas are conferred on the local authorities for the areas (councils, the Western Lands Commissioner and the Lord Howe Island Board).

The Rural Fire Service is responsible for providing rural fire services in the rural fire districts and other parts of the State and for assisting other emergency services organisations at incidents and at emergencies under the control of those organisations and has functions assigned to it under the State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989 and other Acts.

The members of the Rural Fire Service are the Commissioner and other public servants appointed to the Service, the fire control officers and deputy fire control officers appointed by the local authorities responsible for the rural fire districts and the volunteer rural fire fighters. The volunteer rural fire fighters are the officers and other members of the rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades who function under the direction of the fire control officers and other volunteers engaging in fire fighting and associated activities.

The Commissioner heads the Rural Fire Service and is Chairperson of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee (which plans for bush fire prevention and co-ordinated bush fire fighting) and also the Rural Fire Service Advisory Council

The Bill repeals and replaces the Bush Fires Act 1949.

Outline of provisions

Part 1 Preliminary

Clause 1 sets out the name (also called the short title) of the proposed Act.

Clause 2 provides for the commencement of the proposed Act on a day or days to be proclaimed.

Clause 3 sets out the objects of the proposed Act described above.

Clause 4 provides that the words and expressions used in the Dictionary at the end of the proposed Act have the meanings given in the Dictionary. It also provides for words and expressions used in the State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989 that are used in the proposed Act to have the same meanings in the proposed Act as they have in the 1989 Act.

Expressions defined include *local authority* and *area* of a local authority. The local authority for a local government area is the council of the area, for the Western Division is the Western Lands Commissioner, and for Lord Howe Island is the Lord Howe Island Board.

Clause 5 provides that notes do not form part of the proposed Act.

Clause 6 provides for the area of each local authority to be constituted as a rural fire district on the commencement of the proposed Act. Provision is made for changes in the boundaries and areas of local authorities to be reflected by corresponding changes to the boundaries and areas of the rural fire districts. Rural fire districts are based on local authority areas and do not include land within a fire district constituted under the *Fire Brigades Act* 1989.

Clause 7 sets out the local authorities to be responsible for carrying out functions for or in respect of rural fire districts conferred or imposed by or under the proposed Act. Functions to be exercised by the local authorities include the appointment of fire control officers and deputy fire control officers and the formation of rural fire brigades.

Part 2 NSW Rural Fire Service

Part 2 (clauses 8-43) establishes the NSW Rural Fire Service (the Service) and provides for its composition, functions and management. The Service is to be managed and controlled by the Commissioner. The Commissioner has responsibilities for the members of the Service, including the staff of the Service, fire control officers and deputy fire control officers and the members of rural fire brigades and other volunteers.

Division 1 The Service

Clause 8 establishes the Service. It provides that the Service consists of the Commissioner and other staff of the Service, fire control officers, officers and other members of rural fire brigades and other volunteer rural fire fighters.

Clause 9 specifies the general functions of the Service in relation to the prevention, mitigation and suppression of fires in rural fire districts and throughout the State. The functions of the Service include assisting other emergency services organisations at incidents and other emergencies under the control of those organisations. The Service is required to exercise its functions in accordance with the State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989 and to have regard to principles of ecologically sustainable development.

Division 2 The Commissioner and other staff of Service

Clause 10 provides for the employment of the Commissioner and other staff of the Service under the *Public Sector Management Act 1988*.

Clauses 11 and 12 make the Commissioner (subject to the control and direction of the Minister) responsible for the general management and control of the Service.

Clause 13 provides for the issue of Service Standards. The Service Standards are policy statements for or with respect to procedures to be followed in connection with the operation, management and control of the Service and provide information as to the standard operating procedures to be followed by the Service. The Commissioner is required to consult with the Advisory Council before issuing Service Standards.

Clause 14 provides the Commissioner with a general power of delegation.

Division 3 Rural fire brigades

Division 3 (clauses 15–33) provides for the formation, membership and functions of rural fire brigades. Rural fire brigades are groups of volunteer rural fire fighters based in rural fire districts.

Clause 15 provides for the formation of rural fire brigades by local authorities or, if a local authority that has been requested to form a brigade refuses or fails to do so, by the Commissioner.

Clause 16 provides for the formation of groups of rural fire brigades formed in a rural fire district by the fire control officer for the district.

Clause 17 provides for the disbandment of rural fire brigades by the persons or body that formed them and for appeals to the Minister against a decision to disband rural fire brigades.

Clause 18 provides for the determination of the territory in which a rural fire brigade is to operate and for the appointment of its officers.

Clause 19 provides for the determination of the territory in which a group of rural fire brigades is to operate and for the selection of the officers for the group.

Clause 20 provides for the members of a rural fire brigade to consist of persons listed on the register required to be kept for the brigade.

Clause 21 specifies the general functions of officers of rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades both within the rural fire districts for which the brigades or groups are formed and at other places in the State.

Clauses 22–27 give some particular examples of actions that officers of rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades may take in exercising functions under the proposed Act. The powers include the power to enter premises, close roads, pull down fences, establish fire breaks and use water.

Clause 28 provides for damage to property caused in the exercise of powers conferred under proposed Division 3 to be treated as damage by fire for the purposes of any insurance policy.

Clauses 29–32 place certain restrictions on the power of entry conferred on officers of rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades.

Clause 33 enables a rural fire brigade to voluntarily co-operate with a public authority in the exercise of any function of the public authority prescribed by the regulations.

Division 4 Fire control officers

Division 4 (clauses 34–38) provides for the appointment and functions of a fire control officer and deputy fire control officers for rural fire districts.

Clause 34 provides for the appointment and revocation of appointment of fire control officers and deputy fire control officers by the local authority or local authorities of areas constituting rural fire districts. It also sets out the responsibilities of the local authorities to provide the fire control officer with the facilities necessary to carry out his or her functions.

Clause 35 provides for the appointment of an acting fire control officer to exercise the functions of a fire control officer when the fire control officer and all deputy fire control officers are absent from duty.

Clause 36 prevents a councillor within the meaning of the *Local Government Act 1993* from being appointed as a fire control officer or deputy fire control officer and requires a fire control officer or deputy fire control officer who becomes a councillor to cease to be such an officer within a specified period. A provision is included in Schedule 3 to require existing fire control officers and deputy fire control officers who are councillors to cease to be such officers within a specified period.

Clause 37 states the general functions of a fire control officer. The officer is, subject to any direction of the Commissioner, to be responsible for the control and co-ordination of activities of the Service in the rural fire district.

Clause 38 confers on fire control officers all the powers and immunities conferred on an officer in charge of a rural fire brigade. It sets out the functions of fire control officers and the limitations on the exercise of those functions in certain managed lands such as State forests and national parks.

Division 5 Command structure

Division 5 (clauses 39–43) sets out the command structure within the Service and requires police officers and other members of the Police Service and members of interstate fire brigades to recognise the authority of the Commissioner and persons acting under the Commissioner's authority.

Clause 39 enables the Commissioner to authorise officers and members of rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades to exercise the Commissioner's functions.

Clause 40 enables the officer in charge of a fire to authorise any other officer or member of a rural fire brigade to exercise the functions of the officer.

Clause 41 requires persons at the scene of a fire to recognise the authority of the Commissioner, a member of a rural fire brigade acting under the Commissioner's orders, the officer in charge at the fire, incident or other emergency or an officer of a rural fire brigade directly assisting the person primarily responsible for responding to a fire, incident or other emergency. Members of the Police Service are required to support the authority.

Clause 42 makes it an offence to obstruct or hinder the Commissioner, a fire control officer or an officer of a rural fire brigade in the exercise of their functions.

Clause 43 requires members of an interstate fire brigade who are at the scene of a fire in a rural fire district to obey the orders of the officer in charge of the fire or (if there is no officer in charge) to take command.

Part 3 Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

Part 3 (clauses 44-62) provides for the co-ordination of bush fire management throughout the State.

The Part charges the Commissioner with the responsibility of controlling and co-ordinating the action to be taken by persons and bodies involved in or associated with the prevention, mitigation or suppression of bush fires in dealing with fires requiring a response beyond the area or locality in which the fires are burning. The Commissioner is authorised to give directions to persons, members of the Service, officers of other emergency services organisations and others in relation to the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush fires in these circumstances.

The Part also provides for the establishment of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, the principal responsibility of which is to plan for bush fire prevention and for co-ordinated bush fire fighting. The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is required to constitute Bush Fire Management Committees for rural fire districts. These committees are responsible for the preparation of bush fire management plans for the areas for which they are constituted.

Division 1 Co-ordination of bush fire fighting by Commissioner

Clauses 44 and 45 require the Commissioner to take charge of fire fighting operations and fire prevention measures in an emergency beyond the capacity of local fire fighting authorities if the Commissioner is of the opinion that a local authority is not effectively controlling or suppressing a fire in its area or that no authority is in control of the fire. The Commissioner is empowered to give such directions as are necessary to carry out this function but may not commandeer equipment or resources. The Commissioner is required to take into consideration any relevant bush fire management plan when exercising functions under the proposed Division.

Division 2 Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

Clause 46 constitutes the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

Clause 47 provides that the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is to consist of the Commissioner and 11 members appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of bodies involved in bush fire management or nominated by such bodies.

Clause 48 sets out the general functions of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, including reporting to the Minister on matters relating to the prevention and suppression of bush fires.

Clause 49 enables the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee to delegate its functions to the Commissioner.

Division 3 Bush Fire Management Committees

Clause 50 requires the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee to constitute Bush Fire Management Committees.

Clause 51 provides that a Bush Fire Management Committee has such functions as are conferred or imposed on it by or under the proposed Act.

Division 4 Preparation of draft bush fire management plans

Clause 52 requires each Bush Fire Management Committee to prepare draft bush fire management plans at specified intervals for the part of the State for which it is formed respectively setting out:

- procedures to be followed for bush fires of such a size that they would be incapable of being suppressed by the fire fighting authorities within the part of the State for which the Committee is formed (plans of operation), and
- bush fire hazard reduction measures to be taken in that part of the State (bush fire risk management plans).

Clauses 53–55 describe the content of draft plans of operation and draft bush fire risk management plans.

Clause 56 enables the Commissioner to exercise the functions of a Bush Fire Management Committee that has failed to submit a draft bush fire management plan in accordance with the proposed Division.

Division 5 Public participation in preparation of plans

Clause 57 requires a Bush Fire Management Committee or the Commissioner to publicly exhibit any draft bush fire risk management plan prepared by the Management Committee or Commissioner for the purpose of receiving submissions on the plan and to display for information a plan of operations.

Clause 58 provides for the adoption (with or without amendments arising from the public exhibition of the plan) of the bush fire risk management plan following consideration of submissions received on the plans and after review by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee of the provisions of a draft plan submitted to it in the light of other plans applying to the land to which it applies. Provision is made to enable the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee to vary either the plan as submitted or the other plans to ensure that the plans are consistent, and to ensure that they provide for a co-ordinated approach to the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush fires.

Clause 59 provides for the adoption (with or without amendment) of a plan of operations after review by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee of the provisions of a draft plan submitted to it in the light of other plans applying to the land to which it applies. Provision is made to enable the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee to vary either the plan as submitted or the other plans to ensure that the plans are consistent.

Clause 60 sets out the procedures to be followed before approval, variation or revocation of a plan imposing a requirement on a public authority.

Clause 61 requires amendments to bush fire management plans to be done by a bush fire risk management plan prepared in accordance with the proposed Division and for the revocation of bush fire management plans.

Clause 62 requires a bush fire management plan to be available for public inspection.

Part 4 Bush fire prevention

Part 4 (clauses 63–100) deals with the prevention and minimisation of the spread of bush fires throughout the State. It provides for fire hazard reduction work to be done, for limitation of the lighting of fires without a permit during bush fire danger periods and the imposition of total fire bans. It imposes responsibilities on the owners and occupiers of land and public authorities in relation to these and other matters.

Division 1 Duty to prevent bush fires

Clause 63 sets out the general duties of public authorities and the owners and occupiers of land to take all practicable steps to prevent the occurrence of bush fires on, and to minimise the spread of bush fires from, land. Practicable steps may include steps included in a bush fire management plan for the land or that the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee considers necessary.

Clause 64 requires the occupier of land to extinguish any bush fire on the land during a bush fire danger period applicable to the land and, if the occupier is unable to extinguish the fire without assistance, to notify the appropriate authorities. A person who fails to comply with such a requirement is guilty of an offence.

Division 2 Bush fire hazard reduction

The Dictionary defines bush fire hazard reduction work and bush fire hazard reduction notice for the purposes of the proposed Division.

Clause 65 enables authorised persons to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work on certain prescribed land with the permission of the appropriate persons or bodies prescribed by the regulations.

Clause 66 enables the local authority of an area to require the occupier or owner of any land in the area to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work on the land by a notice. An owner or occupier of land who fails to comply with such a direction is guilty of an offence.

Clause 67 enables an owner or occupier of land on whom a notice has been served to lodge an objection with the fire control officer.

Clause 68 provides for an appeal to be lodged with the Commissioner by a person who has lodged an objection.

Clause 69 enables a local authority to enter land to determine whether a bush fire hazard reduction notice should be issued and requires the local authority to notify certain authorities if notice is given and to keep records of notices.

Clause 70 enables a local authority (or persons authorised by it) to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work required to be done by a notice issued by the local authority if the owner or occupier of the land concerned fails to carry out the work. The cost of work carried out by the local authority or persons authorised by it is recoverable from the owner or occupier.

Clause 71 makes it a defence for the owner of land to fail to comply with a direction if the land is occupied by a different person.

Clause 72 provides for damage to property caused in the exercise of powers conferred under the proposed Division to be treated as damage by fire for the purposes of any insurance policy.

Clause 73 enables the Commissioner to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work required to be carried out on land by a bush fire management plan if the owner or occupier of the land has not carried out the work as required by the plan.

Clause 74 requires a local authority to carry out an annual review of the incidence of bush fire hazards on land in its area.

Division 3 Damage by fire to dividing fences and other matters

Clause 75 defines certain terms (including adjoining owners, dividing fence and excluded land) for the purposes of the proposed Division.

Clauses 76–78 enable the owner or occupier of land divided from other land (other than excluded land) by a fence who clears combustible matter from that fence to require the owner or occupier of land on the other side of the fence to repair or restore (or pay for the cost of the repair or restoration of the fence) if it is damaged or destroyed because the owner or occupier has failed to take similar action.

Clause 79 enables the owner or occupier of land who has cleared combustible matter from land to enter the land of an adjoining owner who has failed to so clear his or her land to extinguish an unattended fire threatening his or her land or property.

Clause 80 enables the owner or occupier of land adjoining certain Crown land (other than excluded land and land reserved or dedicated, or acquired for reservation or dedication, under the *National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974*) to enter the land to establish and maintain fire breaks.

Division 4 Bush fire danger period

Clause 81 states that the bush fire danger period for land in New South Wales is, except as provided by proposed section 82, the period commencing on 1 October and ending on 31 March in the following year.

Clause 82 enables a local authority to specify, by notice published in a newspaper circulating generally in the area of the local authority, that either no bush fire danger period, or a different bush fire danger period, applies in respect of land specified in the order to that stated in proposed section 81.

Clause 83 enables the Commissioner to specify areas in the State in which a local authority may not make an order under proposed section 82 without the concurrence of the Forestry Commission and the National Parks and Wildlife Service.

Clause 84 requires the local authority to give notice of any bush fire danger period for a part of the State specified in a notice under proposed section 82 in a newspaper circulating generally in that part of the State.

Division 5 Permits and notice requirements

Clause 85 contains definitions used in the proposed Division. *Light* a fire is defined to include maintain or use a fire or cause a fire to be lit, maintained or used.

Clause 86 makes it an offence to light a fire for the purpose of land clearance or burning a fire break or in circumstances that would be likely to be dangerous to any building without giving notice as required by the proposed section.

Clause 87 makes it an offence to light a fire for the purpose of land clearance or burning a fire break during a bush fire danger period that applies to the land without a fire permit issued, and giving the notice required, under proposed section 86.

Clause 88 makes it an offence to light a fire in a local government area that is in a fire district if doing so would be likely to be dangerous to any building without a fire permit issued, and giving the notice required, by proposed section 86.

Clause 89 enables an appropriate authority to issue a fire permit.

Clause 90 provides for a fire permit to remain in force for the period (not exceeding 21 days) specified in the permit.

Clause 91 provides for the cancellation or suspension of fire permits by notice in writing or by other means in emergencies.

Clause 92 sets out certain conditions to which a fire permit is subject.

Clause 93 sets out the circumstances in which an appropriate authority may refuse to issue a fire permit.

Clause 94 requires an appropriate authority who issues a fire permit to notify certain other authorities that it has been issued.

Clause 95 makes it clear that nothing in the proposed Division requires a public authority to obtain a fire permit to light a fire.

Clause 96 makes it clear that appropriate authorities are not determining authorities within the meaning of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979* for the purposes of issuing fire permits and that the issue of a fire permit does not affect any requirement to obtain a licence under the *Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995*.

Clause 97 requires local authorities to make annual reports to the Commissioner in respect of fire permits issued by the local authorities. The report is to include details of any bush fires that may have been started in the area of the local authority by a fire lit under a permit.

Clause 98 makes it clear that the issue of a fire permit does not affect the duties of owners and occupiers of land to prevent the escape of bush fires.

Division 6 Total fire bans

Clause 99 enables the Minister, by order, to prohibit the lighting, maintenance or use of fires in the open air for a specified period or periods, to impose conditions on the lighting of fires in such periods or to require persons specified in the order to take action to prevent the outbreak of or to extinguish fires.

Division 7 Lighting fires without authority

Clause 100 makes it an offence to light a fire on certain land without authority.

Part 5 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

Part 5 (clauses 101–121) requires local government councils and insurance companies to contribute, along with the State Government, to the costs of rural fire brigade expenditure. The total amount required to be contributed is based on estimated rural fire brigade expenditure.

Division 1 Preliminary

Clause 101 contains definitions for the purposes of the proposed Part.

Division 2 The Fund

Clause 102 establishes the New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund (the *Fund*) into which is to be paid all the contributions and other money received under the proposed Part.

Division 3 Estimates of Fund expenditure and contributions

Clause 103 requires the Minister to estimate Fund expenditure for each financial year.

Clause 104 requires councils, rural fire brigades or a fire control officer to furnish the Commissioner with information relevant to preparation of the estimate of Fund expenditure.

Clause 105 provides for the payment of contributions under the proposed Part by instalments on specified dates or such other date as the Commissioner may notify.

Clause 106 requires contributions to be paid within 60 days of assessment and for interest to be paid on overdue accounts.

Clause 107 provides for deficits and excesses in contributions estimated for a financial year to be taken into account in the following financial year.

Division 4 Contributions by Treasurer

Clause 108 requires the Treasurer to provide 14% of the contributions to the Fund.

Division 5 Contributions by local government areas

Clause 109 requires councils to provide 12.3% of contributions to the Fund. It also enables the Governor to exempt a council from payment of contributions if the danger of bush fires in its area is negligible.

Clause 110 provides for the apportionment of contributions between councils.

Division 6 Contributions by insurance companies

Clause 111 requires insurance companies to provide 73.7% of the contributions to the Fund.

Clause 112 requires advance contribution payments to be made by an insurance company and for the method of calculating the amount of the advance payment. The amount is based on a percentage of the total amount of premiums received by or due to a company during the financial year before the financial year in which the advance payment is due.

Clause 113 defines *total amount of premiums* for the purposes of making the necessary calculations under proposed section 112.

Clause 114 provides for the adjustment of advance payments made.

Clause 115 deals with the situation where an owner of property insures with a foreign insurer. The Commissioner may require the owner to pay the contribution amount that would otherwise be payable by the insurer.

Clause 116 requires returns to be furnished to the Commissioner by insurance companies.

Clause 117 provides for the audit by the Auditor-General, at the request of the Minister, of the accounts of an insurance company required to pay a contribution.

Division 7 Miscellaneous

Clause 118 provides for the application of the Fund.

Clause 119 provides for the maintenance and disposal of fire fighting equipment purchased from the Fund.

Clause 120 sets out the purposes relating to fire fighting and the prevention, mitigation and suppression of fires that are purposes for which the consolidated fund of a council may be applied.

Clause 121 requires the Minister to distribute copies of the annual report to each council and each insurance company contributing to the Fund.

Part 6 Rural Fire Service Advisory Council

Part 6 (clauses 122–124) establishes a Rural Fire Service Advisory Council (the *Advisory Council*) and provides for its composition, functions and procedures.

Clause 122 establishes the Advisory Council.

Clause 123 provides for the Advisory Council to consist of the Commissioner and 8 members appointed by the Minister. The Ministerial appointments are to be made on the recommendation of specified bodies having particular interest in rural fire prevention, mitigation and suppression.

Clause 124 specifies the general functions of the Advisory Council.

Part 7 Miscellaneous

Clause 125 provides for the proposed Act to bind the Crown.

Clause 126 requires local authorities and other persons and bodies to furnish information relevant to the functions of the Commissioner or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee when required to do so by the Commissioner.

Clause 127 preserves the rights of persons to take action for loss or damage or trespass unless otherwise expressly provided by the proposed Act.

Clause 128 protects various persons exercising functions under the proposed Act from personal liability.

Clause 129 enables the Commissioner to be represented by a person appointed by the Commissioner at any inquest or inquiry relating to the cause or origin of any fire.

Clause 130 provides for the notices or directions under the proposed Act to be given in accordance with the regulations.

Clause 131 authorises the issue of penalty notices for offences against the proposed Act or the regulations.

Clause 132 requires a person whom a police officer suspects is committing an offence against the proposed Act or regulations relating to the lighting, maintenance or use of a fire to comply with any direction given by the police officer to state his or her name and address, produce any document authorising the lighting, maintenance or use of the fire or to extinguish the fire.

Clause 133 enables an authorised officer of a fire fighting authority to enter land within the prescribed distance from the land for which the fire fighting authority is responsible and to take action necessary to suppress, or prevent the spread, of the fire.

Clause 134 provides that offences against the proposed Act or the regulations are to be taken before a Local Court constituted by a Magistrate sitting alone.

Clause 135 empowers the making of regulations for the purposes of the proposed Act.

Clause 136 repeals the Bush Fires Act 1949.

Clause 137 gives effect to Schedule 3 (which contains savings, transitional and other provisions).

Clause 138 gives effect to Schedule 4 (which contains amendments to other laws).

Clause 139 provides for the review of the operation of the proposed Act by the Minister 5 years after the date of assent to the Act.

Schedule 1 Constitution and procedure of Advisory Council and Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

Schedule 1 contains provisions relating to the members and procedure of the Advisory Council and Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, including terms of office, vacation of office and remuneration.

Schedule 2 Contributions of insurance companies

Schedule 2 sets out the policies of insurance and amounts necessary for calculating the amount of advance payment to be made by insurance companies under proposed Part 5.

Schedule 3 Savings and transitional provisions

Schedule 3 contains savings and transitional provisions providing for various matters, including the following matters:

- the making of savings and transitional regulations
- the dissolution of various bodies under the Bush Fires Act 1949
- the continuation of bush fire districts as rural fire districts
- references to various bodies
- the transfer of assets of Fire Prevention Associations
- requiring fire control officers and deputy fire control officers who are councillors to cease to hold office in a specified period after the commencement of proposed section 36.

Schedule 4 Amendment of other laws

Schedule 4 amends various Acts, regulations and environmental planning instruments as a consequence of the enactment of the proposed Act. It also includes an amendment (Schedule 4.6) to the *Dangerous Goods Regulation 1978*. The provision will prescribe non-safety matches as dangerous goods for the purposes of the *Dangerous Goods Act 1975* and thereby make it an offence to sell non-safety matches in a public place under section 13 of that Act or to use or otherwise deal with non-safety matches in a way likely to endanger life or property under section 14 of that Act. The provision will replace section 12 (1) (c) of the *Bush Fires Act 1949*.

Dictionary

The Dictionary defines various words and expressions for the purposes of the proposed Act.

			•
			•



Contents

	9.8	Page
Part 1	Preliminary	
	1 Name of Act	2
	2 Commencement	2
	3 Objects of Act	2
	4 Definitions	2
	5 Notes	3
	6 Rural fire districts	3
	7 Responsible local authorities in rural fire districts	4
Part 2	NSW Rural Fire Service	
	Division 1 The Service	
	8 NSW Rural Fire Service	5
	9 Functions of Service	5

		Page
Divis	ion 2 The Commissioner and other staff of Service	
10	The Commissioner and other staff	6
11	Ministerial control	7
12	Functions of Commissioner	7
13	Service Standards	8
14	Delegation by Commissioner	8
Divis	ion 3 Rural fire brigades	
15	Formation of rural fire brigades	8
16	Formation of groups of rural fire brigades	9
17	Disbandment of rural fire brigades	9
18	Area of operations and officers of rural fire brigades	10
19	Area of operations and officers of groups of rural fire	
	brigades	10
20	Members of rural fire brigades	10
21	Functions of officers of rural fire brigades	10
22	General powers of rural fire brigade officers	11
23	Power to enter premises	11
24	Closure of streets and public places	11
25	Making premises safe	12
26	Use of water and works	12
27	Permission of State Rail Authority or Rail Access	
	Corporation required	12
28	Damage to property	13
29	Notice of entry	13
30	Care to be taken	13
31	Use of force	13
32	Authority to enter premises	14
33	Voluntary work by rural fire brigade	14
Divis	ion 4 Fire control officers	
34	Appointment of fire control officer and deputies	15
35	Acting fire control officer	16
36	Councillors not to be appointed as fire control officers, deputy fire control officers or acting fire	
	control officers	16
37	Responsibility of fire control officer and local authority	17
38	Functions of fire control officer	17

			Page
	Divis	sion 5 Command structure	
	39	Commissioner may authorise officers and members of rural fire brigades to exercise functions	f 18
	40	Officer in charge may authorise others to exercise functions	18
	41	Duty to recognise authority of officers	19
	42	Obstruction etc of Commissioner and other members of Service	-19
	43	Interstate assistance at fires	19
Part 3	Co-	ordinated bush fire fighting	
	Divis	Sion 1 Co-ordination of bush fire fighting by Commissioner	
	44	Commissioner's responsibility	21
	45	Power to give directions etc	22
	Divis	sion 2 Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	
	46	Constitution of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	23
	47	Membership and procedure of Bush Fire	
	40	Co-ordinating Committee	23
	48 49	Functions of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee Delegation	24
	43	Delegation	25
	Divis	ion 3 Bush Fire Management Committees	
	50	Bush Fire Management Committees	25
	51	Functions of Bush Fire Management Committees	25
	Divis	ion 4 Preparation of draft bush fire management plans	
	52	Bush Fire Management Committees to prepare plans	26
	53	Content of draft plan of operations	26
	54	Content of draft bush fire risk management plan	27
	55	General content	27
	56	Failure of Management Committee	28

			Page
	Divis	ion 5 Public participation in preparation of plans	
	57	Public notice of draft bush fire risk management plans	28
	58	Adoption of bush fire risk management plans	28
	59	Adoption of bush fire plans of operation	29
	60	Co-ordination of planning by bush fire management plans	30
	61	Amendment, revocation and cessation of bush fire management plans	31
	62	Public availability of bush fire management plans and draft bush fire management plans	31
Part 4	Bus	h fire prevention	
	Divis	ion 1 Duty to prevent bush fires	
	63	Duties of public authorities and owners and occupiers of land to prevent bush fires	32
	64	Occupiers to extinguish fires or notify fire fighting authorities	33
	Divis	ion 2 Bush fire hazard reduction	
	65	Reduction of fire hazards on unoccupied Crown land and managed land	33
	66	Bush fire hazard reduction work required by local authorities	34
	67	Objection to notices	35
	68	Appeal against notices	36
	69	Duties of local authority	37
	70	Bush fire hazard reduction work in default of compliance with notice	38
	71	Defence to court proceedings	39
	72	Certain damage to property caused by bush fire hazard reduction work covered by fire insurance	39
	73	Bush fire hazard reduction by the Commissioner	39
	74	Local authority to review incidence of bush fire hazards	40

		Page
Divis	ion 3 Damage by fire to dividing fences and other matters	
75	Definitions	40
76	Notices to repair or restore dividing fences	41
77	Recovery of costs	42
78	Jurisdiction of Local Court	42
79	Entry to land to extinguish fire	42
80	Entry to certain land to establish fire breaks	42
Divis	ion 4 Bush fire danger period	
81	General bush fire danger period	43
82	Local bush fire danger period	43
83	Concurrence required before local bush fire danger	
	period declaration made	44
84	Notice of bush fire danger period	44
Divis	ion 5 Permits and notice requirements	
85	Definitions	44
86	Notice required before certain fires lit	45
87	Lighting fires for land clearance or fire breaks in bush fire danger period	45
88	Lighting fires that are dangerous to buildings in fire districts	45
89	Issue of permits	46
90	Duration of permits	46
91	Cancellation or suspension of permits	46
92	Conditions of permit	47
93	Refusal to issue fire permit	47
94	Notice to be given of issue of fire permit	47
95	Permit not required for fires lit by public authorities	48
96	Appropriate authorities not determining authorities	48
97	Reporting requirements	48
98	Issue of permit does not affect duty to prevent bush fires	49
Divis	ion 6 Total fire bans	
99	Lighting of fires prohibited in certain circumstances	49
Divisi	ion 7 Lighting fires without authority	
100	Offences	50
		_

			Page
Part 5	New	South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fur	nd
	Divis	sion 1 Preliminary	
	101	Definitions	52
	Divis	sion 2 The Fund	
	102	New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund	52
	Divis	sion 3 Estimates of Fund expenditure and contributions	
	103	Estimate to be prepared by Minister	53
	104	Councils etc to furnish information to Minister	54
	105	Times for instalment payments	. 54
	106	Contributions due and payable within 60 days assessment	ot 54
	107	Deficits and excesses in contributions	55
	Divis	ion 4 Contributions by Treasurer	
	108	Contributions by Treasurer	55
	Divis	ion 5 Contributions by local government a	areas
	109	Contributions required from councils	55
	110	Determination of contributions of councils	56
	Divis	ion 6 Contributions by insurance compani	es
	111	Contributions required from insurance compani	ies 56
	112	Advance payment by insurance companies	57
	113	Definition of "total amount of the premiums"	57
	114	Adjustments	58
	115	Liability of owner where foreign insurer involved	
	116	Returns by insurance companies	60
	117	Audit of accounts of insurance companies	61
	Divis	ion 7 Miscellaneous	
	118	Application of the Fund	62
	119	Maintenance and disposal of fire fighting equip purchased from Fund	oment 62
	120	Consolidated fund of councils	63
	121	Distribution of annual report	64

Contents

			Page
Part 6	Rura	al Fire Service Advisory Council	
	122 123 124	Establishment of Rural Fire Service Advisory Council Membership and procedure of Advisory Council Functions of the Advisory Council	65 65 65
Part 7	Misc	cellaneous	
	125	Act binds Crown	67
	126	Councils and other bodies to furnish information to Commissioner and the Co-ordinating Committee	67
	127	Liability of persons in respect of loss or damage caused by bush or other fires	67
	128	Protection from liability	67
	129	Commissioner may be represented at inquiry	68
	130	Giving of notices	68
	131	Penalty notices	68
	132	Powers of police officers	69
	133	Powers affecting land near certain bush fires	70
	134	Proceedings for offences	70
	135	Regulations	71
	136	Repeal of Bush Fires Act 1949	71
	137	Savings and transitional provisions	72
	138	Amendment of other laws	72
	139	Review of Act	72
Schedule	:S		
	1	Constitution and procedure of Advisory Council and Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	73
	2	Contributions of insurance companies	80
	3	Savings and transitional provisions	81
	4	Amendment of other laws	85
Dictionar	y		95

	,



No , 1997

A Bill for

An Act to establish the NSW Rural Fire Service and define its functions; to make provision for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of rural fires; to repeal the Bush Fires Act 1949; to amend certain other Acts; and for other purposes.

Clause	1
--------	---

Part 1

Preliminary

The Legislature of New South Wales enacts:

Part 1 **Preliminary**

Note. This Part contains provisions that are helpful in understanding the Act as a whole, as well as some machinery provisions. It also provides for the constitution of all those parts of the State that are not within fire districts (within the meaning of the Fire Brigades Act 1989) as rural fire districts.

5

Name of Act

This Act is the Rural Fires Act 1997.

Commencement

This Act commences on a day or days to be appointed by proclamation.

10

Objects of Act

The objects of this Act are to provide:

for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush and other fires in local government areas (or parts of areas) and other parts of the State constituted as rural fire districts,

15

- for the co-ordination of bush fire fighting and bush fire (b) prevention throughout the State, and
- for the protection of persons from injury or death, and (c) property from damage, arising from fires, and

20

for the protection of the environment by requiring certain (d) activities referred to in paragraphs (a)-(c) to be carried out having regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the Protection of the Environment Administration Act 1991.

25

Definitions

Definitions are contained in the Dictionary at the end of this Act.

Note. Expressions used in this Act (or in a particular provision of this Act) that are defined in the Interpretation Act 1987 have the meanings set out in that Act.

30

	(2)	Man	ds and expressions used in the State Emergency and Rescue agement Act 1989 and in this Act have the same meanings in Act as they have in the 1989 Act.	
	(3)	Subs	ections (1) and (2) do not apply to the extent that the context abject-matter otherwise indicates or requires.	5
		Mana, comb	Some expressions defined in the State Emergency and Rescue gement Act 1989 that are used in this Act are: pat agency means the agency identified in Displan as the agency	
			rily responsible for responding to a particular emergency. an means the State Disaster Plan referred to in section 12.	10
		emerg (such	gency means an emergency due to an actual or imminent occurrence as fire, flood, storm, earthquake, explosion, accident, epidemic or e action) which:	10
		(a)	endangers, or threatens to endanger, the safety or health of persons in the State, or	15
		(b)	destroys or damages, or threatens to destroy or damage, property in the State,	
			an emergency which requires a significant and co-ordinated response.	
		Brigad Service	gency services organisation means the Police Service, Fire des, Rural Fire Brigades, Ambulance Service, State Emergency se, Volunteer Rescue Association or any other agency which manages attrols an accredited rescue unit.	20
5	Note	s		
		Notes	s in the text of this Act do not form part of this Act.	
6	Rura	l fire (districts	25
	(1)	each same	ral fire district is constituted by this section for the area of local authority, with boundaries of the district being the as the boundaries of the area as at the date of mencement of this section.	
		is land Weste	The Dictionary defines area of a local authority. The area of a council within the local government area of the council. The area of the rn Lands Commissioner is the Western Division. The area of the Lord Island Board is Lord Howe Island.	30
	(2)		al fire district is not constituted by this section for, and does aclude, any land within an area that is within a fire district.	35
			A <i>fire district</i> means land within a fire district constituted under the rigades Act 1989.	

- (3) If the boundaries of the area of a local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted by this section change after the commencement of this section, the boundaries of the rural fire district change so as to correspond to the boundaries of the area.
- (4) If the whole of the area of a local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted by this section is dissolved after the commencement of this section, the rural fire district is dissolved.

5

10

15

20

25

(5) If part of the area of a local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted is dissolved after the commencement of this section, the rural fire district constituted for the area is taken to have been constituted for the remaining part of the area.

7 Responsible local authorities in rural fire districts

- (1) A function conferred or imposed by or under this Act on a local authority for and in respect of a rural fire district is to be exercised:
 - (a) by the local authority for the area for which the district is constituted under section 6, or
 - (b) if, under subsection (2), two or more local authorities agree to combine responsibility for and in respect of their rural fire districts—by the local authority or local authorities nominated in the agreement, or
 - (c) if, under subsection (3), two local authorities agree that one of the local authorities is to have responsibility for and in respect of the whole or part of the rural fire district of the other local authority—by the local authority nominated in the agreement as the local authority to be responsible for the whole or part of that rural fire district.
- (2) Two or more local authorities may, with the approval of the Minister, agree in writing to combine responsibility for and in respect of their rural fire districts and nominate which of them is to be responsible for those rural fire districts.
- (3) A local authority may, with the approval of the Minister, agree in writing with another local authority that the other local authority have responsibility for or in respect of the whole or part of the rural fire district for the area of the local authority.

Part 2 NSW Rural Fire Service

Note. This Part establishes the NSW Rural Fire Service, and provides for its composition, functions and management. The Service is to be managed and controlled by the Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service. The Commissioner is responsible for issuing the Service Standards, which are the guidelines in respect of the standard operating procedures to be followed by members of the Service. The Commissioner determines the duties of certain members of the Service (staff of the Service and the fire control officers and deputy fire control officers). The fire control officers and deputy fire control officers are appointed by the local authorities of areas constituting rural fire districts and are responsible for a number of functions, including the supervision and direction of functions exercised by or under the Act by rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades.

Division 1 The Service

8 NSW Rural Fire Service

15

5

10

- (1) There is established by this Act the NSW Rural Fire Service.
- (2) The Service comprises the following members:
 - (a) the Commissioner and other staff of the Service,
 - (b) fire control officers and deputy fire control officers.
 - (c) volunteer rural fire fighters.

20

(3) In this Act:

volunteer rural fire fighters means:

- (a) officers and other members of rural fire brigades, and
- (b) any person other than a member of a rural fire brigade who, without remuneration or reward, voluntarily and without obligation engages in fighting (or in activities associated with fighting) a fire with the consent of or under the authority and supervision of an officer of a rural fire brigade.

25

9 Functions of Service

30

- (1) The NSW Rural Fire Service has the following functions:
 - (a) to provide rural fire services for New South Wales.
 - (b) to assist other emergency services organisations at incidents and at emergencies under the control of those organisations,

35

carrying out any function that affects the environment.

(4) In this section:

(3)

rural fire services includes the following:

- (a) services for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of 20 fires in rural fire districts,
- (b) the protection of persons from dangers to their safety and health, and property from destruction or damage, arising from fires in rural fire districts,

The Service is to have regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the

Protection of the Environment Administration Act 1991 in

- (c) the provision of services referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b) throughout the State in accordance with Part 3,
- (d) any other service prescribed by the regulations.

Note. Other provisions of this Act also affect the exercise of Service functions. See, for example, sections 38 and 133 (2).

Division 2 The Commissioner and other staff of Service

10 The Commissioner and other staff

(1) A Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service and such other staff as may be necessary for the purposes of this Act are to be employed under Part 2 of the *Public Sector Management Act* 1988.

35

30

5

10

15

5

10

15

20

25

30

- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply to the members of the Service referred to in section 8 (2) (b) and (c).
- (3) The Commissioner may arrange for the use of the services of any staff (by secondment or otherwise) or facilities of a Government Department or public authority.
- (4) For the purposes of this Act, a person whose services are made use of under this section is a member of the staff of the Service.

11 Ministerial control

The Commissioner is, in the exercise of the Commissioner's functions, subject to the control and direction of the Minister.

12 Functions of Commissioner

- (1) The Commissioner is responsible for managing and controlling the activities of the Service and has such other functions as are conferred or imposed on the Commissioner by or under this or any other Act.
- (2) The Commissioner may determine the various duties that members of the staff of the Service, fire control officers and deputy fire control officers are required to perform and allocate the duties to be carried out by each member of staff of the Service, fire control officers and deputy fire control officers.
- (3) The Commissioner may, when the Commissioner considers it appropriate to do so, conduct an audit of all or any activities of members of the Service to determine whether the members are carrying out the activities effectively and doing so efficiently and in compliance with the Service Standards.
- (4) The ranks of members of the Service are to be determined by the Commissioner.
- (5) The Commissioner (on behalf of the Crown) may make or enter into contracts or arrangements with any person for the carrying out of works or the performance of services or the supply of goods or materials in connection with the exercise of the functions of the Service.
- (6) This section is subject to the other provisions of this Act and the regulations.

Clause	13
--------	----

Part 2 Division 2 NSW Rural Fire Service

13 Service Standards

(1) The Commissioner may from time to time issue written policy statements to members of the Service for or with respect to procedures to be followed in connection with the operation, management and control of the Service.

(2) Without limiting the matters with respect to which statements may be issued under this section, statements may be issued in respect of standard operating procedures, including procedures in respect of the following:

(a) fire reporting,

10

5

- (b) operational co-ordination,
- (c) operational planning,
- (d) bush fire risk management planning,
- (e) fire fighting assistance planning,
- (f) standards of fire cover reporting,

15

- (g) implementation of training standards,
- (h) communications.
- (i) brigade management,
- (j) community education,
- (k) protocols on relevant matters,

20

- (l) health and safety.
- (3) The Commissioner is, wherever practicable, to consult with the Advisory Council before issuing policy statements under this section.

14 Delegation by Commissioner

25

The Commissioner may delegate to any member of the Service any of the Commissioner's functions under this Act, other than this power of delegation.

Division 3 Rural fire brigades

15 Formation of rural fire brigades

30

(1) A local authority may form one or more rural fire brigades for any rural fire district constituted for its area or part of its area.

5

10

15

20

25

- (2) Two or more local authorities may jointly form a rural fire brigade for a rural fire district constituted for their areas.
- (3) A rural fire brigade may be formed on the initiative of the local authority or local authorities concerned or on the request of any interested person.

(4) The Commissioner may form a rural fire brigade for a rural fire district if any local authority requested to form a rural fire brigade for that district refuses or fails to do so within the period prescribed by the regulations after being requested to do so by the Commissioner.

16 Formation of groups of rural fire brigades

The fire control officer for a rural fire district may form two or more rural fire brigades formed for the district into a group of rural fire brigades.

17 Disbandment of rural fire brigades

- (1) A rural fire brigade may be disbanded at any time by the person or body who formed it by notice in writing given to the officer in charge of the rural fire brigade.
- (2) The disbandment takes effect 21 days after the notice is given.
- (3) The officer in charge of the rural fire brigade concerned may, with the agreement of a majority of the members of the rural fire brigade, lodge an appeal in writing to the Minister against the decision to disband the rural fire brigade.
- (4) The appeal must be lodged before the disbandment takes effect.
- (5) After hearing the appeal, the Minister may:
 - (a) confirm the disbandment, or
 - (b) withdraw the notice.
- (6) The disbandment of a rural fire brigade that is the subject of an appeal does not take effect until the appeal is either withdrawn or finally determined by the Minister and the result notified to the officer in charge of the rural fire brigade concerned.

Clause	18
--------	----

Part 2 Division 3 NSW Rural Fire Service

18 Area of operations and officers of rural fire brigades

The body or person that forms a rural fire brigade is:

- (a) to determine the territory in which the brigade is to operate, and
- (b) to appoint as the officers for the brigade those persons selected, in accordance with the Service Standards, to be officers for the brigade by the members of the brigade.

Note. Under section 47 of the *Interpretation Act 1987*, conferral of a power to appoint a person to an office includes a power to remove or suspend the person from the office.

10

15

20

25

30

19 Area of operations and officers of groups of rural fire brigades

- (1) The fire control officer who forms a group of rural fire brigades is to determine the territory in which the group is to operate.
- (2) The officers of the rural fire brigades forming a group of rural fire brigades are those persons selected, in accordance with the Service Standards, to be officers for the group by the members of the rural fire brigades forming the group. A person selected to be an officer holds office for the period specified in the Service Standards.

20 Members of rural fire brigades

- (1) The body or person that forms a rural fire brigade is required to keep a register of members of the brigade in accordance with the Service Standards.
- (2) The members of a rural fire brigade are the persons listed on the register for the brigade kept under this section.

21 Functions of officers of rural fire brigades

- (1) An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades has the functions conferred or imposed on the officer by or under this or any other Act.
 - **Note.** Functions may be conferred under the Act by the Service Standards.
- (2) An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may exercise a function conferred or imposed on the officer:
 - (a) at a fire, incident or other emergency in the rural fire district for which the brigade or group was formed, or

10

15

20

25

30

- (b) at a place outside that rural fire district:
 - (i) with the approval of the Commissioner or of the fire control officer for the rural fire district in which the place is located, or
 - (ii) in accordance with a bush fire management plan or in circumstances prescribed by the regulations, or
 - (iii) within a fire district—with the approval of an officer of New South Wales Fire Brigades.
- (3) An officer or member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades is not, merely because of the authority conferred on the officer or member to exercise any functions under this Act, to be taken to be an employee of the State, a Minister of the State or a local authority.

22 General powers of rural fire brigade officers

- (1) An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades of a rank designated by the Commissioner may, for the purpose of controlling or suppressing a fire or protecting persons or property from an existing or imminent danger arising out of a fire, incident or other emergency, take any action authorised by or under this Act.
- (2) The officer may exercise such a function with such persons as the officer considers necessary for the purpose.
- (3) The following provisions of this Division are intended to be particular examples of the way in which functions referred to in this section can be exercised and are not intended to limit the generality of this section.

23 Power to enter premises

An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may enter any premises for the purpose of exercising any function conferred or imposed on the officer by or under this Act.

Note. Premises is defined in the Dictionary.

24 Closure of streets and public places

The officer in charge of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may cause any street or public place in the vicinity of a fire, incident or other emergency to be closed to traffic.

Clause 25

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 2 Division 3 NSW Rural Fire Service

25 Making premises safe

An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may, if persons are, or property is, endangered or likely to be endangered by a fire, incident or other emergency, do any of the following things:

5

- (a) pull down, cut and remove or cause to be pulled down, cut and removed, fences on any land,
- (b) destroy, pull down or remove or cause to be destroyed, pulled down or removed any buildings or structures on any land,

10

- (c) destroy or remove or cause to be destroyed or removed any living or dead vegetation on any land,
- (d) establish fire breaks on any land or cause fire breaks to be established on any land.

26 Use of water and works

15

An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may for the purpose of controlling or suppressing a fire:

- (a) take and use without any payment any water from any source on any land, or
- (b) use without any payment all or any water mains, water plugs, valves, pipes and works of water supply vested in or under the management or control of any water supply authority, public authority or body.

27 Permission of State Rail Authority or Rail Access Corporation required

25

20

The functions conferred by this Division may not be exercised in relation to land or property vested in, or under the control of, the State Rail Authority or Rail Access Corporation without the permission of the Authority or Corporation or of a person authorised by the Authority or Corporation to give the permission.

10

15

20

28 Damage to property

- (1) Any damage to property that is caused by any person exercising any function conferred by or under this Division in good faith is to be taken to be damage by fire within the meaning of any policy of insurance against fire covering the property so damaged.
- (2) Any provision, stipulation, covenant or condition in any agreement that negates, limits or modifies or purports to negate, limit or modify the operation of this section is void and of no effect.

29 Notice of entry

- (1) A person authorised to enter premises under this Division may enter the premises without giving notice:
 - (a) if entry to the premises is made with the consent of the owner or occupier, or
 - (b) if the entry is made to a part of the premises that is open to the public, or
 - (c) if entry is required urgently and the case is one in which the Commissioner has authorised in writing (either generally or in a particular case) entry without notice.
- (2) In any other case, the person must give the owner or occupier of the premises reasonable written notice of the intention to enter the premises.

30 Care to be taken

In the exercise of a function under this Division, a person 25 authorised to enter premises must do as little damage as possible.

31 Use of force

- (1) Reasonable force may be used for the purpose of gaining entry to premises but only if the Commissioner:
 - (a) has authorised in writing the use of force in the particular 30 case, or
 - (b) has specified in writing the circumstances that are required to exist before force may be used and the particular case falls within those circumstances.

Clause 31		P	Rural Fires Bill 1997	
Part 2 Division 3		N	ISW Rural Fire Service	
(2)		-	person authorised to enter premises uses force to do so, the on must, as soon as practicable, inform the Commissioner.	
	(3)	perso	Commissioner must give notice of the use of force to such one or authorities as appear to the Commissioner to be opriate in the circumstances.	5
32	Auth	ority t	to enter premises	
	(1)	not b	wer to enter premises, or to take action on premises, may be exercised unless the person proposing to exercise the er is in possession of an authority and produces the authority quired to do so by the owner or occupier of the premises.	10
	(2)	The a	authority must be a written authority that:	
		(a)	states that it is issued under this Act, and	
		(b)	gives the name of the person to whom it is issued, and	
		(c)	describes the nature of the powers conferred and the source of the powers, and	15
		(d)	states the date (if any) on which it expires, and	
		(e)	describes the kind of premises to which the power extends, and	
		(f)	bears the signature of the Commissioner.	
33	Volur	ntary v	work by rural fire brigade	20
	(1)	district brigation co-op of the	the consent of the fire control officer for the rural fire ct in which it operates or the Commissioner, a rural fire de may, in or out of the rural fire district, voluntarily perate with a public authority in the exercise of any function e public authority prescribed by the regulations for the poses of this section.	25
	(2)	If:		
		(a)	a public authority, or any member of a public authority, has immunity from legal proceedings that would otherwise lie in relation to the exercise by the authority or member of a function, and	30

(b) a rural fire brigade co-operates under this section in the exercise of the function,

each officer and other member of the brigade taking part has the same immunity.

Division 4 Fire control officers

5

15

20

30

34 Appointment of fire control officer and deputies

- (1) The local authority responsible for a rural fire district:
 - (a) must appoint a person, approved by the Commissioner, as fire control officer for the district, and
 - (b) may appoint one or more persons, approved by the Commissioner, as deputy fire control officers for the district.
- (2) Appointments to the positions of fire control officer and deputy fire control officer are to be made in accordance with the Service Standards. Service Standards for this purpose have effect only to the extent that the matters with which they deal are not fixed by, and are not inconsistent with, any provisions for the appointment to such a position having effect under the *Local Government Act* 1993.
- (3) The local authority may, with the approval of the Commissioner, revoke an appointment under this section at any time.
- (4) The Commissioner may, after consultation with the local authority that made the appointment, revoke an appointment under this section at any time.
- (5) Nothing in this section affects any terms or conditions of employment applicable to a fire control officer or deputy fire control officer under the *Local Government Act 1993* as a member of the staff of a local authority.
- (6) A fire control officer or deputy fire control officer is not, merely because of the authority conferred on the officer to exercise any function under this Act, to be taken to be an employee of the State, a Minister of the State or a local authority.

A deputy fire control officer is to act as fire control officer for the (7)district: (a) at the direction of the fire control officer, or in the event of the absence, illness or other inability to act (b) of the fire control officer, or 5 during a vacancy in the office of the fire control officer. (c) (8)A deputy fire control officer: when acting as a fire control officer under this section, has (a) and may exercise all the functions of a fire control officer by or under this Act, and 10 when acting under the direction of a fire control officer (b) (other than a direction under subsection (7)) has and may exercise such of the functions conferred on a fire control officer by or under this Act as may be necessary or convenient to be exercised for the purpose of carrying out 15 the direction. Acting fire control officer If both the fire control officer and all the deputy fire control officers for a rural fire district are absent from duty, the local authority responsible for the rural fire district may appoint a 20 person, approved by the Commissioner, to be acting fire control officer during the absence. An acting fire control officer has the functions of the fire control (2)officer and anything done by the acting fire control officer in the exercise of those functions has effect as if it were done by the fire 25 control officer. Councillors not to be appointed as fire control officers, deputy fire control officers or acting fire control officers A councillor within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1993 is not eligible to be appointed as a fire control officer, 30 deputy fire control officer or acting fire control officer. (2)

Any fire control officer, deputy fire control officer or acting fire control officer who becomes a councillor ceases to be such an officer on a date that is 3 months after the date on which his or her election as a councillor takes effect unless the officer 35 otherwise vacates his or her office before that date.

10

15

20

25

30

37 Responsibility of fire control officer and local authority

- A fire control officer is, subject to any direction of the Commissioner, responsible for the control and co-ordination of the activities of the Service in the rural fire district for which he or she is appointed as fire control officer.
- (2) A local authority that appoints a fire control officer is responsible for ensuring that the fire control officer carries out the responsibilities imposed on the fire control officer by this section in accordance with the Service Standards.
- (3) A local authority that appoints a fire control officer must provide facilities and accommodation to enable the fire control officer to exercise his or her functions.
- (4) Any such facilities and accommodation are to be of a standard approved by the Commissioner in consultation with the local authority.

38 Functions of fire control officer

(1) A fire control officer appointed under this Part has all the powers and immunities conferred on an officer in charge of a rural fire brigade.

(2) A fire control officer:

- (a) has the supervision and direction of the functions exercised by or under this Act by all rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades in the rural fire district for which the fire control officer has been appointed and of the officers of the brigades, and
- (b) has the right to use any fire fighting apparatus in the rural fire district other than fire fighting apparatus under the control of the authority responsible for managed land, and
- (c) must inspect, or cause to be inspected, at least once each year all fire fighting apparatus in the rural fire district other than fire fighting apparatus under the control of the authority responsible for managed land, and

- (d) must take or cause to be taken all necessary measures for suppressing fires in the rural fire district and protecting and saving life and property in case of fire, and
- (e) except on managed land, is to perform such other duties relating to functions conferred or imposed on the Service as are imposed on the fire control officer by the local authority that appointed the fire control officer.

10

25

30

- (3) Subsection (2) does not affect the power of a local authority that appoints a fire control officer to require the fire control officer to perform any function if the performance of the function is consistent with the performance of a function imposed by that subsection.
- (4) A fire control officer may exercise a function referred to in subsection (2) (d) only if the fire control officer (and any member of the Service assisting the fire control officer in the exercise of the function) complies with the conditions (if any) imposed on the exercise of the function specified in any relevant bush fire management plan or other relevant plan of the authority responsible for the managed land of which the fire control officer is aware.

Division 5 Command structure

39 Commissioner may authorise officers and members of rural fire brigades to exercise functions

- (1) Any function conferred or imposed on the Commissioner by this Act may be exercised by any officer or member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades authorised for the purpose by the Commissioner.
- (2) Such an authorisation need not be in writing and operates to authorise the exercise of the functions accordingly. However, the Commissioner must keep a record of all authorisations given under this section.

40 Officer in charge may authorise others to exercise functions

(1) The officer in charge at a fire, incident or other emergency may authorise any officer or member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades to exercise all or specified functions under this Act of the officer in charge at a fire, incident or other emergency.

(2) Such an authorisation need not be in writing and operates to authorise the exercise of the functions accordingly.

Duty to recognise authority of officers

Every member of the Police Service and all other persons are to recognise:

the authority of the Commissioner and any member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades or fire control officer acting under the Commissioner's directions,

- (b) the authority of the officer in charge at a fire, incident or other emergency at which a rural fire brigade is present or of an officer of a rural fire brigade directly assisting the person primarily responsible for responding to a fire, incident or other emergency.
- (2)It is the duty of every member of the Police Service to support the authority of such a person and to assist him or her in enforcing compliance with any directions given under this Act or the regulations.
- This section applies only in respect of the protection of persons (3) from injury or death, or of property from damage, when the persons are or the property is endangered by fire or there is imminent danger of such a fire.

Obstruction etc of Commissioner and other members of Service

A person who obstructs or hinders or incites or encourages any person to obstruct or hinder the Commissioner, a fire control officer or an officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades in the exercise of the Commissioner's or officer's functions under this Act, or any person acting under the direction of any such person, is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 2 years, or both.

Interstate assistance at fires

A person who is a member of an interstate fire brigade and is present at a fire within a rural fire district for the purpose of mitigating or suppressing that fire must:

10

15

20

25

30

- (a) obey any orders given to the person by the officer in charge at the fire, and
- (b) place any gear or equipment in the person's charge at the disposal of the officer in charge at the fire.

- (2) While there is no officer in charge at the fire, the member of the interstate fire brigade who has the charge of the members of that brigade present at the fire is, for the purposes of this Act, to be considered the officer in charge at the fire.
- (3) A member of an interstate fire brigade who is present at a fire within a rural fire district for the purpose of mitigating or suppressing that fire is taken to have and may exercise all the functions that, if the fire were in the area of a rural fire brigade, the officer in charge of that rural fire brigade would have and be capable of exercising and performing.
- (4) In this section:

interstate fire brigade means a fire brigade (by whatever name called) established under a law of any place outside New South Wales.

10

15

20

25

30

Part 3 Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

Note. This Part charges the Commissioner with the responsibility of controlling and co-ordinating the action to be taken by persons and bodies involved in or associated with the prevention, mitigation or suppression of bush fires in dealing with fires requiring a response beyond the area or locality in which the fires are burning. The Commissioner is authorised to give directions to persons, members of the Service, officers of other emergency services organisations and others in relation to the prevention, mitigation and suppression of fires in these circumstances.

The Part also provides for the establishment of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, the principal responsibility of which is to plan for bush fire prevention and for co-ordinated bush fire fighting. The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is required to constitute Bush Fire Management Committees for rural fire districts and may constitute them for other parts of the State. These committees are responsible for the preparation of bush fire management plans for the areas for which they are constituted.

Division 1 Co-ordination of bush fire fighting by Commissioner

44 Commissioner's responsibility

- (1) The Commissioner is to take charge of bush fire fighting operations and bush fire prevention measures and to take such measures as the Commissioner considers necessary to control or suppress any bush fire in any part of the State if, in the opinion of the Commissioner:
 - (a) a bush fire has assumed or is likely to assume such proportions as to be incapable of control or suppression by the fire fighting authority or authorities in whose area or locality it is burning, or
 - (b) the prevailing conditions are conducive to the outbreak of a bush fire likely to assume such proportions, or
 - (c) a bush fire is not being effectively controlled or suppressed by the fire fighting authority or authorities in whose area or locality it is burning, or
 - (d) a bush fire is burning in a place that is not the responsibility of any fire fighting authority.

Part 3 Division 1

Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

(2) The Commissioner may delegate the Commissioner's functions under this Division (other than this power of delegation) to an officer or member of a rural fire brigade, an officer or member of New South Wales Fire Brigades, officers of the Forestry Commission, officers of the National Parks and Wildlife Service or any other person.

5

10

15

20

30

(3) The Commissioner is not subject to the control and direction of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee in exercising the Commissioner's functions under this Division but must, in exercising those functions, take into consideration any relevant bush fire management plan and, in the case of managed land, any relevant plan of the authority responsible for the managed land of which the Commissioner is aware.

45 Power to give directions etc

- (1) The Commissioner may give such directions as the Commissioner considers necessary to fire control officers, deputy fire control officers, officers of rural fire brigades, local authorities, officers or members of New South Wales Fire Brigades, members of the Police Service and other persons in connection with the prevention, control or suppression of any bush fire in the area or locality in which the Commissioner has taken charge or is taking measures under this Division.
- (2) Without limiting the powers conferred on the Commissioner, the Commissioner may exercise, in any part of the State, any functions conferred by section 21 on an officer in charge of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades in respect of the rural fire district for which the brigade is formed.
- (3) Any person (other than a police officer) who fails to observe any direction given under this section by the Commissioner is guilty of an offence.
 - Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.

- (4) The provisions of this section have effect despite anything contained in this or any other Act to the contrary.
- (5) Nothing in this Division enables the Commissioner to commandeer equipment or resources (human or otherwise).

Division 2 Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

5

46 Constitution of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

- (1) There is constituted by this Act a corporation with the corporate name of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.
- (2) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is a statutory body representing the Crown.

10

47 Membership and procedure of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

- (1) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is to consist of 12 members as follows:
 - (a) the Commissioner, who is to be the Chairperson of the Committee,

15

- (b) an officer of New South Wales Fire Brigades nominated by the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades,
- (c) an officer of the Forestry Commission nominated by the commissioner constituting the Forestry Commission,

- (d) an officer of the National Parks and Wildlife Service nominated by the Director-General of National Parks and Wildlife,
- (e) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Local Government Association of New South Wales,
- 25
- (f) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Shires Association of New South Wales,

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Clause 47

Rural	Fires	Bill	1997

Clause 48

Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

Part 3 Division 2

(3) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is to have regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the *Protection of the Environment Administration Act 1991* in carrying out any function that affects the environment.

5

49 Delegation

The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may delegate to the Commissioner any function (other than this power of delegation) conferred or imposed on it by or under this Act.

Division 3 Bush Fire Management Committees

10

50 Bush Fire Management Committees

- (1) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee must constitute a Bush Fire Management Committee for the whole of the area of any local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted.
- (2) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may constitute a Bush Fire Management Committee for:

15

- (a) an area of a local authority that is constituted solely as a fire district, or
- (b) a part of the State other than a rural fire district or a fire district.

20

- (3) Committees may be constituted for separate rural fire districts or for groups of rural fire districts.
- (4) A Bush Fire Management Committee is to be constituted in accordance with the regulations.

51 Functions of Bush Fire Management Committees

25

(1) A Bush Fire Management Committee has such functions as are conferred or imposed on it by or under this or any other Act.

environment.

5

Division 4 Preparation of draft bush fire management plans

52 Bush Fire Management Committees to prepare plans

- (1) Each Bush Fire Management Committee must, in accordance with this Division, prepare and submit to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee a draft of each of the following kinds of bush fire management plans for the rural fire district or other part of the State for which it is constituted:
 - (a) a plan of operations, and
 - (b) a bush fire risk management plan.

15

10

- (2) Draft bush fire management plans of both kinds must be prepared and submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee by a Bush Fire Management Committee within 3 months after the constitution of the Bush Fire Management Committee and:
 - (a) in the case of a plan of operations—within each successive 2 year period following the constitution of the Committee, and

in the case of a bush fire risk management plan—within each successive 5 year period following the constitution of the Committee.

25

20

53 Content of draft plan of operations

A draft plan of operations for a rural fire district or other part of the State is to set out the procedures to be followed if:

(a) a bush fire breaks out in the rural fire district or other part of the State and assumes or is likely to assume such proportions as to be incapable of suppression by the fire fighting authority or authorities in that part of the State, or

(b) the prevailing conditions are conducive to the outbreak of a bush fire likely to assume such proportions.

54 Content of draft bush fire risk management plan

(1) A draft bush fire risk management plan for a rural fire district or other part of the State is to set out schemes for the reduction of bush fire hazards in the rural fire district or other part of the State.

(2) Without limiting the matters that may be contained in a draft bush fire risk management plan, it may restrict or prohibit the use of fire or other particular fire hazard reduction activities in all or specified circumstances or places to which the plan applies.

Note. A plan might, for example, prohibit the use of fire because of its effect on fauna or flora in, or the cultural heritage of, a particular place.

55 General content

(1) A draft bush fire management plan may:

(a) include schemes for the exercise in the rural fire district or other part of the State to which it applies of functions conferred or imposed by this Act, and

- (b) confer or impose functions on the Commissioner, the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades, the commissioner constituting the Forestry Commission, the Director-General of National Parks and Wildlife or any other person or body associated with the prevention, mitigation or suppression of bush fires in that part of the State.
- (2) A draft bush fire management plan must include any provisions that the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee has advised the Bush Fire Management Committee concerned to include in the plan.

25

20

5

10

Clause 56

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 3 Division 4 Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

56 Failure of Management Committee

The Commissioner may exercise the functions of a Bush Fire Management Committee under this Division if the Committee has failed to submit a draft bush fire management plan in accordance with the Division or has submitted a draft plan that, in the opinion of the Commissioner, is inadequate.

Division 5 Public participation in preparation of plans

57 Public notice of draft bush fire risk management plans

- (1) The Bush Fire Management Committee or Commissioner must:
 - (a) in accordance with the regulations, give public notice of and exhibit, for the purpose of receiving submissions from any interested persons, any draft bush fire risk management plan for a rural fire district or other part of the State prepared by the Committee or Commissioner, and

10

20

25

30

- (b) concurrently display for information any draft plan of operations or plan of operations for that rural fire district or part of the State.
- (2) The Bush Fire Management Committee or Commissioner is to ensure that no addresses or telephone numbers of fire control officers or other operational contact information is displayed.

58 Adoption of bush fire risk management plans

- (1) After considering all submissions received concerning the draft bush fire risk management plan, the Bush Fire Management Committee or the Commissioner (if the Commissioner is exercising the functions of the Committee under section 56) may decide to amend the draft plan or to submit it to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee without amendment as the proposed bush fire risk management plan for the rural fire district or part of the State concerned.
- (2) When a draft bush fire risk management plan for a rural fire district or any other part of the State is submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee it must:

15

20

25

30

(a)	consider all submissions received by it concerning the
	draft plan, and
(b)	review the provisions of the draft plan and of any curren

- (b) review the provisions of the draft plan and of any current bush fire risk management plan for that part of the State.
- (3) After considering the submissions and the review, the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may:
 - (a) approve the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee) and revoke any other bush fire risk management plan to the extent that it makes corresponding provisions for that part of the State, or
 - (b) vary another bush fire risk management plan for some or all of the same part of the State so as to incorporate in the other plan some or all of the provisions of the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee).
- (4) If the Bush Fire Management Committee, the Commissioner (if the Commissioner is exercising the functions of the Committee under section 56) or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee decides to amend the draft plan:
 - (a) they may publicly exhibit the amended draft plan in accordance with this Division, or
 - (b) if of the opinion that the amendments are not substantial, the Bush Fire Management Committee or Commissioner may submit, or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may adopt, the amended draft plan without public exhibition as the bush fire risk management plan for the area concerned.

59 Adoption of bush fire plans of operation

- (1) After preparing a draft plan of operations for the rural fire district or other part of the State for which it is constituted, the Bush Fire Management Committee is to submit the plan to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.
- (2) When a draft plan of operations is submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, it must review the provisions, of the draft plan and of any current plan of operations.

Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

- (3) After the review, the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may:
 - (a) approve the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee) and revoke any other plan of operations to the extent that it makes corresponding provisions for that part of the State, or

5

10

15

20

25

30

(b) vary another plan of operations for some or all of the same part of the State so as to incorporate in the other plan some or all of the provisions of the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee).

60 Co-ordination of planning by bush fire management plans

- (1) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is not to approve or vary a bush fire management plan so as to impose a requirement on a public authority within the administration of a Minister if the authority objects to the requirement.
- (2) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may, with the consent of a public authority:
 - (a) vary or revoke any provision of an approved bush fire management plan imposing a requirement on the authority, or
 - (b) vary an approved bush fire management plan so as to impose a requirement on the authority.
- (3) Any dispute between the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee and a public authority about the imposition of a requirement on the authority is to be decided by the Minister and, if the authority is within the administration of another Minister, that other Minister. The decision of the Minister or Ministers is binding on the parties to the dispute.
- (4) If agreement cannot be reached between the Ministers, the dispute is to be resolved by the Premier whose decision is binding on the parties to the dispute.
- (5) A bush fire management plan may be communicated in such manner as the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee thinks fit to any public authority to which it relates.

(6) A bush fire management plan communicated to a public authority to which it relates is to be adopted by that authority and, as far as practicable, carried into effect by the authority in the circumstances indicated by the plan.

61 Amendment, revocation and cessation of bush fire management plans

5

(1) A Bush Fire Management Committee, the Commissioner or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may amend a bush fire management plan adopted under this Division by another bush fire management plan that is prepared and adopted in accordance with sections 57–60.

10

(2) A bush fire management plan may be revoked by a bush fire management plan adopted under this Division by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

62 Public availability of bush fire management plans and draft bush fire management plans

15

A bush fire management plan or draft bush fire management plan must be available for public inspection at, and be able to be obtained free of charge from, the office of the local authority for the area to which it relates during ordinary office hours.

Clause 63

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 4 Division 1 Bush fire prevention

Part 4 Bush fire prevention

Note. Part 4 deals with the prevention and minimisation of the spread of bush fires throughout the State. It provides for bush fire hazard reduction work to be done, for limitation of the lighting of fires without a permit during bush fire danger periods and the imposition of total fire bans. It imposes responsibilities on the owners and occupiers of land and public authorities in relation to these and other matters.

5

Division 1 Duty to prevent bush fires

63 Duties of public authorities and owners and occupiers of land to prevent bush fires

10

- (1) It is the duty of a public authority to take the notified steps (if any) and any other practicable steps to prevent the occurrence of bush fires on, and to minimise the danger of the spread of a bush fire on or from:
 - (a) any land vested in or under its control or management, or

15

- (b) any highway, road, street, land or thoroughfare, the maintenance of which is charged on the authority.
- (2) It is the duty of the owner or occupier of land to take the notified steps (if any) and any other practicable steps to prevent the occurrence of bush fires on, and to minimise the danger of the spread of bush fires on or from, that land.

20

- (3) A public authority or owner or occupier is liable for the costs incurred by it in performing the duty imposed by this section.
- (4) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may advise a person on whom a duty is imposed by this section of any steps (whether or not included in a bush fire risk management plan) that are necessary for the proper performance of the duty.

25

(5) In this section:

notified steps means:

- (a) any steps that the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee advises a person to take under subsection (4), or
- 30
- (b) any steps that are included in a bush fire risk management plan applying to the land.

Part 4 Division 1

5

10

15

20

25

64 Occupiers to extinguish fires or notify fire fighting authorities

(1) If a fire (not being a fire or part of a fire lit under the authority of this Act or any other Act) is burning on any land at any time during a bush fire danger period applicable to the land the occupier of the land must:

immediately on becoming aware of the fire and whether the occupier has lit or caused the fire to be lit or not, take all possible steps to extinguish the fire, and

- (b) if the occupier is unable without assistance to extinguish the fire and any practicable means of communication are available, inform or cause to be informed an appropriate officer of the existence and locality of the fire if it is practicable to do so without leaving the fire unattended.
- (2) In this section, appropriate officer means:
 - (a) if the fire is burning within any fire district constituted under the *Fire Brigades Act 1989*—the nearest available officer or fire fighter of the fire brigades in the fire district, or
 - (b) if the fire is burning outside any such fire district—the nearest available officer or member of a rural fire brigade or fire control officer or deputy fire control officer or officer of the Forestry Commission or the National Parks and Wildlife Service.

Maximum penalty: 20 penalty units or imprisonment for 6 months, or both.

Division 2 Bush fire hazard reduction

Note. Bush fire hazard reduction work and bush fire hazard reduction notice are defined in the Dictionary.

65 Reduction of fire hazards on unoccupied Crown land and managed land

(1) In this section:

authorised person, in relation to land, means:

(a) any officer of a rural fire brigade for the time being nominated for the purposes of this section by the local authority for the area in which the land is situated, or

35

		(b)	any person for the time being nominated for the purposes of this section by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, or	
		(c)	a person exercising functions under a bush fire risk management plan, or	5
		(d)	an authorised officer of a fire fighting authority.	
	(2)	fighti Crow nomin land assist	authorised person may, with the permission of the fire ing authority or other authority responsible for unoccupied on land or managed land or a person for the time being nated by the authority to give such permission, enter the and carry out bush fire hazard reduction work with the cance of such other persons as the authorised person ders to be necessary for the purpose.	10
	(3)	mana this s	authority responsible for unoccupied Crown land or ged land is to be taken to have given the permission under ection to the extent necessary to give effect to a bush fire management plan.	15
	(4)		mission under this section is given subject to conditions, the tions must be complied with.	
66	Bush	i fire t	nazard reduction work required by local authorities	20
66	Bush	The letthe occurrence within	nazard reduction work required by local authorities ocal authority of an area may, by notice in writing, require occupier or owner (not being a public authority) of any land in the area to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work fied in the notice on the land.	20
66		The letthe or within specific The letthe requirements.	ocal authority of an area may, by notice in writing, require ccupier or owner (not being a public authority) of any land in the area to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work	20
66	(1)	The letthe od within specific The letthe other to the munder the buspecific reduced to the specific re	ocal authority of an area may, by notice in writing, require ecupier or owner (not being a public authority) of any land in the area to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work fied in the notice on the land. Iocal authority must serve a notice under this section if red to do so by a bush fire risk management plan applicable	

Clause 65

Division 2

Part 4

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Bush fire prevention

(5)The requirements and conditions so specified must include any requirements specified in a bush fire risk management plan that is applicable to the land and is in force and may include a requirement or condition that the burning of fire breaks or of combustible matter or other material: 5 must, in a fire district constituted under the Fire Brigades (a) Act 1989, be carried out by or under the supervision of the fire brigade in the district or the officer or fire fighter in charge of the fire brigade, or (b) must, outside a fire district, be carried out by or under the 10 supervision of the rural fire brigade specified in the notice or an appropriate officer of the rural fire brigade or any fire control officer. (6)A notice requiring the establishment of a fire break cannot require an occupier or owner to kill or remove any trees that are 15 reasonably necessary: (a) for shade, shelter, windbreak or fodder purposes, or (b) for the protection of threatened species, populations, communities or critical habitats within the meaning of the Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995. 20 Note. See section 54 (2) for other possible limitations. (7)An occupier or owner to whom a bush fire hazard reduction notice is given must, despite the fact that a fire permit has not been granted under Division 5, comply with the requirements specified in the notice. 25 Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months. (8)A notice under this section that is the subject of an objection or appeal under section 67 or 68 does not have effect until the objection or appeal is finally determined. 30 Objection to notices

67

(1)The owner or occupier of land on whom a notice has been served under section 66 may, within 7 days of the service of the notice, lodge an objection with the fire control officer for the local authority for the area in which the land is situated stating the grounds of objection.

Clause	Rural Fires Bill 1997	
Part 4 Division	Bush fire prevention 2	
(2	If a person lodges an objection, the fire control officer and the person must genuinely attempt to resolve the matter by consultation having regard to:	
	(a) the provisions of any bush fire risk management plan applicable to the land that is in force, and	5
	(b) the matters referred to in section 66 (5), and	
	(c) the proper needs for conservation, and	
	(d) such other matters as may be prescribed by the regulations.	
(3	Within 14 days of the lodging of an objection, the fire control officer must:	10
	(a) confirm the notice, or	
	(b) vary the notice, if the fire control officer is satisfied that the variation will appropriately address the threat of fire, or	
	(c) withdraw the notice, if the fire control officer is satisfied that there is no longer any need for the notice to be served.	15
(4)	If the fire control officer confirms or varies the notice, that officer must give the person who lodged the objection notice of his or her decision and must specify a time after the notice is given within which the person must comply with the notice as confirmed or varied.	20
68 Ar	ppeal against notices	
(1)		
(1)	(a) the fire control officer has failed to confirm, vary or withdraw the notice within 14 days, or	
	(b) the person is not satisfied with the confirmation or variation of the notice,	25
	the person may appeal in writing to the Commissioner within 7 days of the end of the 14 day period or the date of the confirmation or variation, whichever is earlier, stating the grounds of appeal.	30
(2)	The Commissioner must:	
	(a) consider the appeal within a reasonable time, and	
	(b) take into account all relevant circumstances, including the matters referred to in section 67 (2), and	

advise the local authority that an appeal has been received.

35

(c)

Bush fire prevention

- (3) After considering the appeal, the Commissioner must:
 - (a) confirm the notice, or
 - (b) vary the notice in any way the Commissioner thinks fit, or
 - (c) cancel the notice,

and advise the local authority accordingly.

5

(4) If the Commissioner confirms or varies the notice, the Commissioner must give the person who lodged the appeal notice of his or her decision and must specify a time after the notice is given within which the person must comply with the notice as confirmed or varied.

10

69 Duties of local authority

- (1) The fire control officer for a local authority, or an officer or member of a fire brigade or other person authorised by the local authority, may for the purpose of forming an opinion as to:
 - (a) whether the local authority should serve a notice under section 66 on the occupier or owner of any land, or

15

(b) whether or not such a notice has been complied with,

enter during the daytime any part of the land (other than a dwelling-house) that it is necessary to inspect in order to form that opinion.

20

- (2) A local authority that requires an occupier or owner of land to take action under a bush fire hazard reduction notice must give notice in the approved form to such persons or bodies as may be prescribed by the regulations.
- (3) It is a duty of a local authority to keep a record of whether or not bush fire hazard reduction work has been carried out on land within the area of the local authority in accordance with a bush fire hazard reduction notice.

Note. The Land and Environment Court has jurisdiction to hear and dispose of proceedings under this Act. See section 20 of the *Land and Environment Court Act 1979*.

30

Part 4 Division 2 Bush fire prevention

70 Bush fire hazard reduction work in default of compliance with notice

(1) In this section:

relevant notice means:

- (a) a bush fire hazard reduction notice, or
- (b) if a bush fire hazard reduction notice is the subject of an objection or appeal, a notice under section 67 (4) or 68 (4), respectively.

5

10

15

30

- (2) If within the time specified in the relevant notice the owner or occupier to whom it is given fails to comply with any requirement of the notice, the local authority or any officers or members of any fire brigade or rural fire brigade or other persons authorised by the local authority may, without prejudice to the liability of the owner or occupier, enter on the land and carry out the bush fire hazard reduction work the owner or occupier was required to do under the notice.
- (3) The expenses of carrying out the bush fire hazard reduction work are a debt recoverable from the owner or occupier of the land in any court of competent jurisdiction.
- (4) The local authority must exercise its power under this section if the requirement that has not been complied with is made by a bush fire risk management plan.
- (5) The provisions of the *Local Government Act 1993*, with respect to:
 - (a) the charge of a rate under that Act on the land in respect of which it is levied, and
 - (b) the time within which proceedings for the recovery of the rate may be taken,

apply to and in respect of any judgment recovered under this section against the owner of land by the local authority and recorded in the books, as if the amount of the judgment and of any costs awarded to the local authority in respect of its claim were a rate levied under that Act in respect of the land concerned.

Part 4 Division 2

10

15

20

25

30

71 Defence to court proceedings

If:

(a) the occupier and the owner of the land in respect of which a bush fire hazard reduction notice is given are not the same person, and

(b) the owner of that land has been prosecuted under section 66 or an action for recovery of expenses has been taken against the owner under section 70,

it is a defence to that prosecution or action if the court is satisfied that that owner had no legal right, as between the owner and the occupier of that land, to enter that land and comply with the requirements of the notice.

72 Certain damage to property caused by bush fire hazard reduction work covered by fire insurance

- (1) Any damage to property caused by a person in the exercise in good faith of a power conferred by or under this Division is to be taken to be damage by fire within the meaning of any policy of insurance against fire covering the damaged property.
- (2) This section does not apply in relation to an entry on land that is authorised by section 70 (which relates to entry on land after failure to comply with a bush fire hazard reduction notice).

73 Bush fire hazard reduction by the Commissioner

- (1) The Commissioner may carry out bush fire hazard reduction work on any land in the manner required by a bush fire risk management plan if any such work has not been carried out on that land when required by the plan or has not been carried out in the manner required by the plan.
- (2) Any costs incurred by the Commissioner in carrying out such work may be recovered as a debt due to the Crown in a court of competent jurisdiction.
- (3) Any such work may be carried out by the Commissioner whether or not the owner or occupier of the land or a local authority has a duty to carry out the work.

Clause 73		Rural Fires Bill 1997	
Part 4 Division 2		Bush fire prevention	
	(4)	Any dispute between the Commissioner and a public authority about whether bush fire hazard reduction work has or has not been carried out on any land when or in the manner required by a bush fire risk management plan may be decided by the Minister and, if the public authority is within the administration of another Minister, the other Minister. The decision of the Minister or Ministers is binding on the parties to the dispute.	
	(5)	If agreement cannot be reached between the Ministers, the dispute is to be resolved by the Premier whose decision is binding on the parties to the dispute.	1
74	Loca	al authority to review incidence of bush fire hazards	
	(1)	A local authority is to review annually the incidence of bush fire hazards on such private lands as it determines in its area.	
	(2)	Within 3 months (or such other period as the Commissioner specifies) of the end of each year, a local authority must report to the Commissioner on the incidence of bush fire hazards.	15
	(3)	The local authority must remove or reduce (or facilitate the reduction or removal by the owners or occupiers of) bush fire hazards on the land identified by the local authority.	
	(4)	If the Commissioner is satisfied that a local authority is not making full use of its power to require bush fire hazard reduction work to be done, the Commissioner may, by notice in writing served on the local authority, require it to exercise those powers as stated in the notice.	20
	(5)	A local authority served with a notice under this section must	25

Division 3 Damage by fire to dividing fences and other matters

comply with the requirements of the notice.

75 Definitions

In this Division:

30

adjoining owners means the owners or occupiers of land (other than excluded land) on either side of a dividing fence.

dividing fence means a fence separating land owned or occupied by different persons.

excluded land means land that a bush fire management plan specifies to be excluded for the purposes of this Division.

fence means a structure, ditch or embankment, or a hedge or similar vegetation barrier, enclosing or bounding land, whether or not continuous or extending along the whole of the boundary separating the land from other land and includes:

- (a) any gate, cattlegrid or apparatus necessary for the operation of the fence, and
- (b) any foundation or support necessary for the support and maintenance of the fence.

76 Notices to repair or restore dividing fences

- (1) An adjoining owner who has cleared land on the adjoining owner's side of a dividing fence of all combustible matter for a distance of 6 metres from the fence may, by notice in writing, require the adjoining owner on the other side of the fence to repair or restore the dividing fence if it is damaged or destroyed by a bush fire caused by the failure of the other adjoining owner to clear the adjoining owner's side of the fence of all combustible matter for the same distance.
- (2) The adjoining owner to whom a notice is given must repair or restore the dividing fence at that adjoining owner's expense:
 - (a) within one month of being given the notice, or
 - (b) within such longer period as a Local Court may allow on application by the adjoining owner to the Local Court.
- (3) The dividing fence is to be restored to a reasonable standard, having regard to its state before damage or destruction.
- (4) The adjoining owner may apply to the Local Court for an order authorising the adjoining owner to repair or restore the fence if:
 - (a) the adjoining owner to whom a notice is given fails to repair or restore the fence in the required time, or
 - (b) the adjoining owner has not, after making reasonable inquiries, been able to ascertain the whereabouts of the adjoining owner for the purposes of serving the notice.

30

10

15

Clause 76		Rural Fires Bill 1997	
Part 4 Division 3		Bush fire prevention	
	(5)	An adjoining owner who repairs or restores a fence under this section (including the owner's employees or agents) may, at any reasonable time, enter on the land adjoining the dividing fence for the purpose of carrying out the work.	
	(6)	This section does not apply to an adjoining owner that is a public authority other than a local authority.	
77	Reco	overy of costs	
	(1)	An adjoining owner who repairs or restores a fence in accordance with an order under section 76 (4) is entitled to recover from the other adjoining owner the cost of carrying out the work.	
	(2)	Any money that an adjoining owner is required or liable to pay under this section may be recovered as a debt in a court of competent jurisdiction.	
	(3)	In any proceedings for the recovery of money the certificate of a Local Court as to the making and content of an order made by it under section 76 is evidence of the matters set out in the certificate.	
'8	Juris	diction of Local Court	
		A Local Court has jurisdiction to hear and determine any matter arising under this Division.	
9	Entry	to land to extinguish fire	
		An adjoining owner who has cleared land in the manner referred to in section 76 may enter the land of an adjoining owner who has failed to so clear that adjoining owner's land and take all necessary steps to extinguish any unattended fire that at its closest point has approached a distance that unreasonably endangers or threatens the adjoining owner's land and any fence or property on it.	
0	Entry	to certain land to establish fire breaks	
		The owner or occupier of land that adjoins any unoccupied Crown land or Crown land that is not excluded land or land reserved or dedicated, or acquired for reservation or dedication,	

under the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 may enter on the land for the purpose of undertaking bush fire hazard reduction work on the land not more than 6 metres wide along the boundary of the land.

Division 4 Bush fire danger period

5

81 General bush fire danger period

For the purposes of this Act, the *bush fire danger period* in respect of land in the State is, except as provided by section 82, the period commencing on 1 October and ending on 31 March in the following year.

10

82 Local bush fire danger period

- (1) A local authority may, by notice published in a newspaper circulating generally in the area:
 - (a) declare that there is no bush fire danger period for its area or part of its area, or

15

(b) specify a different period to that set out in section 81 as the bush fire danger period for its area or part of its area.

Note. Under section 377 of the *Local Government Act 1993* a council may, by resolution, delegate its functions under this section to the General Manager or another person or body.

20

- (2) As soon as practicable after publishing a notice under subsection (1), the local authority is to publish a copy of the notice in the Gazette.
- (3) Despite section 81, if a declaration is made in accordance with this section specifying a different **bush fire danger period** in relation to any area or part of an area of a local authority the bush fire danger period in that area or part is the period specified in the declaration.

25

(4) Unless it is sooner revoked, a declaration remains in force for such period as is specified in the declaration.

30

(5) A local authority is to notify the Commissioner within 24 hours of the making of a declaration under this section and, if concurrence is required under section 83, is to forward a copy of the concurrence to the Commissioner.

C	aı	ISA	83
$\mathbf{\mathcal{C}}$	αι	30 0	UU

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 4 Division 4 Bush fire prevention

83 Concurrence required before local bush fire danger period declaration made

(1) The Commissioner may, by order published in the Gazette, declare land to be a special area for the purposes of this Division and require the concurrence in writing of the Forestry Commission and the National Parks and Wildlife Service to be obtained before a declaration is made under section 82 in relation to the land.

5

10

15

20

25

(2) A local authority is not to make a declaration under section 82 in relation to a special area without the concurrence of the Forestry Commission and the National Parks and Wildlife Service or, if concurrence is not given within 3 days after notice requesting concurrence has been given to the Forestry Commission and the National Parks and Wildlife Service, without the consent of the Minister.

84 Notice of bush fire danger period

If a local authority makes a declaration under section 82 in relation to its area or part of its area, the local authority is to give notice of the bush fire danger period for that part of the State in a newspaper circulating generally in that area or part.

Division 5 Permits and notice requirements

85 Definitions

In this Division:

appropriate authority, in relation to a fire permit in respect of land, means:

- (a) in the case of a local government area—the council of the area,
 - Note. On delegation of council's functions see sections 377 and 378 of the *Local Government Act 1993*.
- (b) in the case of Lord Howe Island—the Lord Howe Island
 Board or a person authorised by the Board to issue the permit,
- (c) in the case of land in a fire district—the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades,
- (d) in the case of any other land or in circumstances set out in the Service Standards—the Commissioner.

Bush fire prevention

land clearance means clearing land of bush, stubble, scrub, timber, trees, grass or vegetative or other material.

light a fire includes:

- (a) maintain or use a fire, and
- (b) cause a fire to be lit, maintained or used.

5

86 Notice required before certain fires lit

A person who lights a fire on land:

- (a) for the purpose of land clearance or for burning any fire break, or
- (b) in circumstances in which doing so would be likely to be dangerous to any building,

10

is guilty of an offence unless the person has given notice in accordance with the regulations to the persons prescribed by the regulations.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.

15

87 Lighting fires for land clearance or fire breaks in bush fire danger period

A person who lights a fire on land for the purpose of land clearance or for burning any fire break during a bush fire danger period that applies to the land is guilty of an offence unless the person:

20

- (a) is authorised to do so by a fire permit issued by the appropriate authority and the person complies with any conditions set out in the fire permit, and
- 25
- (b) has given notice in accordance with section 86.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.

88 Lighting fires that are dangerous to buildings in fire districts

A person who lights a fire on land within a local government area that is in a fire district in circumstances in which doing so would be likely to be dangerous to any building is guilty of an offence unless the person:

in which the land to which the permit relates is situated) as the

authority considers appropriate.

30

Clause 88

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 4 Division 5

92 Conditions of permit

- (1) A fire permit is subject to:
 - (a) the condition that it be carried by the holder of the fire permit at the time a fire authorised by the permit is lit, and
 - (b) such conditions as are prescribed by the regulations or specified in the permit.

Note. A fire permit might, for example, include a condition that any fire lit in a rural fire district or fire district be lit under the supervision of the rural fire brigade or fire brigade for the district or an officer of the brigade or a fire control officer.

(2) A person who, being the holder of a fire permit, contravenes any condition of the fire permit is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.

93 Refusal to issue fire permit

An appropriate authority may refuse to issue a permit if:

15

20

25

30

5

10

- (a) issue of the permit would be inconsistent with any bush fire risk management plan, or
- (b) if the appropriate authority is a local authority—the local authority has determined in writing that no permits be issued for fires to be lit in its area (or any part of its area) because of the seriousness of bush fire danger in the area, or
- (c) the appropriate authority is otherwise authorised or required by the regulations or by or under this or any other Act to refuse to issue the permit.

94 Notice to be given of issue of fire permit

- (1) A council that issues a fire permit to light a fire on land in a fire district must notify the officer in charge of the fire station that is nearest to the land when issuing the permit.
- (2) An appropriate authority who issues a fire permit to light a fire on land specified in the regulations must give notice in an approved form to such persons or bodies as are prescribed by the regulations.

(3) An appropriate authority who gives a notice under this section must notify the person or body concerned if the appropriate authority cancels or suspends the permit.

95 Permit not required for fires lit by public authorities

- (1) Nothing in this Division requires a public authority or a person acting under the direction of a public authority to hold a permit to light a fire.
- (2) However, a public authority:
 - (a) must not light a fire in any area of a local authority (or part of such an area) if it has been notified that a determination referred to in section 93 (b) has been made in respect of the area, and

5

10

15

20

25

- (b) must not light a fire in any rural fire district unless the fire control officer for the district has been advised that it is to be lit, and
- (c) must not light a fire on land in any fire district unless the officer in charge of the fire station that is nearest to the land has been advised that it is to be lit.

96 Appropriate authorities not determining authorities

- (1) An appropriate authority is not, for the purposes of granting a fire permit, a determining authority within the meaning of Part 5 of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979*. In addition, an appropriate authority is not a determining authority within the meaning of that Act merely because the authority can authorise another person to grant a permit.
- (2) The issue of a fire permit under this Division does not affect any requirement to obtain a licence under Part 6 of the *Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995*.

97 Reporting requirements

(1) Within 3 months (or such other period as the Commissioner specifies) of the end of each financial year, a local authority must report to the Commissioner with respect to fire permits issued by it during the year.

10

15

20

25

30

- (2) A report is to include:
 - (a) details of the circumstances surrounding any bush fires in its area that appear to have been caused by the lighting of a fire authorised by a fire permit issued by the local authority, and

(b) details of any action taken with respect to permits that is inconsistent with any bush fire risk management plan applying to the area.

98 Issue of permit does not affect duty to prevent bush fires

The issue of a fire permit to an owner or occupier of land under this Division does not limit or affect the duty to prevent bush fires imposed on the owner or occupier under section 63.

Division 6 Total fire bans

99 Lighting of fires prohibited in certain circumstances

- (1) If the Minister is of the opinion that it is necessary or expedient in the interests of public safety to do so, the Minister may, by order in writing, direct that in the part or parts of the State specified in the order:
 - (a) the lighting, maintenance or use of any fire or class of fire in the open air is prohibited for such period or periods as may be specified in the order, and
 - (b) such special conditions as may be specified in the order be observed by persons lighting, maintaining or using any fire or class of fire in the open air and for such period or periods as may be specified in the order, and
 - (c) such action as may be specified in the order be taken by such persons or class of persons as may be specified in the order for preventing the outbreak or the spread of any bush fire or for controlling or suppressing any bush fire.
- (2) As soon as practicable after making a direction under this section, the Minister is:
 - (a) to cause notice of the direction to be broadcast by a television or radio station transmitting to the part or parts of the State concerned and in a newspaper circulating in those parts, and

Cla	use 99	Rural Fires Bill 1997	
Parl Divi	4 sion 6	Bush fire prevention	
		(b) to cause a copy of the order by which the direction is given to be published in the Gazette.	
	(3)	The specification in any notice or order under this section of part of the State by reference to a zone defined by the regulations for the purpose is sufficient specification of a part of the State for the purposes of this section.	5
	(4)	If part of a local government area is specified in any order under this section the order applies to the whole of the local government area.	
	(5)	The Minister may delegate to the Commissioner any of the Minister's functions under this section, other than this power of delegation.	10
	(6)	Any person who fails to comply with any direction given by the Minister is guilty of an offence.	
		Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.	15
	(7)	The provisions of this section have effect despite anything contained in this Act or any other Act to the contrary.	
Div	ision	7 Lighting fires without authority	
00	Offer	nces	20
	(1)	A person who, without lawful authority:	
		(a) sets fire or causes fire to be set to the land or property of another person, the Crown or any public authority, or	
		(b) being the owner or occupier of any land, permits a fire to escape from that land under such circumstances as to cause or be likely to cause injury or damage to the person, land or property of another person or the land or property of the Crown or a public authority,	25
		is guilty of an offence.	
		Maximum penalty: 1,000 penalty units or imprisonment for 5 years, or both.	30

- (2) A person who, without lawful authority, leaves whether temporarily or otherwise any fire which the person has lit or used in the open air before the fire is thoroughly extinguished is guilty of an offence.
 - Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 5 months, or both.
- (3)Nothing in subsection (2) requires any person to extinguish a fire in the open air that has been lit or used for the purpose of cooking, heating or preparing meals or boiling water or for any similar purpose in accordance with the regulations if, at the time 10 of the person leaving it, the fire continues to be used by some other person.

Page 51

Clause	1	0	1
--------	---	---	---

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 5 Division 1 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

Part 5 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

Note. This Part requires local government councils and insurance companies to contribute, along with the State Government, to the costs of rural fire brigade expenditure. The total amount required to be contributed is based on estimated rural fire brigade expenditure.

5

Division 1 Preliminary

101 Definitions

In this Part:

insurance company means any body corporate, partnership, association, underwriter or person that or who:

10

15

- issues or undertakes liability under policies of insurance against loss of or damage to any property situated in New South Wales, or
- (b) receives premiums in respect of such policies of insurance on behalf of or for transmission to any body corporate, partnership, association, underwriter or person outside New South Wales.

. ,

rural fire brigade expenditure, in relation to a specified period, means the aggregate of:

 recurrent expenditure incurred during the period in the exercise of the Commissioner's functions under this Act, and

(b) recurrent expenditure incurred during that period in respect of the administrative costs of the Service, Advisory Council, the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee or the Minister incurred under the authority of this Act.

25

20

Division 2 The Fund

102 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

(1) There is to be established in the Special Deposits Account in the Treasury a New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund into which are to be paid all contributions and other money received under this Part.

10

15

20

- (2) There is payable from the Fund:
 - (a) money to assist in meeting the costs of rural fire brigade expenditure, and
 - (b) any money payable in connection with the exercise of the duties imposed on the Commissioner by section 45 and the construction and maintenance of fire trails and other fire prevention and hazard reduction works, and
 - (c) all money directed to be paid from the Fund by or under this or any other Act.

Note. See for example section 20 of the *Workers Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Act 1987.*

- (3) The costs directly attributable to the administration of this Part and all expenses incurred by the Minister in the exercise of the Minister's functions under this Part must not, during any financial year, exceed 10% of the total expenditure from the Fund in respect of that financial year.
- (4) A written statement of the Minister is conclusive evidence as to the costs directly attributable to the administration of this Part and all expenses incurred by the Minister in the exercise of the Minister's functions under this Part.

Division 3 Estimates of Fund expenditure and contributions

103 Estimate to be prepared by Minister

- (1) The Minister must, before or as soon as practicable after the end of a financial year, prepare and, subject to the concurrence of the Treasurer, adopt:
 - (a) an estimate of the probable rural fire brigade expenditure, and
 - (b) an estimate of the parts of such expenditure applicable to each area of council,

for the next financial year.

30

Part 5 Division 3 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

(2)Before preparing the estimate, the Minister is to consider the report and recommendation of the Commissioner in respect of the matters referred to in subsection (1).

Councils etc to furnish information to Minister

For the purpose of enabling the Minister to prepare the estimates referred to in section 103 a council or rural fire brigade or a fire control officer must, at such times and in such manner as the Commissioner may require, furnish to the Commissioner such information relating to the rural fire brigades or other fire fighting personnel, the fire fighting apparatus of the rural fire brigades or personnel and such other matters relating to the organisation of the rural fire brigades or personnel as the Commissioner may require.

105 Times for instalment payments

The contributions payable under this Part (including advance payments) are to be paid on or before 1 July, 1 October, 1 January and 1 April in each financial year, or on or before such other days as the Commissioner may direct and notify to the contributors concerned.

Contributions due and payable within 60 days of assessment

- (1)Contributions payable under this Part are due and payable on assessment by the Minister and any such contribution not paid within 60 days of the date of assessment shown on the assessment notice is, unless the Minister otherwise determines, to be increased by 10% of the amount of the contribution payable.
- (2)Contributions or any part of contributions not paid by any insurance company or council within 90 days of the date of assessment and all penalties incurred in respect of failure to pay any contribution constitute a debt due and payable to the Minister and are recoverable in any court of competent jurisdiction by the 30 Minister.

10

15

20

107 Deficits and excesses in contributions

- (1) If, in any financial year, the amount received by the Minister from contributions under this Part falls short of the expenditure based on the estimate for that financial year, the deficit is to be added to the estimate of expenditure for the following year and the contributions are to be increased accordingly.
- (2) If the amount received by the Minister in any financial year, from contributions under this Part exceeds the expenditure based on the estimate for that financial year, then the excess is to be treated as a credit in favour of the estimated income of the following year and the contributions reduced accordingly.
- (3) For the purposes of this section any deficit or excess in respect of any financial year is to be the deficit or excess as certified by the Auditor-General.

Division 4 Contributions by Treasurer

15

20

5

10

108 Contributions by Treasurer

- (1) Of the amount required to be contributed to the Fund, the Treasurer must contribute 14%.
- (2) The Treasurer may, in addition to the contribution to the Fund under subsection (1), from time to time advance such money to the Fund subject to such terms and conditions as the Treasurer may determine.
- (3) Any money payable by the Treasurer under this section is to be paid out of money provided by Parliament.

Division 5 Contributions by local government areas

25

109 Contributions required from councils

(1) Of the amount required to be contributed to the Fund, 12.3% is to be contributed by the councils of each local government area or areas the whole or part of which is outside any fire district constituted under the *Fire Brigades Act 1989*.

New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

- (2) Funds of a council derived from donations and other voluntary contributions made for the purposes of this Act may not be used towards payments by the council under subsection (1) unless the Minister so approves.
- (3) If it is shown to the Governor that the danger from bush fires in a local government area is negligible the Governor may, on the recommendation of the Minister, exempt the council of that area from making contributions to the Fund.

5

35

(4) If the council of any area has been exempted under subsection (3) from making contributions to the Fund no payment is to be made in or towards any of the purposes specified in section 118 for the benefit of the area in respect of which the exemption has been granted.

110 Determination of contributions of councils

- (1) The contributions of councils are to be determined as follows: 15
 - (a) that part of the estimated expenditure applicable to any rural fire district that is to be contributed by councils is to be contributed by those councils the areas or any parts of which are within the rural fire district, and
 - (b) the total amount of the contribution of any council is to be determined by the Minister.
- (2) The amount of the contribution payable by any council may be raised if necessary, and despite any statutory limit of such rates, by an increase of the ordinary rate by such a sum in the dollar as will be sufficient to provide the amount of the contribution, and that increase is for all purposes to be taken to form part of the ordinary rate.
- (3) Every council and every officer of the council must, when so required by the Minister, furnish the Minister with all such documents, papers and information as the Minister may require to determine the contribution of the council.

Division 6 Contributions by insurance companies

111 Contributions required from insurance companies

Of the total amount required to be contributed to the Fund for a financial year, 73.7% is to be contributed by insurance companies in accordance with this Division.

10

20

25

112 Advance payment by insurance companies

- (1) An insurance company must, in each financial year, make an advance payment to the Commissioner pending an assessment under section 106.
- (2) The advance payment is to be an amount equal to the percentage fixed by the Minister in respect of that year of the total amount of the premiums subject to contribution under subsection (4) received by or due to the company during the financial year that ended one year before the financial year for which the advance payment is due.
- (3) The percentage fixed by the Minister is to be the percentage that will provide the total amount to be contributed under this Part by all insurance companies in respect of all rural fire districts in the financial year for which the contribution is required.
- (4) The amount of the premiums under any class of policies of insurance specified in Schedule 2 that is to be subject to contribution under this section is as indicated in that Schedule in respect of that class of policies of insurance.
- (5) If the Minister is satisfied that at least two-thirds of the insurance companies liable to contribute under this section desire that Schedule 2 be amended in a certain manner, and the Commissioner recommends the amendment, the Minister may by notice published in the Gazette, amend that Schedule accordingly.
- (6) Any such amendment takes effect from 1 July, or such other date, following publication of the notice as the Minister directs in the notice.

113 Definition of "total amount of the premiums"

For the purposes of this Division:

total amount of the premiums includes any brokerage or commission paid or due to be paid or allowed on:

- (a) any such premium, or
- (b) any bonuses or return premiums allowed in respect of any policy of insurance the subject of any such premium, or

Part 5 Division 6 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

(c) such part of the premiums received by or due to the company as is paid or due to be paid by way of reinsurance by the company to any other insurance company in New South Wales,

but does not include stamp duty payable in respect of any policy of insurance the subject of any such premium.

Adjustments

If an insurance company submits a return under this Division in a financial year, the Commissioner is to notify the company of the required contribution in relation to the company for that year assessed in accordance with the following formula:

required contribution = $\frac{a \times b}{c}$

where:

- "a" is the total amount of premiums subject to contribution specified in the return made by the company,
- is the total amount to be contributed under this Division by all insurance companies in respect of all rural fire districts for the year to which the return relates,
- is the total amount of all premiums subject to contribution specified in returns under this Division made by all insurance companies in respect of that year.
- (2)If the required contribution assessed in relation to an insurance company for a financial year is greater than the advance payment required to be made under this Division by the company for that financial year, the company must, not later than 31 December in the financial year in which the assessment is made or such later day as may be approved by the Commissioner, pay to the Commissioner the amount of the difference between the advance payment and the assessed amount.
- If the required contribution is assessed for a financial year in (3)30 which the company did not make an advance payment under this Division, the company must, not later than 31 December in the financial year in which the assessment is made or such later day as may be approved by the Commissioner, pay the amount assessed to the Commissioner.

35

5

10

15

20

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (4) If the required contribution assessed for a financial year is less than the amount of the advance payment required to be made under this Division by the company for that financial year, the Commissioner is to credit the amount of the difference against:
 - (a) any instalments that remain to be paid in respect of the advance payment for the financial year in which the assessment is made, and
 - (b) any instalments that will be required to be paid in respect of the advance payment to be made during the following financial year,

in such manner as the Commissioner may determine and, if any balance is outstanding at the end of the financial year referred to in paragraph (b), the Commissioner is to pay the amount outstanding to the company not later than the next 30 June.

- (5) If an insurance company:
 - (a) is entitled to a credit referred to in subsection (4) in respect of an advance payment under this Division, and
 - (b) did not receive, and was not entitled to receive, in the financial year in which the advance payment was made, any premium in respect of which it would have been required by this Division to submit a return, and
 - (c) the liabilities of the company in relation to the contributions under this Part have been discharged.

the Commissioner must, as soon as practicable, pay to the company the amount of the credit or, as the case may be, the balance outstanding.

115 Liability of owner where foreign insurer involved

- (1) This section applies to a person who is the owner of property in respect of which an insurance company has received a premium referred to in section 113 if the insurance company is not authorised under a law of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory to carry on insurance business.
- (2) The Commissioner may notify a person to whom this section applies that the person is to be responsible for the contributions required to be paid by the insurance company under this Part because of premiums received by the company in respect of the person's property, and in such a case:

- (a) the person must pay to the Commissioner any amounts that would otherwise be payable by the company under this Part in respect of those premiums, and
- (b) the provisions of this Division are to apply to the person as if the person were the insurance company that received those premiums, subject to any modification of those provisions required by the regulations.

10

(3) An owner who fails to pay such an amount within 30 days after it falls due is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: 10 penalty units.

- (4) The amount of such a payment may be deducted from any premium recoverable in the State by or on behalf of the company on the issue or renewal of any fire policy on the property or may be recovered from the company as a debt by the person making the payment.
- (5) This section applies whether the premium concerned was received in or outside the State.

116 Returns by insurance companies

- (1) An insurance company must during September in each financial year, or at such other time during the financial year as the Commissioner may notify in the Gazette, submit to the Commissioner:
 - (a) a return in the approved form showing the total amount of premiums received by or due to the company for the previous financial year in respect of the insurance against loss of or damage to any property in the State under the classes of policies specified in Schedule 2, and
 - (b) a certificate in the approved form from an auditor.
- (2) An insurance company that ceases to receive, and to be entitled to receive, any premiums in respect of which it would have been required by this section to submit a return must, within 30 days, notify the Commissioner accordingly in writing.

(4)

(3)		notification under subsection (2) is received by the missioner:	
	(a)	before 31 March in a financial year—the company is not discharged from its liability to pay any unpaid instalments of its advance payment under section 112 for that year, or	5
	(b)	on or after 31 March in a financial year—the company is not discharged from its liability to pay any unpaid instalments of its advance payment for that year or its advance payment for the next financial year.	
(4)	An in	nsurance company is guilty of an offence if it:	10
	(a)	fails to lodge a return or notify the Commissioner as required by this section, or	
	(b)	lodges a return under this section that is false or misleading in a material particular.	
	Maxi	mum penalty (subsection (4)):	15
	(a)	under paragraph (a)—1 penalty unit for each day the default continues, or	
	(b)	under paragraph (b)—10 penalty units.	
Audi	t of ac	ccounts of insurance companies	
(1)	and a	e request of the Minister, the Auditor-General may examine udit, or cause to be examined and audited, the accounts (and books and documents relating to the accounts) of any ance company liable to pay contributions under this Part.	20
(2)		examination and audit is to be in respect of matters relating arising out of the provisions of this Part.	25
(3)	The A	Auditor-General is to forward a report on the audit to the	

Minister as soon as practicable after it is completed.

to obstruct the Auditor-General, or any person acting on behalf of the Auditor-General, when exercising functions

It is an offence for a person:

under this section, or

10

15

20

25

- (i) an amount equal to the proceeds of sale of any such equipment, and
- (ii) any amount recovered (whether under a policy of insurance. from the Bush **Fighters** Fire Compensation Fund under Workers the Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Act 1987, or otherwise) in respect of the damage to, or destruction or loss of, any such equipment, and
- (b) if a part only of the cost of the purchase or construction of any such equipment was met by money to the credit of the Fund—an amount which bears to the amount that would be required by this subsection to be paid if the whole of that cost had been met by money to the credit of the Fund the same proportion as that part of the cost bears to the whole of that cost.
- (5) A council must take care of and maintain in the condition required by the Service Standards any fire fighting equipment vested in it under this section.
- (6) The Commissioner may, with the concurrence of the council in which fire fighting equipment is vested under this section, use any of the equipment not reasonably required by the council to deal with incidents in the area of the council to deal with incidents outside the area.

120 Consolidated fund of councils

- (1) Any of the following purposes are purposes to which the consolidated fund of a council may be applied under section 409 of the *Local Government Act 1993*:
 - (a) the purchase, distribution, maintenance and storage of fire fighting apparatus for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush and other fires,
 - (b) the organising of rural fire brigades and such matters as are relevant to doing so, including the establishment of fire stations and fire control centres.
 - (c) the establishment and maintenance of fire breaks.

35

New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

- (d) the removal or destruction of combustible matter,
- (e) the taking of measures generally for the prevention, mitigation or suppression of bush fires.
- (2) For the purposes of section 495 of the *Local Government Act* 1993, any work relating to the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush and other fires is work in respect of which a council may make a special rate.

5

10

15

121 Distribution of annual report

As soon as practicable after the annual report which includes the financial statement prepared in accordance with Division 3 of Part 3 of the *Public Finance and Audit Act 1983* relating to the Fund has been laid before both Houses of Parliament or transmitted to the Clerk of the Parliaments and the Clerk of the Legislative Assembly, the Minister is to furnish to each council and each insurance company contributing to the Fund a copy of the annual report.

Part 6 Rural Fire Service Advisory Counc	Part 6	Rural	Fire	Service	Advisorv	Counc
--	--------	-------	------	---------	----------	-------

Note. Part 6 establishes a Rural Fire Service Advisory Council and provides for its composition, functions and procedure.

122 Establishment of Rural Fire Service Advisory Council

There is established by this Act a Rural Fire Service Advisory Council.

5

123 Membership and procedure of Advisory Council

- (1) The Rural Fire Service Advisory Council is to consist of 9 members as follows:
 - (a) the Commissioner, who is to be the Chairperson of the Council,

10

- (b) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Insurance Council of Australia,
- (c) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Local Government Association of New South Wales,

15

- (d) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Shires Association of New South Wales.
- (e) 3 persons appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the NSW Rural Fire Service Association, 2 of whom are to be members of rural fire brigades and one of whom is to be a fire control officer,

20

- (f) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the NSW Farmers Association,
- (g) a person nominated by the Nature Conservation Council of New South Wales.

25

(2) Schedule 1 has effect with respect to the members and procedures of the Advisory Council.

124 Functions of the Advisory Council

(1) The Advisory Council has the following functions:

30

(a) to advise and report to the Minister and the Commissioner on any matter relating to the administration of rural fire services under this Act,

- (b) to advise the Commissioner on public education programs relating to rural fire matters and on training of rural fire fighters,
- (c) to advise the Commissioner on the issue of Service Standards,
- (d) such other functions as may be conferred or imposed on it by or under this or any other Act.
- (2) The Advisory Council may give advice and make reports whether or not the advice or reports were requested.

Part 7 Miscellaneous

125 Act binds Crown

This Act binds the Crown in right of New South Wales and, in so far as the legislative power of Parliament permits, the Crown in all its other capacities.

5

126 Councils and other bodies to furnish information to Commissioner and the Co-ordinating Committee

Any person or body on which a function is conferred by or under this Act must furnish such information (and in such form) relating to the exercise of that function or the administration of this Act as the Commissioner or Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may reasonably require.

10

15

Liability of persons in respect of loss or damage caused by 127 bush or other fires

Except as expressly provided in this Act, nothing in this Act and no conviction, payment of penalty or proceeding taken under this Act affects or prejudices any civil claim, action or proceeding in respect of any loss or damage caused by any bush or other fire to which this Act relates or for any trespass committed.

128 Protection from liability

20

A matter or thing done or omitted to be done by a protected person or body does not, if the matter or thing was done in good faith for the purpose of executing any provision (other than section 33) of this or any other Act, subject such person personally, or the Crown, to any action, liability, claim or demand.

25

(2)In this section:

protected person or body means the following:

- (a) the Minister,
- (b) the Commissioner and any person acting under the 30 authority of the Commissioner,

- any member of the Service, (c)
- (d) a member of the Advisory Council or Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee,

- (e) the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades, the commissioner constituting the Forestry Commission, the Director-General of National Parks and Wildlife and any person acting under the authority of those persons,
- (f) an interstate fire brigade acting in pursuance of section 43.

15

20

25

30

Note. See section 731 of the *Local Government Act 1993* in respect of protection from liability of councils, councillors and employees of councils.

129 Commissioner may be represented at inquiry

- (1) The Commissioner may, at any inquest or inquiry relating to the cause or origin of any fire, be represented by a person appointed by the Commissioner for the purpose.
- (2) The Commissioner's representative may adduce evidence, examine witnesses and address the court at the inquest or inquiry.

130 Giving of notices

Except as otherwise expressly provided by this Act, a notice or direction required by or under this Act to be served on a person may be served as provided by the regulations.

131 Penalty notices

- (1) An authorised officer may serve a penalty notice on a person if it appears to the officer that the person has committed an offence against this Act or the regulations, being an offence prescribed by the regulations.
- (2) A penalty notice is a notice to the effect that, if the person served does not wish to have the matter determined by a court, the person may pay, within the time and to the person specified in the notice, the penalty prescribed by the regulations for the offence if dealt with under this section.
- (3) A penalty notice may be served personally or by post.
- (4) If the amount of the penalty prescribed for an alleged offence is paid under this section, no person is liable to any further proceedings for the alleged offence.
- (5) Payment under this section is not an admission of liability for the purposes of, and does not affect or prejudice, any civil claim, action or proceeding arising out of, the same occurrence.

(6)

132

The regulations may:

	(a) prescribe an offence for the purposes of this section by specifying the offence by referring to the provision creating the offence, and	
	(b) prescribe the amount of penalty for an offence if dealt with under this section, and	5
	(c) prescribe different amounts of penalty for different offences or classes of offences.	
(7)	The amount of penalty prescribed under this section for an offence may not exceed the maximum amount of penalty which could be imposed for the offence by a court.	10
(8)	This section does not limit the operation of any other provision of, or made under, this or any other Act relating to proceedings which may be taken in respect of offences.	
(9)	In this section, <i>authorised officer</i> means, in relation to a particular offence, a person belonging to a class of persons specified in the regulations in relation to that offence.	15
Powe	rs of police officers	
(1)	A police officer who has reasonable grounds to suspect that a person is committing an offence against this Act or the	20

- regulations may direct the person:

 (a) to state the person's full name and residential address to
 - the police officer, or
 (b) to produce any permit, notice or other document by or
 - (b) to produce any permit, notice or other document by or under the authority of which the person claims that a fire has been lit.
- (2) A police officer may direct any person who has lit a fire in contravention of a provision of this Act or the regulations:
 - (a) to extinguish the fire, or
 - (b) if the fire is in the open air, to extinguish the fire before leaving the fire.
- (3) A person to whom a direction is given under this section must not fail to comply with the direction.

Maximum penalty: 5 penalty units.

25

Part 7

Miscellaneous

- (4) A person is not guilty of an offence under this section unless the police officer explained to the person, when giving the direction, that failure to comply with the direction is an offence.
- (5) In this section:

light a fire includes:

5

10

15

20

- (a) maintain or use a fire, and
- (b) cause a fire to be lit, maintained or used.

133 Powers affecting land near certain bush fires

- (1) An authorised officer of a fire fighting authority may enter land within the prescribed distance from the land for which the fire fighting authority is responsible and do all such things as are reasonably necessary to suppress, or prevent the spread of, a bush fire from the land to the land for which the fire fighting authority is responsible.
- (2) An authorised officer may take the action referred to in subsection (1) whether or not the authorised officer has been requested to assist in suppressing or preventing the spread of the fire by the officer in charge of the land. However, if the authorised officer takes such action any arrangements set out in any bush fire management plan applying to the land or agreed with the authority responsible for the land must be observed.
- (3) In this section:

prescribed distance from land for which a fire fighting authority is responsible means:

(a) 8 kilometres from the land, or

25

(b) if another distance is specified in a bush fire management plan applying to land in the vicinity of the land for which the fire fighting authority is responsible—the distance specified.

134 Proceedings for offences

30

(1) Proceedings for an offence against this Act or the regulations are to be disposed of summarily before a Local Court constituted by a Magistrate sitting alone.

(2)	sumr elect	9A of the <i>Criminal Procedure Act 1986</i> (which relates to the mary disposal of certain indictable offences unless an ion is made to proceed on indictment) applies to and in ect of an offence under section 100 (1).	
(3)	withi	eedings for such an offence may be commenced at any time in 2 years after the date on which the offence is alleged to been committed.	5
Regu	ulation	ns	
(1)	Act, or pe	Governor may make regulations, not inconsistent with this for or with respect to any matter that by this Act is required emitted to be prescribed or that is necessary or convenient to rescribed for carrying out or giving effect to this Act.	10
(2)		out limiting subsection (1), regulations may be made for or respect to:	
	(a)	the appointment of fire control officers, deputy fire control officers and acting fire control officers,	15
	(b)	appeals under this Act,	
	(c)	the issue of permits,	
	(d)	the establishment of fire breaks,	
	(e)	the use of fire in the open,	20
	(f)	the escape of sparks into the open,	
	(g)	the operation of internal combustion engines,	
	(h)	the storage of combustible materials,	
	(i)	the classification of substances as combustible,	
	(j)	the constitution, rules and functions of committees,	25
	(k)	the service of notices or directions given under this Act,	
	(1)	conduct and discipline of members of the Service,	
	(m)	the membership, officers, functions and operation of rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades.	

The regulations may create offences punishable by a penalty not exceeding 50 penalty units.

136 Repeal of Bush Fires Act 1949

(3)

The Bush Fires Act 1949 is repealed.

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 7

Miscellaneous

137 Savings and transitional provisions

Schedule 3 has effect.

138 Amendment of other laws

The Acts and statutory instruments specified in Schedule 4 are amended as set out in that Schedule.

5

139 Review of Act

- (1) The Minister is to review this Act to determine whether the policy objectives of the Act remain valid and whether the terms of the Act remain appropriate for securing those objectives.
- (2) The review is to be undertaken as soon as possible after the period of 5 years from the date of assent to this Act.
- (3) A report on the outcome of the review is to be tabled in each House of Parliament within 12 months after the end of the period of 5 years.

Schedule 1 Constitution and procedure of Advisory Council and Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

(Sections 47 and 123)

Part 1 General

5

1 Definitions

In this Schedule:

appointed member means a member of the Advisory Council or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee who is appointed by the Minister.

10

Chairperson means the Chairperson of the Advisory Council or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

member means any member of the Advisory Council or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

Part 2 Constitution

15

2 Terms of office of appointed members

Subject to this Schedule, an appointed member holds office for such period (not exceeding 5 years) as is specified in the member's instrument of appointment, but is eligible (if otherwise qualified) for re-appointment.

20

3 Remuneration

An appointed member is entitled to be paid such remuneration (including travelling and subsistence allowances) as the Minister may from time to time determine in respect of the member.

4 Deputies

25

A member (other than an appointed member) may, from time to time, appoint a person to be the member's deputy, and may revoke any such appointment.

Schedule 1	Constitution and procedure of Advisory Council and Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	
(2)	The Minister may, from time to time, appoint a person to be the deputy of an appointed member, and may revoke any such appointment.	
(3)	The deputy of a member appointed on the recommendation of a particular body, group or person is to be appointed on the recommendation of that body, group or person.	5
(4)	In the absence of a member, the member's deputy may, if available, act in the place of the member.	
(5)	While acting in the place of a member, a person:	
	(a) has all the functions of the member and is taken to be a member, and	10
	(b) is entitled to be paid such remuneration (including travelling and subsistence allowances) as the Minister may from time to time determine in respect of the person.	
(6)	For the purposes of this clause, a vacancy in the office of a member is taken to be an absence of the member.	15
(7)	This clause does not operate to confer on a deputy of a member who is the Chairperson the member's functions as Chairperson.	
5 Vaca	ncy in office of member	
(1)	The office of a member becomes vacant if the member:	20
	(a) dies, or	
	(b) completes a term of office and is not re-appointed, or	
	(c) resigns the office by instrument in writing addressed to the Minister, or	
	(d) is removed from office by the Minister under this clause or by the Governor under Part 8 of the <i>Public Sector Management Act 1988</i> , or	25
	(e) is absent from 3 consecutive meetings of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee of which reasonable notice has been given to the member personally or by post, except on leave granted by the Chairperson or unless the member is excused by the Chairperson for having been absent from those meetings, or	30

		(f) becomes bankrupt, applies to take the benefit of any law for the relief of bankrupt or insolvent debtors, compounds with his or her creditors or makes an assignment of his or her remuneration for their benefit, or	
		(g) becomes a mentally incapacitated person, or	5
		(h) is convicted in New South Wales of an offence that is punishable by penal servitude or imprisonment for 12 months or more or is convicted elsewhere than in New South Wales of an offence that, if committed in New South Wales, would be an offence so punishable.	10
	(2)	The Minister may at any time remove an appointed member from office.	
6	Fillin	of vacancy in office of appointed member	
		If the office of any appointed member becomes vacant, a person is, subject to this Act, to be appointed to fill the vacancy.	15
7	Chair	person	
	(1)	The Chairperson vacates office as Chairperson if:	
		(a) he or she is removed from office by the Minister under this clause, or	
		(b) ceases to be a member.	20
	(2)	The Minister may at any time remove the Chairperson from office as Chairperson.	
В	Discl	sure of pecuniary interests	
	(1)	If:	
		(a) a member has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a matter being considered or about to be considered at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee, and	:5
		(b) the interest appears to raise a conflict with the proper performance of the member's duties in relation to the consideration of the matter,	0

the member must, as soon as possible after the relevant facts have come to the member's knowledge, disclose the nature of the interest at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

- (2) A disclosure by a member at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee that the member:
 - (a) is a member, or is in the employment, of a specified company or other body, or
 - (b) is a partner, or is in the employment, of a specified person, or

5

10

15

20

25

(c) has some other specified interest relating to a specified company or other body or to a specified person,

is a sufficient disclosure of the nature of the interest in any matter relating to that company or other body or to that person which may arise after the date of the disclosure and which is required to be disclosed under subclause (1).

- (3) Particulars of any disclosure made under this clause must be recorded by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee in a book kept for the purpose and that book must be open at all reasonable hours for inspection by any person on payment of the fee determined by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (4) After a member has disclosed the nature of an interest in any matter, the member must not, unless the Minister or the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee otherwise determines:
 - (a) be present during any deliberation of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee with respect to the matter, or
 - (b) take part in any decision of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee with respect to the matter.
- (5) For the purposes of the making of a determination by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee under subclause (4), a member who has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a matter to which the disclosure relates must not:

(6)

(a) be present during any deliberation of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee for the purpose of making the determination, or
(b) take part in the making by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee of the determination.
A contravention of this clause does not invalidate any decision of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

9 Effect of certain other Acts

(1) Part 2 of the *Public Sector Management Act 1988* does not apply to or in respect of the appointment of a member.

10

5

- (2) If by or under any Act provision is made:
 - (a) requiring a person who is the holder of a specified office to devote the whole of his or her time to the duties of that office, or
 - (b) prohibiting the person from engaging in employment outside the duties of that office,

15

the provision does not operate to disqualify the person from holding that office and also the office of a member or from accepting and retaining any remuneration payable to the person under this Act as a member.

20

(3) The office of a member is not, for the purposes of any Act, an office or place of profit under the Crown.

Part 3 Procedure

10 General procedure

The procedure for the calling of meetings of the Advisory Council and the Co-ordinating Committee and for the conduct of business at those meetings is, subject to this Act and the regulations, to be as determined by the Chairperson.

25

11 Validity of certain acts or proceedings

Any act or proceeding of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee is, even though at the time when the act or proceeding was done, taken or commenced there was:

- (a) a vacancy in the office of a member of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee, or
- (b) any defect in the appointment, or any disqualification of a member of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee,

15

20

25

as valid as if the vacancy, defect or disqualification did not exist and the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee were fully and properly constituted.

12 Quorum

- (1) The quorum for a meeting of the Advisory Council is 5 10 members.
- (2) The quorum for a meeting of the Co-ordinating Committee is 7 members.

13 Presiding member

- (1) The Chairperson (or, in the absence of the Chairperson, another member elected to chair the meeting by the members present) is to preside at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (2) The presiding member has a deliberative vote and, in the event of an equality of votes, has a second or casting vote.

14 Voting

A decision supported by a majority of the votes cast at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee at which a quorum is present is the decision of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

15 Subcommittees

- (1) The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may establish subcommittees to assist the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee in the exercise of its functions.
- (2) At least one of the members of a subcommittee must be a member of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee but it does not matter if none of the other members of a subcommittee is a member of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

thinks fit.

	(3)	The procedures for calling meetings of a subcommittee and for the conduct of those meetings are to be determined by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee (or, subject to any determination by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee) by the subcommittee. The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may delegate to a subcommittee any of the functions of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee, other than this power of delegation.	5
16	Trans	action of business outside meetings or by telephone	10
	(1)	The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may, if it thinks fit, transact any of its business by the circulation of papers among all the members of the Council or Committee for the time being, and a resolution in writing approved in writing by a majority of those members is taken to be a decision of the	15
		Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.	
	(2)	The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may, if it thinks fit, transact any of its business at a meeting at which members (or some members) participate by telephone, closed-circuit television or other means, but only if any member who speaks on a matter before the meeting can be heard by the other members.	20
	(3)	For the purposes of:	
		(a) the approval of a resolution under subclause (1), or (b) a meeting held in accordance with subclause (2), the Chairperson and each member have the same voting rights as	25
		they have at an ordinary meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.	
	(4)	A resolution approved under subclause (1) is, subject to the regulations, to be recorded in the minutes of the meetings of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.	30
	(5)	Papers may be circulated among the members for the purposes of subclause (1) by facsimile or other transmission of the information in the papers concerned.	
17	First	meeting	35
		The Minister may call the first meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee in such manner as the Minister	

Schedule 2 Contributions of insurance companies

(Section 112)

	Column 1	Column 2
	Classes of policies of insurance	Amount of premiums subject to contribution
(1)	Any insurance of property and including consequential loss but not including any insurance of a class specified in items (2)–(8)	80%
(2)	Houseowners and householders, however designated (buildings or contents or both)	50%
(3)	Personal combined on personal jewellery and clothing, personal effects and works of art	10%
(4)	Motor vehicle and motor cycle	2.5%
(5)	Marine and baggage—any insurance confined to maritime perils or confined to risks involving transportation on land or in the air, and including storage incidental to the transportation by sea, land or air, but not including other Static Risks which are to be declared under item (1)	1%
	Note. Static Risks includes all movements of goods and/or stock and/or material associated with processing or storage operations at any situation.	
6)	(a) Combined fire and hail on growing crops	1%
	(b) Livestock	1%
7)	Aviation hull	Nil
8)	Any insurance solely covering:	
	(a) Loss by theft	Nil
	(b) Plate glass	Nil
	(c) Machinery—confined to mechanical breakdown and/or consequential loss arising from mechanical breakdown	Nil
	(d) Explosion or collapse of boiler and pressure vessels—confined to damage other than by fire	Nil

Schedule 3 Savings and transitional provisions

(Section 137)

Part 1 General

Regulations

- (1) The regulations may contain provisions of a savings or transitional nature consequent on the enactment of this Act.
- (2)Any such provision may, if the regulations so provide, take effect from the date of assent to this Act or a later day.
- (3)To the extent to which any such provision takes effect from a date that is earlier than the date of its publication in the Gazette. the provision does not operate so as:
 - to affect, in a manner prejudicial to any person (other than the State or an authority of the State), the rights of that person existing before the date of its publication, or
 - (b) to impose liabilities on any person (other than the State or 15 an authority of the State) in respect of anything done or omitted to be done before the date of its publication.

Part 2 Provisions consequent on this Act

2 Commissioner and other public service staff

The repeal of the Bush Fires Act 1949 does not affect the appointment of the person holding office as the Commissioner of Bush Fire Services at the time of the repeal or of any other staff under the Public Sector Management Act 1988.

Dissolution of Bush Fire Council, Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee and Finance Committee

(1)In this clause:

replaced body means:

the Bush Fire Council, or

Page 81

20

5

10

		(b) the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, or	
		(c) the Finance Committee,	
		within the meaning of the Bush Fires Act 1949, as in force immediately before the commencement of this clause.	
	(2)	On the commencement of this clause each replaced body is dissolved.	5
	(3)	A person who, immediately before the commencement of this clause held office as a member of a replaced body:	
		(a) ceases to hold that office, and	
		(b) is not entitled to any remuneration or compensation because of that loss of office,	10
		but is entitled (if otherwise eligible) to hold the office on a replacing body.	
4	Fire o	control officer	
		A person holding office as a fire control officer or deputy fire control officer for a bush fire district under the <i>Bush Fires Act</i> 1949 immediately before the commencement of section 34 is taken to have been appointed as the fire control officer or deputy fire control officer for that district as constituted as a rural fire district under this Act.	20
5	Bush	fire brigades	
	(1)	A bush fire brigade formed or organised for a bush fire district under the <i>Bush Fires Act 1949</i> immediately before the commencement of section 15 is taken to be the rural fire brigade for the district as constituted as a rural fire district under this Act.	25
	(2)	A member or officer of a bush fire brigade formed or organised for a bush fire district under the <i>Bush Fires Act 1949</i> immediately before the commencement of section 15 is taken to be a member or officer of the rural fire brigade for the district as constituted as a rural fire district under this Act.	30
6	Nome	enclature	
		Despite clause 7, a bush fire brigade that by the operation of that clause is taken to be a rural fire brigade may resolve that it continue to be known as the "X bush fire brigade", X being the name of the rural fire brigade.	35

7 Reference to bodies

On and from the commencement of the relevant provision of this Act, a reference (however expressed) in any other Act (whether assented to before, on or after the commencement of this clause) or in any other instrument:

_

- (a) to a bush fire district is to be read as a reference to a rural fire district under this Act.
- (b) to a fire control officer for a bush fire district is to be read as a reference to a fire control officer for a rural fire district under this Act.

10

- (c) to a bush fire brigade is to be read as a reference to a rural fire brigade under this Act,
- (d) to a group of bush fire brigades is to be read as a reference to a group of rural fire brigades under this Act,
- (e) to the New South Wales Bush Fire Fighting Fund is to be read as a reference to the New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund,

15

(f) to a Bush Fire Management Committee within the meaning of the *Bush Fires Act 1949* is to be read as a reference to a Bush Fire Management Committee constituted under Part 3.

20

(g) to a plan of operations or fuel management plan approved under section 41A of the *Bush Fires Act 1949* is to be read as a reference to a plan of operations or bush fire risk management plan, respectively, within the meaning of this Act.

25

8 Bush fire management plans

A plan of operations or fuel management plan prepared and submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee by a Bush Fire Management Committee within the meaning of the Bush Fires Act 1949 is taken, until the day that is 2 years after the day it was approved under section 41A of that Act or unless it is sooner revoked, to be a plan of operations or bush fire risk management plan, respectively, that is in force under this Act.

9 Transfer of assets of Fire Prevention Associations

		-		
(1)	In	thic	lause:

assets means any legal or equitable estate or interest (whether present or future and whether vested or contingent) in real or personal property of any description (including money), and includes choses in action and documents.

5

Association means Fire Prevention Association within the meaning of the Bush Fires Act 1949.

liabilities means all liabilities, debts and obligations (whether present or future and whether vested or contingent).

10

- (2) On the commencement of this clause:
 - (a) the assets and liabilities of an Association become assets and liabilities of the Crown, and
 - (b) all proceedings by or against an Association pending immediately before that day become proceedings pending by or against the Crown.

15

10 Certain fire control officers who are councillors to cease to hold office

(1) A fire control officer or a deputy fire control officer who, immediately before the commencement of section 36 is a councillor, ceases to be such an officer on a date that is 3 months after that commencement unless the officer otherwise vacates his or her office before that date.

20

(2) Any such fire control officer or a deputy fire control officer does not, by virtue of holding that office, hold an office or place of profit for the purposes of section 275 (2) of the *Local Government Act 1993*.

25

(3) In this clause:

councillor has the same meaning as it has in the Local Government Act 1993.

30

11 Fire patrol officers

A person who, immediately before the commencement of this clause, held office as a fire patrol officer, or honorary fire patrol officer, under the *Bush Fires Act 1949*:

(a) ceases to hold that office, and

35

(b) is not entitled to any remuneration or compensation because of that loss of office.

Schedule 4 Amendment of other laws

(Section 138)

4.1 Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust Regulation 1993

Clause 13 Damage to Trust lands, vegetation etc

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from clause 13 (j) (i). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

5

4.2 Clean Air (Control of Burning) Regulation 1995

Clause 4

Omit the clause. Insert instead:

4 Bush fire hazard reduction

10

This Regulation does not limit or affect any right or obligation to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work under the *Rural Fires Act 1997* that, in the opinion of the authority authorised to carry out the work, or local authority requiring the work to be carried out, is reasonably necessary for the protection of life, property or the environment.

15

4.3 Coroners Act 1980 No 27

Section 15 Inquiries into fires and explosions

Omit section 15 (3) (b). Insert instead:

20

(b) in the case of a bush fire within the meaning of the *Rural Fires Act 1997* by the Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service, or

4.4	Criminal	Procedure	Act 1986	No	209

[1] Section 33K Maximum penalties for Table 2 offences

Insert at the end of section 33K (2):

(i) for an offence under section 100 (1) of the *Rural* Fires Act 1997—imprisonment for 2 years, or a fine of 100 penalty units, or both.

[2] Part 9A, Table 2 Indictable offences that are to be dealt with summarily unless prosecuting authority elects otherwise

Insert after Part 4:

Part 5 Offences relating to fires

9 Rural Fires Act 1997

An offence under section 100 (1) of the Rural Fires Act 1997.

4.5 Crown Lands (General Reserves) By-law 1995

Clause 23 Regulation of conduct within reserve

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from clause 23 (2) (1) (i). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.6 Dangerous Goods Regulation 1978

Clause 16 Prescription of dangerous goods

Insert after clause 16 (e):

(f) any matches other than those so made as to strike only on a preparation attached to the containing box or a box containing the same description of matches.

Page 86

5

10

15

15

4.7 Driving Instructors Regulation 1993

[1] Clause 4 Certain persons are not driving instructors (section 4 (3))

Omit "Bush Fire Services" from clause 4 (2). Insert instead "Rural Fire Service".

5

[2] Clause 4 (3)

Omit "bush fire brigades". Insert instead "rural fire brigades".

[3] Section 4 (3)

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

10

4.8 Environmental Offences and Penalties Act 1989 No 150

Section 27A Exemptions for Fire Brigades, rural fire brigades and other emergency services

Omit "bush fire brigade". Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

4.9 Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 1994

15

Clause 65 What additional matters must a consent authority take into consideration in determining a development application?

Omit "Bush Fire Services" from paragraph (e). Insert instead "Rural Fire Service".

			_			
4.10	Fire	Brigades	Act	1989	No	192

[1	11	Section	3	Defir	itione
		Section	J	Delli	แนงแร

Omit "bush fire brigade" from the definitions of *fire brigade* and *volunteer fire brigade* in section 3 (1).

Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

5

[2] Section 13 General powers of officers at fires and hazardous material incidents

Omit "section 41A of the *Bush Fires Act 1949*" from section 13 (2). Insert instead "section 52 of the *Rural Fires Act 1997*".

[3] Section 80 Information to policy holders

10

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 80 (2) (b). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.11 Forestry Act 1916 No 55

Section 11 Powers and duties of the commission

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 11 (1) (i). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

15

4.12 Freedom of Information (General) Regulation 1995

Schedule 3 Public Authorities

Omit the matter relating to the Bush Fire Council from Part 3. Insert instead:

20

Rural Fire Service Advisory Council NSW Rural Fire Service

4.13 Land and Environment Court Act 1979 No 204

Section 20 Class 4 environmental planning and protection and development contract civil enforcement

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949;" from section 20 (3) (a). Insert in alphabetical order of Acts "Rural Fires Act 1997,".

5

4.14 Local Government Act 1993 No 30

[1] Section 22 Other functions

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" and "Bush Fire Council" from the note to section 22.

Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997" and "Rural Fire Service Advisory Council" respectively.

10

[2] Section 428 Annual reports

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 428 (2) (i1). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.15 Lord Howe Island Act 1953 No 39

15

Section 11 General functions of the Board

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949 as amended by subsequent Acts" from section 11 (4) (b).

Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.16 Motor Traffic Regulations 1935

20

Regulation 34 Other exemptions from registration, licensing etc

Omit "bush fire brigade" from Regulation 34 (1) (a1). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

0 1 1 1			- 41	1
Schedule 4	Amendment	ΟĪ	otner	laws

4.17	Motor Vehicles Taxation Act 1988 No 111	
	Section 16 Vehicles totally exempt from tax (cf Act No 34 of 1949, s 7)	
	Omit "bush fire brigade" from section 16 (1) (e). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".	5
4.18	National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 No 80	
[1]	Sections 91AA (3) (b), 118A (3) (c), 118C (5) (c) and 118D (2) (c)	
	Omit "the Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Part 2 of the Rural Fires Act 1997".	
[2]	Sections 99 (3) (a) and 112G (4) (a)	10
	Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".	
4.19	Occupational Health and Safety (Hazardous Substances) Regulation 1996	
	Dictionary	15
	Omit paragraphs (c) and (h) of the definition of <i>emergency service</i> . Insert instead:	
	(c) a rural fire brigade,	
	(h) the Rural Fire Service.	
4.20	Pay-roll Tax Act 1971 No 22	20
	Section 10 Exemption from pay-roll tax	
	Omit "bush fire brigade under the Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 10 (1) (0). Insert instead "rural fire brigade under the Rural Fires Act 1997".	

4.21	Public	Finance	and	Audit	Act	1983	No	152
------	--------	----------------	-----	-------	-----	------	----	-----

Schedule 3 Departments

Omit the matter relating to the Department of Bush Fire Services. Insert in alphabetical order of Departments:

Department of Rural Fire Service

Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service

5

4.22 Public Sector Management Act 1988 No 33

[1] Schedule 1 Departments

Omit the matter relating to the Department of Bush Fire Services. Insert in alphabetical order of Departments:

10

Department of Rural Fire Service

Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service

[2] Schedule 3B Senior executive positions

Omit the matter relating to the Department of Bush Fire Services from Part 1.

15

Insert in alphabetical order of Departments:

Department of Rural Fire Service

Senior Assistant Commissioner

Executive Director, Corporate Services

20

Director, Office for Emergency Services

4.23 Soil Conservation Act 1938 No 10

Section 21D Authority to destroy timber on protected land

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 21D (3) (f). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.24	State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 19	89
	No 165	

[1] Section 3 Definitions

Omit "Bush Fire Brigades" from the definition of *emergency* services organisation in section 3 (1). Insert instead "Rural Fire Brigades".

[2] Section 32A Definitions

Omit "bush fire brigade" from the definition of *emergency services* officer in section 32A.

Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

10

15

[3] Section 43 Composition of Board

Omit "Commissioner of Bush Fire Services" from section 43 (1) (e). Insert instead "Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service".

4.25 State Environmental Planning Policy No 4— Development Without Consent

[1] Clause 6 Subdivision

Omit "bush fire brigade" from clause 6 (1) (f). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

[2] Clause 11D Bush fire hazard reduction

Omit "plan of operations, within the meaning of section 41A of the Bush Fires Act 1949," from clause 11D (2) (a).

Insert instead "bush fire management plan referred to in section 52 of the Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.26	State Environmental	Planning	Policy No	46—Protection
	and Management of	Native Ve	egetation	

Schedule 3 Exemptions

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from paragraph (f). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

5

4.27 Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995 No 101

Sections 71 (3), 88 (3) and 114 (3) (b)

Omit "the Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Part 2 of the Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.28 Western Lands Regulation 1992

10

Clause 28 Exemptions from the requirement to obtain a clearing licence (s 18DB (4) (c))

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from clause 28 (9). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.29 Workers Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Act 1987 No 83

15

[1] Section 5 Definitions (cf former s 17B (1))

Omit "bush fire brigade" and "bush fire brigades" wherever occurring (except in the definition of *bush fire brigade*).

Insert instead "rural fire brigade" and "rural fire brigades" respectively.

20

[2] Section 5, definition of "bush fire brigade"

Omit the definition. Insert instead in alphabetical order:

rural fire brigade means any rural fire brigade formed under the Rural Fires Act 1997.

[3]	Section 8 Associated operation or work (cf definition of "injury" in former s 17B (1))	
	Omit "bush fire brigade" wherever occurring. Insert instead "rural fire brigade".	
[4]	Section 18 Exclusion from Part—fire districts (cf former s 17A (1))	5
	Omit "bush fire brigade" wherever occurring in section 18 (2). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".	
[5]	Section 20 Assessment and payment of contributions to Fund (cf former s 17G)	
	Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring from section 20 (3)–(6). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".	10
[6]	Section 20 (4)	
	Omit "New South Wales Bush Fire Fighting Fund". Insert instead "New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund".	15
4.30	Workers Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Regulation 1995	

[2] Clause 9 Associated operation or work fund-raising activities

Omit "bush fire brigade". Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from the definition of fire control

20

[1]

Clause 3 Definitions

Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

officer.

5

10

15

20

30

Dictionary

In this Act:

Advisory Council means the Rural Fire Service Advisory Council.

approved form means a form approved for the time being by the Minister.

area of a local authority means the area in relation to which the local authority exercises its functions.

authorised officer of a fire fighting authority or other authority means an officer of, or person authorised to exercise functions, conferred on authorised officers under this Act by, a fire fighting authority or other authority.

brigade member means a person shown on the register of a rural fire brigade as a member of the brigade.

bush fire includes a grass fire.

bush fire danger period means a period fixed by or under section 81 or 82 as a bush fire danger period.

bush fire hazard reduction notice means a notice under section 66.

bush fire hazard reduction work means:

- (a) the establishment or maintenance of fire breaks on land, and
- (b) the controlled application of appropriate fire regimes or other means for the reduction or modification of available fuels within a predetermined area to mitigate against the spread of a bush fire but does not include construction of a track, trail or road.

bush fire management plan means a plan of operations or a bush fire risk management plan.

bush fire risk management plan means a plan prepared under Division 4 of 25 Part 3 for the purpose referred to in section 54.

combat agency see section 4.

combustible matter means:

- (a) any matter or substance capable of ignition by the application of heat, fire, flame or sparks or spontaneously, and
- (b) any matter or substance prescribed by the regulations as combustible matter for the purposes of this definition.

Page 95

Commissioner means the Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service.	
Co-ordinating Committee means the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.	
council means a council or county council within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1993.	
Crown land has the same meaning as in the Crown Lands Act 1989.	5
Note. Crown land, as defined in the <i>Crown Lands Act 1989</i> , means land that is vested in the Crown or was acquired under the Closer Settlement Acts as in force before their repeal, not in either case being: (a) land dedicated for a public purpose, or	
(b) land that has been sold or lawfully contracted to be sold and in respect of which the purchase price or other consideration for the sale has been received by the Crown.	10
Displan see section 4.	
emergency see section 4.	
emergency services organisation see section 4.	15
exercise of a function includes the performance of a duty.	
financial year means the period from 1 July to the following 30 June.	
fire brigade means a fire brigade within the meaning of the Fire Brigades Act 1989.	
fire control officer means a fire control officer appointed under this Act.	20
fire district means land within a fire district constituted under the Fire Brigades Act 1989.	
fire fighting apparatus includes all vehicles, equipment and other things used for or in connection with the prevention or suppression of fire or the protection of life or property in case of fire.	25
fire fighting authority means the following:	
(a) the Service,	
(b) New South Wales Fire Brigades,	
(c) the National Parks and Wildlife Service,	
(d) the Forestry Commission,	30
(e) any other body prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this definition.	

(e)

5

15

fire permit means a permit issued under section 89.

Forestry Commission means the Forestry Commission of New South Wales.

function includes a power, authority or duty.

Fund means the New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund.

group of rural fire brigades means two or more rural fire brigades that comprise a group of rural fire brigades formed under section 15.

insurance company see section 101.

light a fire see section 85.

local authority means:

- (a) in relation to land that is situated within an area within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1993—the council of the area, or
- (b) in relation to land within the Western Division—the Western Lands Commissioner, or
- (c) in relation to Lord Howe Island—the Lord Howe Island Board.

managed land means land that is:

- (a) dedicated or reserved, or acquired for the purpose of dedication or reservation, under the *Forestry Act 1916*, or in respect of which the Forestry Commission has obtained the benefit of a forestry right as referred to in section 11 (1) (m) (iia) of that Act, or
- (b) dedicated or reserved, or acquired for the purpose of dedication or reservation, under the *National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974*, or
- (c) vested in, or under the control of, the State Rail Authority or Rail Access Corporation, or
- (d) land within the catchment area of a water authority, or
- (e) other land prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this 25 definition.

Management Committee means a Bush Fire Management Committee constituted under Part 3.

members of the Service means the persons comprising the NSW Rural Fire Service.

occupier of land means:

- (a) the person who has the management or beneficial use of the land (whether resident on the land or not), or
- (b) if the land is a public reserve or park—the trustees or any person having the care, control and management of the land.

officer of a rural fire brigade (or group of rural fire brigades) means the holder of a rank designated as the position of an officer by the Commissioner under section 12.

10

5

officer in charge at a fire at which a rural fire brigade is present for the purpose of mitigating or suppressing the fire means:

- (a) the Commissioner, or
- (b) if the Commissioner is absent, the person for the time being in charge of the members of the rural fire brigade present at that fire.

15

owner of land:

- (a) in relation to Crown land, means the Crown and includes:
 - (i) a lessee of land from the Crown, and
 - (ii) a person to whom the Crown has lawfully contracted to sell the land but in respect of which the purchase price or other consideration for the sale has not been received by the Crown, and

20

- (b) in relation to land other than Crown land, includes:
 - (i) every person who jointly or severally, whether at law or in equity, is entitled to the land for any estate of freehold in possession, and

25

(ii) every such person who is entitled to receive, or is in receipt of, or if the land were let to a tenant would be entitled to receive, the rents and profits of the land, whether as beneficial owner, trustee, mortgagee in possession, or otherwise, and

	(111)	the Strata Titles Act 1973 or a leasehold strata scheme under the Strata Titles (Leasehold) Act 1986, the body corporate under that scheme, and	
	(iv)	in the case of land that is a community, precinct or neighbourhood parcel within the meaning of the <i>Community</i> Land Development Act 1989, the association for the parcel, and	5
	(v)	every person who by this Act is taken to be the owner, and	
(c)	in rel 1992,	ation to land subject to a mining lease under the <i>Mining Act</i> the holder of the lease.	10
		rations means a plan prepared under Division 4 of Part 3 for the ferred to in section 53.	
and a	ny land	cludes any building of any description or any part of a building d whether built on or not but does not include any building on, or g part of, managed lands.	15
publi	auth	ority means:	
(a)		ublic or local authority constituted by or under an Act other than Act, or	
(b)	any C	Sovernment Department, or	
(c)	a stat	utory body representing the Crown, or	20
(d)	a Stat	te owned corporation, or	
(e)	any p	erson prescribed by the regulations as a public authority.	
rural	fire b	rigade means a rural fire brigade formed under Part 2.	
rural	fire di	strict means a rural fire district within the meaning of Part 1.	
rural	fire s	ervices see section 9 (4).	25
Servio	e mea	ans the NSW Rural Fire Service established under Part 2.	
		adards means the policy statements issued by the Commissioner on 13 as in force from time to time.	
		a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades means the the brigade or group as determined under section 19.	30

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Dictionary

tree includes bush, shrub, scrub, timber, grass or vegetative or other material.

unoccupied Crown land means Crown land that is not:

- (a) held under lease or licence, or
- (b) vested in, or under the control of, trustees.

vehicle means any means of transport whether self-propelled or not, and whether used on land or water or in the air.

Western Division means the Western Division established under the Crown Lands Act 1989.



Rural Fires Bill 1997

Contents

		Page
Part 1	Preliminary	
	1 Name of Act	2
	2 Commencement	2
	3 Objects of Act	2
	4 Definitions	2
	5 Notes	3
	6 Rural fire districts	3
	7 Responsible local authorities in rural fire districts	4
Part 2	NSW Rural Fire Service	
	Division 1 The Service	
	8 NSW Rural Fire Service	5
	9 Functions of Service	5

		Page
Divis	sion 2 The Commissioner and other staff of Service	
10	The Commissioner and other staff	6
11	Ministerial control	7
12	Functions of Commissioner	7
13	Service Standards	8
14	Delegation by Commissioner	8
Divis	sion 3 Rural fire brigades	
15	Formation of rural fire brigades	8
16	Formation of groups of rural fire brigades	9
17	Disbandment of rural fire brigades	9
18	Area of operations and officers of rural fire brigades	10
19	Area of operations and officers of groups of rural file	
	brigades	10
20	Members of rural fire brigades	10
21	Functions of officers of rural fire brigades	10
22	General powers of rural fire brigade officers	11
23	Power to enter premises	11
24	Closure of streets and public places	11
25	Making premises safe	12
26	Use of water and works	12
27	Permission of State Rail Authority or Rail Access Corporation required	12
28	Damage to property	13
29	Notice of entry	13
30	Care to be taken	13
31	Use of force	13
32	Authority to enter premises	14
33	Voluntary work by rural fire brigade	14
Divis	sion 4 Fire control officers	
34	Appointment of fire control officer and deputies	15
35	Acting fire control officer	16
36	Councillors not to be appointed as fire control	
	officers, deputy fire control officers or acting fire	
07	control officers	16
37	Responsibility of fire control officer and local authori	•
38	Functions of fire control officer	17

			Page
	Divis	sion 5 Command structure	
	39	Commissioner may authorise officers and member rural fire brigades to exercise functions	rs of 18
	40	Officer in charge may authorise others to exercise functions	e 18
	41	Duty to recognise authority of officers	19
	42	Obstruction etc of Commissioner and other memb of Service	ers 19
	43	Interstate assistance at fires	19
Part 3	Co-d	ordinated bush fire fighting	
	Divis	sion 1 Co-ordination of bush fire fighting by Commissioner	
	44	Commissioner's responsibility	21
	45	Power to give directions etc	22
	Divis	sion 2 Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	
	46	Constitution of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	23
	47	Membership and procedure of Bush Fire	
		Co-ordinating Committee	23
	48	Functions of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	24
	49	Delegation	25
	Divis	sion 3 Bush Fire Management Committees	
	50	Bush Fire Management Committees	25
	51	Functions of Bush Fire Management Committees	25
	Divis	sion 4 Preparation of draft bush fire managem plans	ent
	52	Bush Fire Management Committees to prepare pla	ans 26
	53	Content of draft plan of operations	26
	54	Content of draft bush fire risk management plan	27
	55	General content	27
	56	Failure of Management Committee	28

			Page
	Divis	ion 5 Public participation in preparation of plans	
	57	Public notice of draft bush fire risk management plans	28
	58	Adoption of bush fire risk management plans	28
	59 60	Adoption of bush fire plans of operation Co-ordination of planning by bush fire management	29
	00	plans	30
	61	Amendment, revocation and cessation of bush fire management plans	31
	62	Public availability of bush fire management plans and	31
		draft bush fire management plans	31
Part 4	Busl	h fire prevention	
	.		
	Divis	, in province and in the	
	63	Duties of public authorities and owners and occupiers of land to prevent bush fires	32
	64	Occupiers to extinguish fires or notify fire fighting authorities	33
	Divis	ion 2 Bush fire hazard reduction	
	65	Reduction of fire hazards on unoccupied Crown land and managed land	20
	66	Bush fire hazard reduction work required by local	33
		authorities	34
	67	Objection to notices	35
	68 69	Appeal against notices Duties of local authority	36 37
	70	Bush fire hazard reduction work in default of	37
	70	compliance with notice	38
	71	Defence to court proceedings	39
	72	Certain damage to property caused by bush fire hazard reduction work covered by fire insurance	39
	73	Bush fire hazard reduction by the Commissioner	39
	74	Local authority to review incidence of bush fire hazards	40

		Page
Divis	ion 3 Damage by fire to dividing fences and other matters	
75	Definitions	40
76	Notices to repair or restore dividing fences	41
77	Recovery of costs	42
78	Jurisdiction of Local Court	42
79	Entry to land to extinguish fire	42
80	Entry to certain land to establish fire breaks	42
Divis	ion 4 Bush fire danger period	
81	General bush fire danger period	43
82	Local bush fire danger period	43
83	Concurrence required before local bush fire danger	
	period declaration made	44
84	Notice of bush fire danger period	44
Divis	ion 5 Permits and notice requirements	
85	Definitions	44
86	Notice required before certain fires lit	45
87	Lighting fires for land clearance or fire breaks in bush fire danger period	45
88	Lighting fires that are dangerous to buildings in fire districts	45
89	Issue of permits	46
90	Duration of permits	46
91	Cancellation or suspension of permits	46
92	Conditions of permit	47
93	Refusal to issue fire permit	47
94	Notice to be given of issue of fire permit	47
95	Permit not required for fires lit by public authorities	48
96	Appropriate authorities not determining authorities	48
97	Reporting requirements	48
98	Issue of permit does not affect duty to prevent bush fires	49
Divis	ion 6 Total fire bans	
99	Lighting of fires prohibited in certain circumstances	49
Divis	ion 7 Lighting fires without authority	
100	Offences	50

		Page
Part 5	New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund	
	Division 1 Preliminary	
	101 Definitions	52
	Division 2 The Fund	
	102 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund	52
	Division 3 Estimates of Fund expenditure and contributions	
	103 Estimate to be prepared by Minister	53
	104 Councils etc to furnish information to Minister	54
	105 Times for instalment payments	54
	106 Contributions due and payable within 60 days of assessment	54
	107 Deficits and excesses in contributions	55
	Division 4 Contributions by Treasurer	
	108 Contributions by Treasurer	55
	Division 5 Contributions by local government areas	
	109 Contributions required from councils	55
	110 Determination of contributions of councils	56
	Division 6 Contributions by insurance companies	
	111 Contributions required from insurance companies	56
	112 Advance payment by insurance companies	57
	113 Definition of "total amount of the premiums"	57
	114 Adjustments	58
	115 Liability of owner where foreign insurer involved	59
	116 Returns by insurance companies117 Audit of accounts of insurance companies	60 61
	Division 7 Miscellaneous	
	118 Application of the Fund	62
	119 Maintenance and disposal of fire fighting equipment purchased from Fund	62
	120 Consolidated fund of councils	63
	121 Distribution of annual report	64

Contents

			Page
Part 6	Rura	al Fire Service Advisory Council	
	122	Establishment of Rural Fire Service Advisory Council	65
	123	Membership and procedure of Advisory Council	65
	124	Functions of the Advisory Council	65
Part 7	Misc	cellaneous	
	125	Act binds Crown	67
	126	Councils and other bodies to furnish information to Commissioner and the Co-ordinating Committee	67
	127	Liability of persons in respect of loss or damage caused by bush or other fires	67
	128	Protection from liability	67
	129	Commissioner may be represented at inquiry	68
	130	Giving of notices	68
	131	Penalty notices	68
	132	Powers of police officers	69
	133	Powers affecting land near certain bush fires	70
	134	Proceedings for offences	70
	135	Regulations	71
	136	Repeal of Bush Fires Act 1949	71
	137	Savings and transitional provisions	72
	138	Amendment of other laws	72
	139	Review of Act	72
Schedu	les		
	1	Constitution and procedure of Advisory Council and	
		Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	73
	2	Contributions of insurance companies	80
	3	Savings and transitional provisions	81
	4	Amendment of other laws	85
Dictiona	ary		95

	•
	-
	,
	-
	•

This Public Bill, originated in the Legislative Assembly and, having this day passed, is now ready for presentation to the Legislative Council for its concurrence.

Clerk of the Legislative Assembly. Legislative Assembly



Rural Fires Bill 1997

Act No , 1997

An Act to establish the NSW Rural Fire Service and define its functions; to make provision for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of rural fires; to repeal the *Bush Fires Act 1949*; to amend certain other Acts; and for other purposes.

Part 1

Preliminary

The Legislature of New South Wales enacts:

Part 1 Preliminary

Note. This Part contains provisions that are helpful in understanding the Act as a whole, as well as some machinery provisions. It also provides for the constitution of all those parts of the State that are not within fire districts (within the meaning of the *Fire Brigades Act 1989*) as rural fire districts.

5

1 Name of Act

This Act is the Rural Fires Act 1997.

2 Commencement

This Act commences on a day or days to be appointed by proclamation.

3 Objects of Act

The objects of this Act are to provide:

(a) for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush and other fires in local government areas (or parts of areas) and other parts of the State constituted as rural fire districts, and

15

20

- (b) for the co-ordination of bush fire fighting and bush fire prevention throughout the State, and
- (c) for the protection of persons from injury or death, and property from damage, arising from fires, and
- (d) for the protection of the environment by requiring certain activities referred to in paragraphs (a)–(c) to be carried out having regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the *Protection of the Environment Administration Act 1991*.

25

4 Definitions

(1) Definitions are contained in the Dictionary at the end of this Act.

Note. Expressions used in this Act (or in a particular provision of this Act) that are defined in the *Interpretation Act 1987* have the meanings set out in that Act.

Rural	Eiron	Dill	1007
Hurai	Fires	BIII	1997

	(2)	Words and expressions used in the <i>State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989</i> and in this Act have the same meanings in this Act as they have in the 1989 Act.	
	(3)	Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply to the extent that the context or subject-matter otherwise indicates or requires.	5
		Note. Some expressions defined in the State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989 that are used in this Act are:	
		combat agency means the agency identified in Displan as the agency primarily responsible for responding to a particular emergency.	
		Displan means the State Disaster Plan referred to in section 12.	10
		emergency means an emergency due to an actual or imminent occurrence (such as fire, flood, storm, earthquake, explosion, accident, epidemic or warlike action) which:	
		(a) endangers, or threatens to endanger, the safety or health of persons in the State, or	15
		(b) destroys or damages, or threatens to destroy or damage, property in the State,	
		being an emergency which requires a significant and co-ordinated response.	
		emergency services organisation means the Police Service, Fire Brigades, Rural Fire Brigades, Ambulance Service, State Emergency Service, Volunteer Rescue Association or any other agency which manages or controls an accredited rescue unit.	20
5	Notes	_	
	14010.	5	
	NOIC.	Notes in the text of this Act do not form part of this Act.	
6			25
6		Notes in the text of this Act do not form part of this Act.	25
6	Rura	Notes in the text of this Act do not form part of this Act. fire districts A rural fire district is constituted by this section for the area of each local authority, with boundaries of the district being the same as the boundaries of the area as at the date of	25
6	Rura	Notes in the text of this Act do not form part of this Act. If ire districts A rural fire district is constituted by this section for the area of each local authority, with boundaries of the district being the same as the boundaries of the area as at the date of commencement of this section. Note. The Dictionary defines area of a local authority. The area of a council is land within the local government area of the council. The area of the Western Lands Commissioner is the Western Division. The area of the Lord	
6	Rural	Notes in the text of this Act do not form part of this Act. If ire districts A rural fire district is constituted by this section for the area of each local authority, with boundaries of the district being the same as the boundaries of the area as at the date of commencement of this section. Note. The Dictionary defines area of a local authority. The area of a council is land within the local government area of the council. The area of the Western Lands Commissioner is the Western Division. The area of the Lord Howe Island Board is Lord Howe Island. A rural fire district is not constituted by this section for, and does	30

- (3) If the boundaries of the area of a local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted by this section change after the commencement of this section, the boundaries of the rural fire district change so as to correspond to the boundaries of the area.
- (4) If the whole of the area of a local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted by this section is dissolved after the commencement of this section, the rural fire district is dissolved.
- (5) If part of the area of a local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted is dissolved after the commencement of this section, the rural fire district constituted for the area is taken to have been constituted for the remaining part of the area.

7 Responsible local authorities in rural fire districts

- (1) A function conferred or imposed by or under this Act on a local authority for and in respect of a rural fire district is to be exercised:
 - (a) by the local authority for the area for which the district is constituted under section 6, or
 - (b) if, under subsection (2), two or more local authorities agree to combine responsibility for and in respect of their rural fire districts—by the local authority or local authorities nominated in the agreement, or
 - (c) if, under subsection (3), two local authorities agree that one of the local authorities is to have responsibility for and in respect of the whole or part of the rural fire district of the other local authority—by the local authority nominated in the agreement as the local authority to be responsible for the whole or part of that rural fire district.
- (2) Two or more local authorities may, with the approval of the Minister, agree in writing to combine responsibility for and in respect of their rural fire districts and nominate which of them is to be responsible for those rural fire districts.
- (3) A local authority may, with the approval of the Minister, agree in writing with another local authority that the other local authority have responsibility for or in respect of the whole or part of the rural fire district for the area of the local authority.

15

20

Part 2 NSW Rural Fire Service

Note. This Part establishes the NSW Rural Fire Service, and provides for its composition, functions and management. The Service is to be managed and controlled by the Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service. The Commissioner is responsible for issuing the Service Standards, which are the guidelines in respect of the standard operating procedures to be followed by members of the Service. The Commissioner determines the duties of certain members of the Service (staff of the Service and the fire control officers and deputy fire control officers). The fire control officers and deputy fire control officers are appointed by the local authorities of areas constituting rural fire districts and are responsible for a number of functions, including the supervision and direction of functions exercised by or under the Act by rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades.

Division 1 The Service

8 NSW Rural Fire Service

15

5

10

- (1) There is established by this Act the NSW Rural Fire Service.
- (2) The Service comprises the following members:
 - (a) the Commissioner and other staff of the Service,
 - (b) fire control officers and deputy fire control officers,
 - (c) volunteer rural fire fighters.

20

(3) In this Act:

volunteer rural fire fighters means:

- (a) officers and other members of rural fire brigades, and
- (b) any person other than a member of a rural fire brigade who, without remuneration or reward, voluntarily and without obligation engages in fighting (or in activities associated with fighting) a fire with the consent of or under the authority and supervision of an officer of a rural fire brigade.

9 Functions of Service

30

25

- 1) The NSW Rural Fire Service has the following functions:
 - (a) to provide rural fire services for New South Wales,
 - (b) to assist other emergency services organisations at incidents and at emergencies under the control of those organisations,

Part 2 Division 1

(c)

(d)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(2)

(3)

(4)

NSW Rural Fire Service

Note. The State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989 provides for Displan to identify combat agencies primarily responsible for responding to an emergency. The Service is identified as the agency primarily responsible for responding to an emergency due to fire occurring in rural fire districts. 5 to carry out such other functions as may be assigned to it by or under this or any other Act, to do anything necessary for, or incidental to, the exercise of its functions. The functions of the Service are to be exercised in accordance 10 with the State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989 and, in particular, with the requirements under Displan or any state of emergency under that Act. The Service is to have regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the 15 Protection of the Environment Administration Act 1991 in carrying out any function that affects the environment. In this section: rural fire services includes the following: services for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of 20 fires in rural fire districts, the protection of persons from dangers to their safety and health, and property from destruction or damage, arising from fires in rural fire districts. the provision of services referred to in paragraphs (a) and 25 (b) throughout the State in accordance with Part 3, any other service prescribed by the regulations. Note. Other provisions of this Act also affect the exercise of Service functions. See, for example, sections 38 and 133 (2).

Division 2 The Commissioner and other staff of Service

The Commissioner and other staff

A Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service and such other staff as may be necessary for the purposes of this Act are to be employed under Part 2 of the Public Sector Management Act 1988.

35

5

10

15

20

25

30

- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply to the members of the Service referred to in section 8 (2) (b) and (c).
- (3) The Commissioner may arrange for the use of the services of any staff (by secondment or otherwise) or facilities of a Government Department or public authority.
- (4) For the purposes of this Act, a person whose services are made use of under this section is a member of the staff of the Service.

11 Ministerial control

The Commissioner is, in the exercise of the Commissioner's functions, subject to the control and direction of the Minister.

12 Functions of Commissioner

- (1) The Commissioner is responsible for managing and controlling the activities of the Service and has such other functions as are conferred or imposed on the Commissioner by or under this or any other Act.
- (2) The Commissioner may determine the various duties that members of the staff of the Service, fire control officers and deputy fire control officers are required to perform and allocate the duties to be carried out by each member of staff of the Service, fire control officers and deputy fire control officers.
- (3) The Commissioner may, when the Commissioner considers it appropriate to do so, conduct an audit of all or any activities of members of the Service to determine whether the members are carrying out the activities effectively and doing so efficiently and in compliance with the Service Standards.
- (4) The ranks of members of the Service are to be determined by the Commissioner.
- (5) The Commissioner (on behalf of the Crown) may make or enter into contracts or arrangements with any person for the carrying out of works or the performance of services or the supply of goods or materials in connection with the exercise of the functions of the Service.
- (6) This section is subject to the other provisions of this Act and the regulations.

_		
	lause	13
	ause	10

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 2 Division 2 NSW Rural Fire Service

13 Service Standards

- (1) The Commissioner may from time to time issue written policy statements to members of the Service for or with respect to procedures to be followed in connection with the operation, management and control of the Service.
- (2) Without limiting the matters with respect to which statements may be issued under this section, statements may be issued in respect of standard operating procedures, including procedures in respect of the following:
 - (a) fire reporting,

10

5

- (b) operational co-ordination,
- (c) operational planning,
- (d) bush fire risk management planning,
- (e) fire fighting assistance planning,
- (f) standards of fire cover reporting,
- (g) implementation of training standards,
- (h) communications,
- (i) brigade management,
- (j) community education,
- (k) protocols on relevant matters,

20

15

- (l) health and safety.
- (3) The Commissioner is, wherever practicable, to consult with the Advisory Council before issuing policy statements under this section.

14 Delegation by Commissioner

25

The Commissioner may delegate to any member of the Service any of the Commissioner's functions under this Act, other than this power of delegation.

Division 3 Rural fire brigades

15 Formation of rural fire brigades

30

(1) A local authority may form one or more rural fire brigades for any rural fire district constituted for its area or part of its area.

- (2) Two or more local authorities may jointly form a rural fire brigade for a rural fire district constituted for their areas.
- (3) A rural fire brigade may be formed on the initiative of the local authority or local authorities concerned or on the request of any interested person.

(4) The Commissioner may form a rural fire brigade for a rural fire district if any local authority requested to form a rural fire brigade for that district refuses or fails to do so within the period prescribed by the regulations after being requested to do so by the Commissioner.

16 Formation of groups of rural fire brigades

The fire control officer for a rural fire district may form two or more rural fire brigades formed for the district into a group of rural fire brigades.

17 Disbandment of rural fire brigades

- (1) A rural fire brigade may be disbanded at any time by the person or body who formed it by notice in writing given to the officer in charge of the rural fire brigade.
- (2) The disbandment takes effect 21 days after the notice is given.
- (3) The officer in charge of the rural fire brigade concerned may, with the agreement of a majority of the members of the rural fire brigade, lodge an appeal in writing to the Minister against the decision to disband the rural fire brigade.
- (4) The appeal must be lodged before the disbandment takes effect.
- (5) After hearing the appeal, the Minister may:
 - (a) confirm the disbandment, or
 - (b) withdraw the notice.
- (6) The disbandment of a rural fire brigade that is the subject of an appeal does not take effect until the appeal is either withdrawn or finally determined by the Minister and the result notified to the officer in charge of the rural fire brigade concerned.

5

10

15

20

25

18 Area of operations and officers of rural fire brigades

The body or person that forms a rural fire brigade is:

- (a) to determine the territory in which the brigade is to operate, and
- (b) to appoint as the officers for the brigade those persons selected, in accordance with the Service Standards, to be officers for the brigade by the members of the brigade.

5

10

15

20

25

30

Note. Under section 47 of the *Interpretation Act 1987*, conferral of a power to appoint a person to an office includes a power to remove or suspend the person from the office.

19 Area of operations and officers of groups of rural fire brigades

- (1) The fire control officer who forms a group of rural fire brigades is to determine the territory in which the group is to operate.
- (2) The officers of the rural fire brigades forming a group of rural fire brigades are those persons selected, in accordance with the Service Standards, to be officers for the group by the members of the rural fire brigades forming the group. A person selected to be an officer holds office for the period specified in the Service Standards.

20 Members of rural fire brigades

- (1) The body or person that forms a rural fire brigade is required to keep a register of members of the brigade in accordance with the Service Standards.
- (2) The members of a rural fire brigade are the persons listed on the register for the brigade kept under this section.

21 Functions of officers of rural fire brigades

- (1) An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades has the functions conferred or imposed on the officer by or under this or any other Act.
 - **Note.** Functions may be conferred under the Act by the Service Standards.
- (2) An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may exercise a function conferred or imposed on the officer:
 - (a) at a fire, incident or other emergency in the rural fire district for which the brigade or group was formed, or

- (b) at a place outside that rural fire district:
 - (i) with the approval of the Commissioner or of the fire control officer for the rural fire district in which the place is located, or
 - (ii) in accordance with a bush fire management plan or in circumstances prescribed by the regulations, or
 - (iii) within a fire district—with the approval of an officer of New South Wales Fire Brigades.
- (3) An officer or member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades is not, merely because of the authority conferred on the officer or member to exercise any functions under this Act, to be taken to be an employee of the State, a Minister of the State or a local authority.

22 General powers of rural fire brigade officers

- (1) An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades of a rank designated by the Commissioner may, for the purpose of controlling or suppressing a fire or protecting persons or property from an existing or imminent danger arising out of a fire, incident or other emergency, take any action authorised by or under this Act.
- (2) The officer may exercise such a function with such persons as the officer considers necessary for the purpose.
- (3) The following provisions of this Division are intended to be particular examples of the way in which functions referred to in this section can be exercised and are not intended to limit the generality of this section.

23 Power to enter premises

An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may enter any premises for the purpose of exercising any function conferred or imposed on the officer by or under this Act.

Note. Premises is defined in the Dictionary.

24 Closure of streets and public places

The officer in charge of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may cause any street or public place in the vicinity of a fire, incident or other emergency to be closed to traffic.

35

10

15

20

25

Clause 25

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 2 Division 3 NSW Rural Fire Service

25 Making premises safe

An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may, if persons are, or property is, endangered or likely to be endangered by a fire, incident or other emergency, do any of the following things:

5

- (a) pull down, cut and remove or cause to be pulled down, cut and removed, fences on any land,
- (b) destroy, pull down or remove or cause to be destroyed, pulled down or removed any buildings or structures on any land.

10

- (c) destroy or remove or cause to be destroyed or removed any living or dead vegetation on any land,
- (d) establish fire breaks on any land or cause fire breaks to be established on any land.

26 Use of water and works

15

An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may for the purpose of controlling or suppressing a fire:

- (a) take and use without any payment any water from any source on any land, or
- (b) use without any payment all or any water mains, water plugs, valves, pipes and works of water supply vested in or under the management or control of any water supply authority, public authority or body.

20

27 Permission of State Rail Authority or Rail Access Corporation required

25

The functions conferred by this Division may not be exercised in relation to land or property vested in, or under the control of, the State Rail Authority or Rail Access Corporation without the permission of the Authority or Corporation or of a person authorised by the Authority or Corporation to give the permission.

15

20

28 Damage to property

- (1) Any damage to property that is caused by any person exercising any function conferred by or under this Division in good faith is to be taken to be damage by fire within the meaning of any policy of insurance against fire covering the property so damaged.
- (2) Any provision, stipulation, covenant or condition in any agreement that negates, limits or modifies or purports to negate, limit or modify the operation of this section is void and of no effect.

29 Notice of entry

- 1) A person authorised to enter premises under this Division may enter the premises without giving notice:
 - (a) if entry to the premises is made with the consent of the owner or occupier, or
 - (b) if the entry is made to a part of the premises that is open to the public, or
 - (c) if entry is required urgently and the case is one in which the Commissioner has authorised in writing (either generally or in a particular case) entry without notice.
- (2) In any other case, the person must give the owner or occupier of the premises reasonable written notice of the intention to enter the premises.

30 Care to be taken

In the exercise of a function under this Division, a person authorised to enter premises must do as little damage as possible.

31 Use of force

- (1) Reasonable force may be used for the purpose of gaining entry to premises but only if the Commissioner:
 - (a) has authorised in writing the use of force in the particular 30 case, or
 - (b) has specified in writing the circumstances that are required to exist before force may be used and the particular case falls within those circumstances.

Part 2 Division 3		1	NSW Rural Fire Service	
	(2)		person authorised to enter premises uses force to do so, the on must, as soon as practicable, inform the Commissioner.	
	(3)	perso	Commissioner must give notice of the use of force to such ons or authorities as appear to the Commissioner to be opriate in the circumstances.	5
32	Auth	ority	to enter premises	
	(1)	not l	ower to enter premises, or to take action on premises, may be exercised unless the person proposing to exercise the er is in possession of an authority and produces the authority quired to do so by the owner or occupier of the premises.	10
	(2)	The	authority must be a written authority that:	
		(a)	states that it is issued under this Act, and	
		(b)	gives the name of the person to whom it is issued, and	
		(c)	describes the nature of the powers conferred and the source of the powers, and	15
		(d)	states the date (if any) on which it expires, and	
		(e)	describes the kind of premises to which the power extends, and	
		(f)	bears the signature of the Commissioner.	
33	Volu	ntary	work by rural fire brigade	20
	(1)	distri briga co-op of th	the consent of the fire control officer for the rural fire ict in which it operates or the Commissioner, a rural fire ade may, in or out of the rural fire district, voluntarily perate with a public authority in the exercise of any function ne public authority prescribed by the regulations for the oses of this section.	25
	(2)	If:		
		(a)	a public authority, or any member of a public authority, has immunity from legal proceedings that would otherwise lie in relation to the exercise by the authority or member of a function, and	30

Clause 31

Rural Fires Bill 1997

NSW Rural Fire Service

(b) a rural fire brigade co-operates under this section in the exercise of the function,

each officer and other member of the brigade taking part has the same immunity.

Division 4 Fire control officers

5

10

15

20

25

30

34 Appointment of fire control officer and deputies

- (1) The local authority responsible for a rural fire district:
 - (a) must appoint a person, approved by the Commissioner, as fire control officer for the district, and
 - (b) may appoint one or more persons, approved by the Commissioner, as deputy fire control officers for the district
- (2) Appointments to the positions of fire control officer and deputy fire control officer are to be made in accordance with the Service Standards. Service Standards for this purpose have effect only to the extent that the matters with which they deal are not fixed by, and are not inconsistent with, any provisions for the appointment to such a position having effect under the *Local Government Act* 1993.
- (3) The local authority may, with the approval of the Commissioner, revoke an appointment under this section at any time.
- (4) The Commissioner may, after consultation with the local authority that made the appointment, revoke an appointment under this section at any time.
- (5) Nothing in this section affects any terms or conditions of employment applicable to a fire control officer or deputy fire control officer under the *Local Government Act 1993* as a member of the staff of a local authority.
- (6) A fire control officer or deputy fire control officer is not, merely because of the authority conferred on the officer to exercise any function under this Act, to be taken to be an employee of the State, a Minister of the State or a local authority.

- (7) A deputy fire control officer is to act as fire control officer for the district:
 - (a) at the direction of the fire control officer, or
 - (b) in the event of the absence, illness or other inability to act of the fire control officer, or

10

15

20

25

30

- (c) during a vacancy in the office of the fire control officer.
- (8) A deputy fire control officer:
 - (a) when acting as a fire control officer under this section, has and may exercise all the functions of a fire control officer by or under this Act, and
 - (b) when acting under the direction of a fire control officer (other than a direction under subsection (7)) has and may exercise such of the functions conferred on a fire control officer by or under this Act as may be necessary or convenient to be exercised for the purpose of carrying out the direction.

35 Acting fire control officer

- (1) If both the fire control officer and all the deputy fire control officers for a rural fire district are absent from duty, the local authority responsible for the rural fire district may appoint a person, approved by the Commissioner, to be acting fire control officer during the absence.
- (2) An acting fire control officer has the functions of the fire control officer and anything done by the acting fire control officer in the exercise of those functions has effect as if it were done by the fire control officer.

36 Councillors not to be appointed as fire control officers, deputy fire control officers or acting fire control officers

- (1) A councillor within the meaning of the *Local Government Act* 1993 is not eligible to be appointed as a fire control officer, deputy fire control officer or acting fire control officer.
- (2) Any fire control officer, deputy fire control officer or acting fire control officer who becomes a councillor ceases to be such an officer on a date that is 3 months after the date on which his or her election as a councillor takes effect unless the officer otherwise vacates his or her office before that date.

10

15

20

25

30

(3)	Any such fire control officer, deputy fire control officer or acting
	fire control officer does not, by virtue of holding office as such
	an officer, hold an office or place of profit for the purposes of
	section 275 (2) of the Local Government Act 1993.

37 Responsibility of fire control officer and local authority

- (1) A fire control officer is, subject to any direction of the Commissioner, responsible for the control and co-ordination of the activities of the Service in the rural fire district for which he or she is appointed as fire control officer.
- (2) A local authority that appoints a fire control officer is responsible for ensuring that the fire control officer carries out the responsibilities imposed on the fire control officer by this section in accordance with the Service Standards.
- (3) A local authority that appoints a fire control officer must provide facilities and accommodation to enable the fire control officer to exercise his or her functions.
- (4) Any such facilities and accommodation are to be of a standard approved by the Commissioner in consultation with the local authority.

38 Functions of fire control officer

- A fire control officer appointed under this Part has all the powers and immunities conferred on an officer in charge of a rural fire brigade.
- (2) A fire control officer:
 - has the supervision and direction of the functions exercised by or under this Act by all rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades in the rural fire district for which the fire control officer has been appointed and of the officers of the brigades, and
 - (b) has the right to use any fire fighting apparatus in the rural fire district other than fire fighting apparatus under the control of the authority responsible for managed land, and
 - (c) must inspect, or cause to be inspected, at least once each year all fire fighting apparatus in the rural fire district other than fire fighting apparatus under the control of the authority responsible for managed land, and

- (d) must take or cause to be taken all necessary measures for suppressing fires in the rural fire district and protecting and saving life and property in case of fire, and
- (e) except on managed land, is to perform such other duties relating to functions conferred or imposed on the Service as are imposed on the fire control officer by the local authority that appointed the fire control officer.

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (3) Subsection (2) does not affect the power of a local authority that appoints a fire control officer to require the fire control officer to perform any function if the performance of the function is consistent with the performance of a function imposed by that subsection.
- (4) A fire control officer may exercise a function referred to in subsection (2) (d) only if the fire control officer (and any member of the Service assisting the fire control officer in the exercise of the function) complies with the conditions (if any) imposed on the exercise of the function specified in any relevant bush fire management plan or other relevant plan of the authority responsible for the managed land of which the fire control officer is aware.

Division 5 Command structure

39 Commissioner may authorise officers and members of rural fire brigades to exercise functions

- (1) Any function conferred or imposed on the Commissioner by this Act may be exercised by any officer or member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades authorised for the purpose by the Commissioner.
- (2) Such an authorisation need not be in writing and operates to authorise the exercise of the functions accordingly. However, the Commissioner must keep a record of all authorisations given under this section.

40 Officer in charge may authorise others to exercise functions

(1) The officer in charge at a fire, incident or other emergency may authorise any officer or member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades to exercise all or specified functions under this Act of the officer in charge at a fire, incident or other emergency.

10

15

20

25

30

35

(2) Such an authorisation need not be in writing and operates to authorise the exercise of the functions accordingly.

41 Duty to recognise authority of officers

- (1) Every member of the Police Service and all other persons are to recognise:
 - (a) the authority of the Commissioner and any member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades or fire control officer acting under the Commissioner's directions, and
 - (b) the authority of the officer in charge at a fire, incident or other emergency at which a rural fire brigade is present or of an officer of a rural fire brigade directly assisting the person primarily responsible for responding to a fire, incident or other emergency.
- (2) It is the duty of every member of the Police Service to support the authority of such a person and to assist him or her in enforcing compliance with any directions given under this Act or the regulations.
- (3) This section applies only in respect of the protection of persons from injury or death, or of property from damage, when the persons are or the property is endangered by fire or there is imminent danger of such a fire.

42 Obstruction etc of Commissioner and other members of Service

A person who obstructs or hinders or incites or encourages any person to obstruct or hinder the Commissioner, a fire control officer or an officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades in the exercise of the Commissioner's or officer's functions under this Act, or any person acting under the direction of any such person, is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 2 years, or both.

43 Interstate assistance at fires

A person who is a member of an interstate fire brigade and is present at a fire within a rural fire district for the purpose of mitigating or suppressing that fire must:

- (a) obey any orders given to the person by the officer in charge at the fire, and
- (b) place any gear or equipment in the person's charge at the disposal of the officer in charge at the fire.

- (2) While there is no officer in charge at the fire, the member of the interstate fire brigade who has the charge of the members of that brigade present at the fire is, for the purposes of this Act, to be considered the officer in charge at the fire.
- (3) A member of an interstate fire brigade who is present at a fire within a rural fire district for the purpose of mitigating or suppressing that fire is taken to have and may exercise all the functions that, if the fire were in the area of a rural fire brigade, the officer in charge of that rural fire brigade would have and be capable of exercising and performing.
- (4) In this section:

interstate fire brigade means a fire brigade (by whatever name called) established under a law of any place outside New South Wales.

Part 3 Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

Note. This Part charges the Commissioner with the responsibility of controlling and co-ordinating the action to be taken by persons and bodies involved in or associated with the prevention, mitigation or suppression of bush fires in dealing with fires requiring a response beyond the area or locality in which the fires are burning. The Commissioner is authorised to give directions to persons, members of the Service, officers of other emergency services organisations and others in relation to the prevention, mitigation and suppression of fires in these circumstances.

The Part also provides for the establishment of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating
Committee, the principal responsibility of which is to plan for bush fire
prevention and for co-ordinated bush fire fighting. The Bush Fire
Co-ordinating Committee is required to constitute Bush Fire Management
Committees for rural fire districts and may constitute them for other parts of
the State. These committees are responsible for the preparation of bush fire
management plans for the areas for which they are constituted.

Division 1 Co-ordination of bush fire fighting by Commissioner

44 Commissioner's responsibility

- (1) The Commissioner is to take charge of bush fire fighting operations and bush fire prevention measures and to take such measures as the Commissioner considers necessary to control or suppress any bush fire in any part of the State if, in the opinion of the Commissioner:
 - (a) a bush fire has assumed or is likely to assume such proportions as to be incapable of control or suppression by the fire fighting authority or authorities in whose area or locality it is burning, or
 - (b) the prevailing conditions are conducive to the outbreak of a bush fire likely to assume such proportions, or
 - (c) a bush fire is not being effectively controlled or suppressed by the fire fighting authority or authorities in whose area or locality it is burning, or
 - (d) a bush fire is burning in a place that is not the responsibility of any fire fighting authority.

35

20

25

Part 3 Division 1 Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

(2) The Commissioner may delegate the Commissioner's functions under this Division (other than this power of delegation) to an officer or member of a rural fire brigade, an officer or member of New South Wales Fire Brigades, officers of the Forestry Commission, officers of the National Parks and Wildlife Service or any other person.

5

10

15

20

25

30

(3) The Commissioner is not subject to the control and direction of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee in exercising the Commissioner's functions under this Division but must, in exercising those functions, take into consideration any relevant bush fire management plan and, in the case of managed land, any relevant plan of the authority responsible for the managed land of which the Commissioner is aware.

45 Power to give directions etc

- (1) The Commissioner may give such directions as the Commissioner considers necessary to fire control officers, deputy fire control officers, officers of rural fire brigades, local authorities, officers or members of New South Wales Fire Brigades, members of the Police Service and other persons in connection with the prevention, control or suppression of any bush fire in the area or locality in which the Commissioner has taken charge or is taking measures under this Division.
- (2) Without limiting the powers conferred on the Commissioner, the Commissioner may exercise, in any part of the State, any functions conferred by section 21 on an officer in charge of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades in respect of the rural fire district for which the brigade is formed.
- (3) Any person (other than a police officer) who fails to observe any direction given under this section by the Commissioner is guilty of an offence.
 - Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.

- (4) The provisions of this section have effect despite anything contained in this or any other Act to the contrary.
- (5) Nothing in this Division enables the Commissioner to commandeer equipment or resources (human or otherwise).

Division 2 Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

5

46 Constitution of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

- (1) There is constituted by this Act a corporation with the corporate name of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.
- (2) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is a statutory body representing the Crown.

10

47 Membership and procedure of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

- (1) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is to consist of 12 members as follows:
 - (a) the Commissioner, who is to be the Chairperson of the Committee,

15

- (b) an officer of New South Wales Fire Brigades nominated by the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades,
- (c) an officer of the Forestry Commission nominated by the commissioner constituting the Forestry Commission,

- (d) an officer of the National Parks and Wildlife Service nominated by the Director-General of National Parks and Wildlife,
- (e) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Local Government Association of New South Wales,
- 25
- (f) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Shires Association of New South Wales,

Clause 47		Rural Fires Bill 1997	
Part 3 Division 2		Co-ordinated bush fire fighting	
	(g)	a fire control officer appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the NSW Rural Fire Service Association,	
	(h)	a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Commissioner of Police,	5
	(i)	a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Minister for the Environment,	
	(j)	a person nominated by the Nature Conservation Council of New South Wales,	
	(k)	a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the NSW Farmers Association,	10
	(l)	an officer of the Department of Community Services nominated by the Minister for Community Services.	
(2)		nedule 1 has effect with respect to the members and cedures of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.	15
48 Fund	tion	s of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	
(1)	The	Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee:	
	(a)	is responsible for planning in relation to bush fire prevention and co-ordinated bush fire fighting, and	
	(b)	is responsible for advising the Commissioner on bush fire prevention, mitigation and co-ordinated bush fire suppression, and	20
	(c)	has such other functions as are conferred or imposed on it by or under this or any other Act.	
(2)		hout limiting subsection (1), the Bush Fire Co-ordinating mmittee:	25
	(a)	must report to the Minister on any matter referred by the Minister to it and may report on any matter relating to the prevention and suppression of bush fires whether referred to it or not, and	30
	(b)	may enter into arrangements with the Minister for Land and Water Conservation or any public authority with	

The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is to have regard to the (3)principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the Protection of the Environment Administration Act 1991 in carrying out any function that affects the environment.

5

Delegation

(3)

The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may delegate to the Commissioner any function (other than this power of delegation) conferred or imposed on it by or under this Act.

Division 3 **Bush Fire Management Committees**

10

50 **Bush Fire Management Committees**

- The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee must constitute a Bush (1)Fire Management Committee for the whole of the area of any local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted.
- (2)The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may constitute a Bush Fire Management Committee for:

15

an area of a local authority that is constituted solely as a (a) fire district, or

20

- a part of the State other than a rural fire district or a fire (b) district.
- Committees may be constituted for separate rural fire districts or for groups of rural fire districts.
- (4)A Bush Fire Management Committee is to be constituted in accordance with the regulations.

51 **Functions of Bush Fire Management Committees**

25

A Bush Fire Management Committee has such functions as are (1)conferred or imposed on it by or under this or any other Act.

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 3 Division 3 Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

(2) A Bush Fire Management Committee is to have regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the *Protection of the Environment Administration Act* 1991 in carrying out any function that affects the environment.

5

Division 4 Preparation of draft bush fire management plans

52 Bush Fire Management Committees to prepare plans

- (1) Each Bush Fire Management Committee must, in accordance with this Division, prepare and submit to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee a draft of each of the following kinds of bush fire management plans for the rural fire district or other part of the State for which it is constituted:
 - (a) a plan of operations, and
 - (b) a bush fire risk management plan.

15

10

- (2) Draft bush fire management plans of both kinds must be prepared and submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee by a Bush Fire Management Committee within 3 months after the constitution of the Bush Fire Management Committee and:
 - (a) in the case of a plan of operations—within each successive 2 year period following the constitution of the Committee, and

20

(b) in the case of a bush fire risk management plan—within each successive 5 year period following the constitution of the Committee.

25

53 Content of draft plan of operations

A draft plan of operations for a rural fire district or other part of the State is to set out the procedures to be followed if:

(a) a bush fire breaks out in the rural fire district or other part of the State and assumes or is likely to assume such proportions as to be incapable of suppression by the fire fighting authority or authorities in that part of the State, or

10

15

20

25

(b) the prevailing conditions are conducive to the outbreak of a bush fire likely to assume such proportions.

54 Content of draft bush fire risk management plan

- (1) A draft bush fire risk management plan for a rural fire district or other part of the State is to set out schemes for the reduction of bush fire hazards in the rural fire district or other part of the State.
- (2) Without limiting the matters that may be contained in a draft bush fire risk management plan, it may restrict or prohibit the use of fire or other particular fire hazard reduction activities in all or specified circumstances or places to which the plan applies.

Note. A plan might, for example, prohibit the use of fire because of its effect on fauna or flora in, or the cultural heritage of, a particular place.

55 General content

- (1) A draft bush fire management plan may:
 - (a) include schemes for the exercise in the rural fire district or other part of the State to which it applies of functions conferred or imposed by this Act, and
 - (b) confer or impose functions on the Commissioner, the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades, the commissioner constituting the Forestry Commission, the Director-General of National Parks and Wildlife or any other person or body associated with the prevention, mitigation or suppression of bush fires in that part of the State.
- (2) A draft bush fire management plan must include any provisions that the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee has advised the Bush Fire Management Committee concerned to include in the plan.

Clause 56

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 3 Division 4 Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

56 Failure of Management Committee

The Commissioner may exercise the functions of a Bush Fire Management Committee under this Division if the Committee has failed to submit a draft bush fire management plan in accordance with the Division or has submitted a draft plan that, in the opinion of the Commissioner, is inadequate.

5

Division 5 Public participation in preparation of plans

57 Public notice of draft bush fire risk management plans

- (1) The Bush Fire Management Committee or Commissioner must:
 - (a) in accordance with the regulations, give public notice of and exhibit, for the purpose of receiving submissions from any interested persons, any draft bush fire risk management plan for a rural fire district or other part of the State prepared by the Committee or Commissioner, and

(b) concurrently display for information any draft plan of operations or plan of operations for that rural fire district or part of the State.

15

10

(2) The Bush Fire Management Committee or Commissioner is to ensure that no addresses or telephone numbers of fire control officers or other operational contact information is displayed.

20

58 Adoption of bush fire risk management plans

(1) After considering all submissions received concerning the draft bush fire risk management plan, the Bush Fire Management Committee or the Commissioner (if the Commissioner is exercising the functions of the Committee under section 56) may decide to amend the draft plan or to submit it to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee without amendment as the proposed bush fire risk management plan for the rural fire district or part of the State concerned.

25

(2) When a draft bush fire risk management plan for a rural fire district or any other part of the State is submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee it must:

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (a) consider all submissions received by it concerning the draft plan, and
- (b) review the provisions of the draft plan and of any current bush fire risk management plan for that part of the State.
- (3) After considering the submissions and the review, the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may:
 - (a) approve the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee) and revoke any other bush fire risk management plan to the extent that it makes corresponding provisions for that part of the State, or
 - (b) vary another bush fire risk management plan for some or all of the same part of the State so as to incorporate in the other plan some or all of the provisions of the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee).
- (4) If the Bush Fire Management Committee, the Commissioner (if the Commissioner is exercising the functions of the Committee under section 56) or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee decides to amend the draft plan:
 - (a) they may publicly exhibit the amended draft plan in accordance with this Division, or
 - (b) if of the opinion that the amendments are not substantial, the Bush Fire Management Committee or Commissioner may submit, or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may adopt, the amended draft plan without public exhibition as the bush fire risk management plan for the area concerned.

59 Adoption of bush fire plans of operation

- (1) After preparing a draft plan of operations for the rural fire district or other part of the State for which it is constituted, the Bush Fire Management Committee is to submit the plan to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.
- (2) When a draft plan of operations is submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, it must review the provisions, of the draft plan and of any current plan of operations.

- (3) After the review, the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may:
 - (a) approve the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee) and revoke any other plan of operations to the extent that it makes corresponding provisions for that part of the State, or

10

15

20

25

30

(b) vary another plan of operations for some or all of the same part of the State so as to incorporate in the other plan some or all of the provisions of the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee).

60 Co-ordination of planning by bush fire management plans

- (1) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is not to approve or vary a bush fire management plan so as to impose a requirement on a public authority within the administration of a Minister if the authority objects to the requirement.
- (2) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may, with the consent of a public authority:
 - vary or revoke any provision of an approved bush fire management plan imposing a requirement on the authority, or
 - (b) vary an approved bush fire management plan so as to impose a requirement on the authority.
- (3) Any dispute between the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee and a public authority about the imposition of a requirement on the authority is to be decided by the Minister and, if the authority is within the administration of another Minister, that other Minister. The decision of the Minister or Ministers is binding on the parties to the dispute.
- (4) If agreement cannot be reached between the Ministers, the dispute is to be resolved by the Premier whose decision is binding on the parties to the dispute.
- (5) A bush fire management plan may be communicated in such manner as the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee thinks fit to any public authority to which it relates.

Part 3 Division 5

(6) A bush fire management plan communicated to a public authority to which it relates is to be adopted by that authority and, as far as practicable, carried into effect by the authority in the circumstances indicated by the plan.

61 Amendment, revocation and cessation of bush fire management plans

5

(1) A Bush Fire Management Committee, the Commissioner or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may amend a bush fire management plan adopted under this Division by another bush fire management plan that is prepared and adopted in accordance with sections 57–60.

10

(2) A bush fire management plan may be revoked by a bush fire management plan adopted under this Division by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

62 Public availability of bush fire management plans and draft bush fire management plans

15

A bush fire management plan or draft bush fire management plan must be available for public inspection at, and be able to be obtained free of charge from, the office of the local authority for the area to which it relates during ordinary office hours.

-			
١,	211	CO	63
	au	30	\mathbf{o}

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 4 Division 1 Bush fire prevention

Part 4 Bush fire prevention

Note. Part 4 deals with the prevention and minimisation of the spread of bush fires throughout the State. It provides for bush fire hazard reduction work to be done, for limitation of the lighting of fires without a permit during bush fire danger periods and the imposition of total fire bans. It imposes responsibilities on the owners and occupiers of land and public authorities in relation to these and other matters.

5

Division 1 Duty to prevent bush fires

63 Duties of public authorities and owners and occupiers of land to prevent bush fires

10

- (1) It is the duty of a public authority to take the notified steps (if any) and any other practicable steps to prevent the occurrence of bush fires on, and to minimise the danger of the spread of a bush fire on or from:
 - (a) any land vested in or under its control or management, or

15

- (b) any highway, road, street, land or thoroughfare, the maintenance of which is charged on the authority.
 - e e 20
- (2) It is the duty of the owner or occupier of land to take the notified steps (if any) and any other practicable steps to prevent the occurrence of bush fires on, and to minimise the danger of the spread of bush fires on or from, that land.
- (3) A public authority or owner or occupier is liable for the costs incurred by it in performing the duty imposed by this section.
- (4) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may advise a person on whom a duty is imposed by this section of any steps (whether or not included in a bush fire risk management plan) that are necessary for the proper performance of the duty.

25

(5) In this section:

notified steps means:

- (a) any steps that the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee advises a person to take under subsection (4), or
- 30
- (b) any steps that are included in a bush fire risk management plan applying to the land.

10

20

25

64 Occupiers to extinguish fires or notify fire fighting authorities

- (1) If a fire (not being a fire or part of a fire lit under the authority of this Act or any other Act) is burning on any land at any time during a bush fire danger period applicable to the land the occupier of the land must:
 - (a) immediately on becoming aware of the fire and whether the occupier has lit or caused the fire to be lit or not, take all possible steps to extinguish the fire, and
 - (b) if the occupier is unable without assistance to extinguish the fire and any practicable means of communication are available, inform or cause to be informed an appropriate officer of the existence and locality of the fire if it is practicable to do so without leaving the fire unattended.
- (2) In this section, appropriate officer means:
 - (a) if the fire is burning within any fire district constituted under the *Fire Brigades Act 1989*—the nearest available officer or fire fighter of the fire brigades in the fire district, or
 - (b) if the fire is burning outside any such fire district—the nearest available officer or member of a rural fire brigade or fire control officer or deputy fire control officer or officer of the Forestry Commission or the National Parks and Wildlife Service.

Maximum penalty: 20 penalty units or imprisonment for 6 months, or both.

Division 2 Bush fire hazard reduction

Note. Bush fire hazard reduction work and bush fire hazard reduction notice are defined in the Dictionary.

65 Reduction of fire hazards on unoccupied Crown land and managed land

(1) In this section:

authorised person, in relation to land, means:

(a) any officer of a rural fire brigade for the time being nominated for the purposes of this section by the local authority for the area in which the land is situated, or

35

Clause 65	Rural Fires Bill 1997
Part 4 Division 2	Bush fire prevention

- (b) any person for the time being nominated for the purposes of this section by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, or
- (c) a person exercising functions under a bush fire risk management plan, or

10

20

- (d) an authorised officer of a fire fighting authority.
- (2) An authorised person may, with the permission of the fire fighting authority or other authority responsible for unoccupied Crown land or managed land or a person for the time being nominated by the authority to give such permission, enter the land and carry out bush fire hazard reduction work with the assistance of such other persons as the authorised person considers to be necessary for the purpose.
- (3) The authority responsible for unoccupied Crown land or managed land is to be taken to have given the permission under this section to the extent necessary to give effect to a bush fire risk management plan.
- (4) If permission under this section is given subject to conditions, the conditions must be complied with.

66 Bush fire hazard reduction work required by local authorities

- (1) The local authority of an area may, by notice in writing, require the occupier or owner (not being a public authority) of any land within the area to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work specified in the notice on the land.
- (2) The local authority must serve a notice under this section if required to do so by a bush fire risk management plan applicable to the land that is in force.
- (3) The notice may specify the circumstances in which, conditions under which, places at which and manner and time within which the bush fire hazard reduction work is to be carried out and is to specify any means other than fire by which the bush fire hazard reduction work is to be carried out and alternative means other than fire by which the work should, if practicable, be carried out.
- (4) The time within which bush fire hazard reduction work is to be carried out must not be less than 7 days after the notice is given. 35

(5) The requirements and conditions so specified must include any requirements specified in a bush fire risk management plan that is applicable to the land and is in force and may include a requirement or condition that the burning of fire breaks or of combustible matter or other material:

5

(a) must, in a fire district constituted under the *Fire Brigades* Act 1989, be carried out by or under the supervision of the fire brigade in the district or the officer or fire fighter in charge of the fire brigade, or

10

(b) must, outside a fire district, be carried out by or under the supervision of the rural fire brigade specified in the notice or an appropriate officer of the rural fire brigade or any fire control officer.

15

(6) A notice requiring the establishment of a fire break cannot require an occupier or owner to kill or remove any trees that are reasonably necessary:

- (a) for shade, shelter, windbreak or fodder purposes, or
- (b) for the protection of threatened species, populations, communities or critical habitats within the meaning of the *Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995*.

20

Note. See section 54 (2) for other possible limitations.

(7) An occupier or owner to whom a bush fire hazard reduction notice is given must, despite the fact that a fire permit has not been granted under Division 5, comply with the requirements specified in the notice.

25

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months.

30

(8) A notice under this section that is the subject of an objection or appeal under section 67 or 68 does not have effect until the objection or appeal is finally determined.

67 Objection to notices

(1) The owner or occupier of land on whom a notice has been served under section 66 may, within 7 days of the service of the notice, lodge an objection with the fire control officer for the local authority for the area in which the land is situated stating the grounds of objection.

take into account all relevant circumstances, including the

advise the local authority that an appeal has been received.

35

matters referred to in section 67 (2), and

(b)

- (3) After considering the appeal, the Commissioner must:
 - (a) confirm the notice, or
 - (b) vary the notice in any way the Commissioner thinks fit, or
 - (c) cancel the notice,

and advise the local authority accordingly.

5

(4) If the Commissioner confirms or varies the notice, the Commissioner must give the person who lodged the appeal notice of his or her decision and must specify a time after the notice is given within which the person must comply with the notice as confirmed or varied.

10

69 Duties of local authority

- (1) The fire control officer for a local authority, or an officer or member of a fire brigade or other person authorised by the local authority, may for the purpose of forming an opinion as to:
 - (a) whether the local authority should serve a notice under section 66 on the occupier or owner of any land, or

15

(b) whether or not such a notice has been complied with,

enter during the daytime any part of the land (other than a dwelling-house) that it is necessary to inspect in order to form that opinion.

20

- (2) A local authority that requires an occupier or owner of land to take action under a bush fire hazard reduction notice must give notice in the approved form to such persons or bodies as may be prescribed by the regulations.
- (3) It is a duty of a local authority to keep a record of whether or not bush fire hazard reduction work has been carried out on land within the area of the local authority in accordance with a bush fire hazard reduction notice.

Note. The Land and Environment Court has jurisdiction to hear and dispose of proceedings under this Act. See section 20 of the *Land and Environment Court Act 1979*.

30

Clause 70)
-----------	---

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 4 Division 2 Bush fire prevention

70 Bush fire hazard reduction work in default of compliance with notice

(1) In this section:

relevant notice means:

(a) a bush fire hazard reduction notice, or

5

- (b) if a bush fire hazard reduction notice is the subject of an objection or appeal, a notice under section 67 (4) or 68 (4), respectively.
- (2) If within the time specified in the relevant notice the owner or occupier to whom it is given fails to comply with any requirement of the notice, the local authority or any officers or members of any fire brigade or rural fire brigade or other persons authorised by the local authority may, without prejudice to the liability of the owner or occupier, enter on the land and carry out the bush fire hazard reduction work the owner or occupier was required to do under the notice.

15

10

- (3) The expenses of carrying out the bush fire hazard reduction work are a debt recoverable from the owner or occupier of the land in any court of competent jurisdiction.
- (4) The local authority must exercise its power under this section if the requirement that has not been complied with is made by a bush fire risk management plan.

20

25

- (5) The provisions of the *Local Government Act 1993*, with respect to:
 - (a) the charge of a rate under that Act on the land in respect of which it is levied, and
 - (b) the time within which proceedings for the recovery of the rate may be taken,

apply to and in respect of any judgment recovered under this section against the owner of land by the local authority and recorded in the books, as if the amount of the judgment and of any costs awarded to the local authority in respect of its claim were a rate levied under that Act in respect of the land concerned.

Bush fire prevention

Part 4 Division 2

5

10

15

25

30

71 Defence to court proceedings

If:

(a) the occupier and the owner of the land in respect of which a bush fire hazard reduction notice is given are not the same person, and

(b) the owner of that land has been prosecuted under section 66 or an action for recovery of expenses has been taken against the owner under section 70,

it is a defence to that prosecution or action if the court is satisfied that that owner had no legal right, as between the owner and the occupier of that land, to enter that land and comply with the requirements of the notice.

72 Certain damage to property caused by bush fire hazard reduction work covered by fire insurance

- (1) Any damage to property caused by a person in the exercise in good faith of a power conferred by or under this Division is to be taken to be damage by fire within the meaning of any policy of insurance against fire covering the damaged property.
- (2) This section does not apply in relation to an entry on land that is authorised by section 70 (which relates to entry on land after failure to comply with a bush fire hazard reduction notice).

73 Bush fire hazard reduction by the Commissioner

- (1) The Commissioner may carry out bush fire hazard reduction work on any land in the manner required by a bush fire risk management plan if any such work has not been carried out on that land when required by the plan or has not been carried out in the manner required by the plan.
- (2) Any costs incurred by the Commissioner in carrying out such work may be recovered as a debt due to the Crown in a court of competent jurisdiction.
- (3) Any such work may be carried out by the Commissioner whether or not the owner or occupier of the land or a local authority has a duty to carry out the work.

(4) Any dispute between the Commissioner and a public authority about whether bush fire hazard reduction work has or has not been carried out on any land when or in the manner required by a bush fire risk management plan may be decided by the Minister and, if the public authority is within the administration of another Minister, the other Minister. The decision of the Minister or Ministers is binding on the parties to the dispute.

5

10

15

30

(5) If agreement cannot be reached between the Ministers, the dispute is to be resolved by the Premier whose decision is binding on the parties to the dispute.

74 Local authority to review incidence of bush fire hazards

- (1) A local authority is to review annually the incidence of bush fire hazards on such private lands as it determines in its area.
- (2) Within 3 months (or such other period as the Commissioner specifies) of the end of each year, a local authority must report to the Commissioner on the incidence of bush fire hazards.
- (3) The local authority must remove or reduce (or facilitate the reduction or removal by the owners or occupiers of) bush fire hazards on the land identified by the local authority.
- (4) If the Commissioner is satisfied that a local authority is not making full use of its power to require bush fire hazard reduction work to be done, the Commissioner may, by notice in writing served on the local authority, require it to exercise those powers as stated in the notice.
- (5) A local authority served with a notice under this section must comply with the requirements of the notice.

Division 3 Damage by fire to dividing fences and other matters

75 Definitions

In this Division:

adjoining owners means the owners or occupiers of land (other than excluded land) on either side of a dividing fence.

10

15

20

25

30

dividing fence means a fence separating land owned or occupied by different persons.

excluded land means land that a bush fire management plan specifies to be excluded for the purposes of this Division.

fence means a structure, ditch or embankment, or a hedge or similar vegetation barrier, enclosing or bounding land, whether or not continuous or extending along the whole of the boundary separating the land from other land and includes:

- (a) any gate, cattlegrid or apparatus necessary for the operation of the fence, and
- (b) any foundation or support necessary for the support and maintenance of the fence.

76 Notices to repair or restore dividing fences

- (1) An adjoining owner who has cleared land on the adjoining owner's side of a dividing fence of all combustible matter for a distance of 6 metres from the fence may, by notice in writing, require the adjoining owner on the other side of the fence to repair or restore the dividing fence if it is damaged or destroyed by a bush fire caused by the failure of the other adjoining owner to clear the adjoining owner's side of the fence of all combustible matter for the same distance.
- (2) The adjoining owner to whom a notice is given must repair or restore the dividing fence at that adjoining owner's expense:
 - (a) within one month of being given the notice, or
 - (b) within such longer period as a Local Court may allow on application by the adjoining owner to the Local Court.
- (3) The dividing fence is to be restored to a reasonable standard, having regard to its state before damage or destruction.
- (4) The adjoining owner may apply to the Local Court for an order authorising the adjoining owner to repair or restore the fence if:
 - (a) the adjoining owner to whom a notice is given fails to repair or restore the fence in the required time, or
 - (b) the adjoining owner has not, after making reasonable inquiries, been able to ascertain the whereabouts of the adjoining owner for the purposes of serving the notice.

Division 3

- (5) An adjoining owner who repairs or restores a fence under this section (including the owner's employees or agents) may, at any reasonable time, enter on the land adjoining the dividing fence for the purpose of carrying out the work.
- (6) This section does not apply to an adjoining owner that is a public authority other than a local authority.

77 Recovery of costs

- (1) An adjoining owner who repairs or restores a fence in accordance with an order under section 76 (4) is entitled to recover from the other adjoining owner the cost of carrying out the work.
- (2) Any money that an adjoining owner is required or liable to pay under this section may be recovered as a debt in a court of competent jurisdiction.
- (3) In any proceedings for the recovery of money the certificate of a Local Court as to the making and content of an order made by it under section 76 is evidence of the matters set out in the certificate.

78 Jurisdiction of Local Court

A Local Court has jurisdiction to hear and determine any matter arising under this Division.

79 Entry to land to extinguish fire

An adjoining owner who has cleared land in the manner referred to in section 76 may enter the land of an adjoining owner who has failed to so clear that adjoining owner's land and take all necessary steps to extinguish any unattended fire that at its closest point has approached a distance that unreasonably endangers or threatens the adjoining owner's land and any fence or property on it.

80 Entry to certain land to establish fire breaks

The owner or occupier of land that adjoins any unoccupied Crown land or Crown land that is not excluded land or land reserved or dedicated, or acquired for reservation or dedication,

5

10

20

Part 4 Division 3

under the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 may enter on the land for the purpose of undertaking bush fire hazard reduction work on the land not more than 6 metres wide along the boundary of the land.

Division 4 Bush fire danger period

5

81 General bush fire danger period

For the purposes of this Act, the *bush fire danger period* in respect of land in the State is, except as provided by section 82, the period commencing on 1 October and ending on 31 March in the following year.

10

82 Local bush fire danger period

- (1) A local authority may, by notice published in a newspaper circulating generally in the area:
 - (a) declare that there is no bush fire danger period for its area or part of its area, or

15

(b) specify a different period to that set out in section 81 as the bush fire danger period for its area or part of its area.

Note. Under section 377 of the *Local Government Act 1993* a council may, by resolution, delegate its functions under this section to the General Manager or another person or body.

20

- (2) As soon as practicable after publishing a notice under subsection (1), the local authority is to publish a copy of the notice in the Gazette.
- (3) Despite section 81, if a declaration is made in accordance with this section specifying a different *bush fire danger period* in relation to any area or part of an area of a local authority the bush fire danger period in that area or part is the period specified in the declaration.

25

(4) Unless it is sooner revoked, a declaration remains in force for such period as is specified in the declaration.

30

(5) A local authority is to notify the Commissioner within 24 hours of the making of a declaration under this section and, if concurrence is required under section 83, is to forward a copy of the concurrence to the Commissioner.

C	lause	83
	ause	83

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 4 Division 4 Bush fire prevention

83 Concurrence required before local bush fire danger period declaration made

(1) The Commissioner may, by order published in the Gazette, declare land to be a special area for the purposes of this Division and require the concurrence in writing of the Forestry Commission and the National Parks and Wildlife Service to be obtained before a declaration is made under section 82 in relation to the land.

5

10

15

20

25

30

(2) A local authority is not to make a declaration under section 82 in relation to a special area without the concurrence of the Forestry Commission and the National Parks and Wildlife Service or, if concurrence is not given within 3 days after notice requesting concurrence has been given to the Forestry Commission and the National Parks and Wildlife Service, without the consent of the Minister.

84 Notice of bush fire danger period

If a local authority makes a declaration under section 82 in relation to its area or part of its area, the local authority is to give notice of the bush fire danger period for that part of the State in a newspaper circulating generally in that area or part.

Division 5 Permits and notice requirements

85 Definitions

In this Division:

appropriate authority, in relation to a fire permit in respect of land, means:

- (a) in the case of a local government area—the council of the area,
 - **Note.** On delegation of council's functions see sections 377 and 378 of the *Local Government Act 1993*.
- (b) in the case of Lord Howe Island—the Lord Howe Island Board or a person authorised by the Board to issue the permit,
- (c) in the case of land in a fire district—the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades,
- (d) in the case of any other land or in circumstances set out in the Service Standards—the Commissioner.

Part 4 Division 5

land clearance means clearing land of bush, stubble, scrub, timber, trees, grass or vegetative or other material.

light a fire includes:

- (a) maintain or use a fire, and
- (b) cause a fire to be lit, maintained or used.

5

86 Notice required before certain fires lit

A person who lights a fire on land:

- (a) for the purpose of land clearance or for burning any fire break, or
- (b) in circumstances in which doing so would be likely to be dangerous to any building,

10

is guilty of an offence unless the person has given notice in accordance with the regulations to the persons prescribed by the regulations.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.

15

87 Lighting fires for land clearance or fire breaks in bush fire danger period

A person who lights a fire on land for the purpose of land clearance or for burning any fire break during a bush fire danger period that applies to the land is guilty of an offence unless the person:

20

(a) is authorised to do so by a fire permit issued by the appropriate authority and the person complies with any conditions set out in the fire permit, and

25

(b) has given notice in accordance with section 86.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.

88 Lighting fires that are dangerous to buildings in fire districts

A person who lights a fire on land within a local government area that is in a fire district in circumstances in which doing so would be likely to be dangerous to any building is guilty of an offence unless the person:

authority considers appropriate.

Clause 88

Division 5

Part 4

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Bush fire prevention

92 Conditions of permit

- (1) A fire permit is subject to:
 - (a) the condition that it be carried by the holder of the fire permit at the time a fire authorised by the permit is lit, and
 - (b) such conditions as are prescribed by the regulations or specified in the permit.

Note. A fire permit might, for example, include a condition that any fire lit in a rural fire district or fire district be lit under the supervision of the rural fire brigade or fire brigade for the district or an officer of the brigade or a fire control officer.

(2) A person who, being the holder of a fire permit, contravenes any condition of the fire permit is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.

93 Refusal to issue fire permit

An appropriate authority may refuse to issue a permit if:

- (a) issue of the permit would be inconsistent with any bush fire risk management plan, or
- (b) if the appropriate authority is a local authority—the local authority has determined in writing that no permits be issued for fires to be lit in its area (or any part of its area) because of the seriousness of bush fire danger in the area, or
- (c) the appropriate authority is otherwise authorised or required by the regulations or by or under this or any other Act to refuse to issue the permit.

94 Notice to be given of issue of fire permit

- (1) A council that issues a fire permit to light a fire on land in a fire district must notify the officer in charge of the fire station that is nearest to the land when issuing the permit.
- (2) An appropriate authority who issues a fire permit to light a fire on land specified in the regulations must give notice in an approved form to such persons or bodies as are prescribed by the regulations.

5

10

15

20

Claus	se 94	Rural Fires Bill 1997
Part 4 Divisio		Bush fire prevention
	(3)	An appropriate authority who gives a notice under this section must notify the person or body concerned if the appropriate authority cancels or suspends the permit.
95	Perm	nit not required for fires lit by public authorities
(1)		Nothing in this Division requires a public authority or a person acting under the direction of a public authority to hold a permit to light a fire.
	(2)	However, a public authority:
		(a) must not light a fire in any area of a local authority (or part of such an area) if it has been notified that a determination referred to in section 93 (b) has been made in respect of the area, and
		(b) must not light a fire in any rural fire district unless the fire control officer for the district has been advised that it is to be lit, and
		(c) must not light a fire on land in any fire district unless the officer in charge of the fire station that is nearest to the land has been advised that it is to be lit.
96	Appr	opriate authorities not determining authorities
	(1)	An appropriate authority is not, for the purposes of granting a fire permit, a determining authority within the meaning of Part 5 of the <i>Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979</i> . In addition, an appropriate authority is not a determining authority within the meaning of that Act merely because the authority can authorise another person to grant a permit.
	(2)	The issue of a fire permit under this Division does not affect any requirement to obtain a licence under Part 6 of the <i>Threatened Species Conservation Act</i> 1995.
97	Repo	orting requirements
	(1)	Within 3 months (or such other period as the Commissioner specifies) of the end of each financial year, a local authority must report to the Commissioner with respect to fire permits issued by it during the year.

10

15

20

25

- (2) A report is to include:
 - (a) details of the circumstances surrounding any bush fires in its area that appear to have been caused by the lighting of a fire authorised by a fire permit issued by the local authority, and
 - (b) details of any action taken with respect to permits that is inconsistent with any bush fire risk management plan applying to the area.

98 Issue of permit does not affect duty to prevent bush fires

The issue of a fire permit to an owner or occupier of land under this Division does not limit or affect the duty to prevent bush fires imposed on the owner or occupier under section 63.

Division 6 Total fire bans

99 Lighting of fires prohibited in certain circumstances

- (1) If the Minister is of the opinion that it is necessary or expedient in the interests of public safety to do so, the Minister may, by order in writing, direct that in the part or parts of the State specified in the order:
 - (a) the lighting, maintenance or use of any fire or class of fire in the open air is prohibited for such period or periods as may be specified in the order, and
 - (b) such special conditions as may be specified in the order be observed by persons lighting, maintaining or using any fire or class of fire in the open air and for such period or periods as may be specified in the order, and
 - (c) such action as may be specified in the order be taken by such persons or class of persons as may be specified in the order for preventing the outbreak or the spread of any bush fire or for controlling or suppressing any bush fire.
- (2) As soon as practicable after making a direction under this section, the Minister is:
 - (a) to cause notice of the direction to be broadcast by a television or radio station transmitting to the part or parts of the State concerned and in a newspaper circulating in those parts, and

Clause 9	9 Rural Fires Bill 1997	
Part 4 Division 6	Bush fire prevention	
	(b) to cause a copy of the order by which the direction is given to be published in the Gazette.	
(3)	The specification in any notice or order under this section of part of the State by reference to a zone defined by the regulations for the purpose is sufficient specification of a part of the State for the purposes of this section.	
(4)	If part of a local government area is specified in any order under this section the order applies to the whole of the local government area.	
(5)	The Minister may delegate to the Commissioner any of the Minister's functions under this section, other than this power of delegation.	1
(6)	Any person who fails to comply with any direction given by the Minister is guilty of an offence.	
	Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.	1
(7)	The provisions of this section have effect despite anything contained in this Act or any other Act to the contrary.	
Divisio	n 7 Lighting fires without authority	
100 Off	ences	2
(1)	A person who, without lawful authority:	
	(a) sets fire or causes fire to be set to the land or property of another person, the Crown or any public authority, or	
	(b) being the owner or occupier of any land, permits a fire to escape from that land under such circumstances as to cause or be likely to cause injury or damage to the person, land or property of another person or the land or property of the Crown or a public authority,	2
	is guilty of an offence.	
	Maximum penalty: 1,000 penalty units or imprisonment for 5 years, or both.	3

- (2) A person who, without lawful authority, leaves whether temporarily or otherwise any fire which the person has lit or used in the open air before the fire is thoroughly extinguished is guilty of an offence.
 - Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.
- (3) Nothing in subsection (2) requires any person to extinguish a fire in the open air that has been lit or used for the purpose of cooking, heating or preparing meals or boiling water or for any similar purpose in accordance with the regulations if, at the time of the person leaving it, the fire continues to be used by some other person.

	use		
		01	

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 5 Division 1 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

Part 5 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

Note. This Part requires local government councils and insurance companies to contribute, along with the State Government, to the costs of rural fire brigade expenditure. The total amount required to be contributed is based on estimated rural fire brigade expenditure.

Division 1 **Preliminary**

101 **Definitions**

In this Part:

insurance company means any body corporate, partnership, association, underwriter or person that or who:

10

issues or undertakes liability under policies of insurance against loss of or damage to any property situated in New South Wales, or

15

(b) receives premiums in respect of such policies of insurance on behalf of or for transmission to any body corporate, partnership, association, underwriter or person outside New South Wales.

20

- rural fire brigade expenditure, in relation to a specified period, means the aggregate of:
- recurrent expenditure incurred during the period in the exercise of the Commissioner's functions under this Act, and

(b) recurrent expenditure incurred during that period in respect of the administrative costs of the Service, Advisory Council, the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee or the Minister incurred under the authority of this Act.

25

Division 2 The Fund

102 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

(1) There is to be established in the Special Deposits Account in the Treasury a New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund into which are to be paid all contributions and other money received under this Part.

- (2) There is payable from the Fund:
 - (a) money to assist in meeting the costs of rural fire brigade expenditure, and
 - (b) any money payable in connection with the exercise of the duties imposed on the Commissioner by section 45 and the construction and maintenance of fire trails and other fire prevention and hazard reduction works, and
 - (c) all money directed to be paid from the Fund by or under this or any other Act.

Note. See for example section 20 of the *Workers Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Act 1987.*

- (3) The costs directly attributable to the administration of this Part and all expenses incurred by the Minister in the exercise of the Minister's functions under this Part must not, during any financial year, exceed 10% of the total expenditure from the Fund in respect of that financial year.
- (4) A written statement of the Minister is conclusive evidence as to the costs directly attributable to the administration of this Part and all expenses incurred by the Minister in the exercise of the Minister's functions under this Part.

Division 3 Estimates of Fund expenditure and contributions

103 Estimate to be prepared by Minister

- (1) The Minister must, before or as soon as practicable after the end of a financial year, prepare and, subject to the concurrence of the Treasurer, adopt:
 - (a) an estimate of the probable rural fire brigade expenditure, and
 - (b) an estimate of the parts of such expenditure applicable to each area of council,

for the next financial year.

30

25

Part 5 Division 3 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

(2) Before preparing the estimate, the Minister is to consider the report and recommendation of the Commissioner in respect of the matters referred to in subsection (1).

104 Councils etc to furnish information to Minister

For the purpose of enabling the Minister to prepare the estimates referred to in section 103 a council or rural fire brigade or a fire control officer must, at such times and in such manner as the Commissioner may require, furnish to the Commissioner such information relating to the rural fire brigades or other fire fighting personnel, the fire fighting apparatus of the rural fire brigades or personnel and such other matters relating to the organisation of the rural fire brigades or personnel as the Commissioner may require.

5

10

15

20

25

105 Times for instalment payments

The contributions payable under this Part (including advance payments) are to be paid on or before 1 July, 1 October, 1 January and 1 April in each financial year, or on or before such other days as the Commissioner may direct and notify to the contributors concerned.

106 Contributions due and payable within 60 days of assessment

- (1) Contributions payable under this Part are due and payable on assessment by the Minister and any such contribution not paid within 60 days of the date of assessment shown on the assessment notice is, unless the Minister otherwise determines, to be increased by 10% of the amount of the contribution payable.
- (2) Contributions or any part of contributions not paid by any insurance company or council within 90 days of the date of assessment and all penalties incurred in respect of failure to pay any contribution constitute a debt due and payable to the Minister and are recoverable in any court of competent jurisdiction by the Minister.

Page 54

10

15

20

107 Deficits and excesses in contributions

- (1) If, in any financial year, the amount received by the Minister from contributions under this Part falls short of the expenditure based on the estimate for that financial year, the deficit is to be added to the estimate of expenditure for the following year and the contributions are to be increased accordingly.
- (2) If the amount received by the Minister in any financial year, from contributions under this Part exceeds the expenditure based on the estimate for that financial year, then the excess is to be treated as a credit in favour of the estimated income of the following year and the contributions reduced accordingly.
- (3) For the purposes of this section any deficit or excess in respect of any financial year is to be the deficit or excess as certified by the Auditor-General.

Division 4 Contributions by Treasurer

Contributions by Treasurer

108

- (1) Of the amount required to be contributed to the Fund, the Treasurer must contribute 14%.
- (2) The Treasurer may, in addition to the contribution to the Fund under subsection (1), from time to time advance such money to the Fund subject to such terms and conditions as the Treasurer may determine.
- (3) Any money payable by the Treasurer under this section is to be paid out of money provided by Parliament.

Division 5 Contributions by local government areas

109 Contributions required from councils

(1) Of the amount required to be contributed to the Fund, 12.3% is to be contributed by the councils of each local government area or areas the whole or part of which is outside any fire district constituted under the *Fire Brigades Act 1989*.

30

Division 6 Contributions by insurance companies

111 Contributions required from insurance companies

Of the total amount required to be contributed to the Fund for a financial year, 73.7% is to be contributed by insurance companies in accordance with this Division.

10

20

112 Advance payment by insurance companies

- (1) An insurance company must, in each financial year, make an advance payment to the Commissioner pending an assessment under section 106.
- (2) The advance payment is to be an amount equal to the percentage fixed by the Minister in respect of that year of the total amount of the premiums subject to contribution under subsection (4) received by or due to the company during the financial year that ended one year before the financial year for which the advance payment is due.
- (3) The percentage fixed by the Minister is to be the percentage that will provide the total amount to be contributed under this Part by all insurance companies in respect of all rural fire districts in the financial year for which the contribution is required.
- (4) The amount of the premiums under any class of policies of insurance specified in Schedule 2 that is to be subject to contribution under this section is as indicated in that Schedule in respect of that class of policies of insurance.
- (5) If the Minister is satisfied that at least two-thirds of the insurance companies liable to contribute under this section desire that Schedule 2 be amended in a certain manner, and the Commissioner recommends the amendment, the Minister may by notice published in the Gazette, amend that Schedule accordingly.
- (6) Any such amendment takes effect from 1 July, or such other date, following publication of the notice as the Minister directs in the notice.

113 Definition of "total amount of the premiums"

For the purposes of this Division:

total amount of the premiums includes any brokerage or 30 commission paid or due to be paid or allowed on:

- (a) any such premium, or
- (b) any bonuses or return premiums allowed in respect of any policy of insurance the subject of any such premium, or

New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

(c) such part of the premiums received by or due to the company as is paid or due to be paid by way of reinsurance by the company to any other insurance company in New South Wales.

but does not include stamp duty payable in respect of any policy of insurance the subject of any such premium.

114 Adjustments

(1) If an insurance company submits a return under this Division in a financial year, the Commissioner is to notify the company of the required contribution in relation to the company for that year assessed in accordance with the following formula:

required contribution =
$$\frac{a \times b}{c}$$

where:

- "a" is the total amount of premiums subject to contribution specified in the return made by the company,
- "b" is the total amount to be contributed under this Division by all insurance companies in respect of all rural fire districts for the year to which the return relates,
- "c" is the total amount of all premiums subject to contribution specified in returns under this Division made by all insurance companies in respect of that year.
- (2) If the required contribution assessed in relation to an insurance company for a financial year is greater than the advance payment required to be made under this Division by the company for that financial year, the company must, not later than 31 December in the financial year in which the assessment is made or such later day as may be approved by the Commissioner, pay to the Commissioner the amount of the difference between the advance payment and the assessed amount.
- (3) If the required contribution is assessed for a financial year in which the company did not make an advance payment under this Division, the company must, not later than 31 December in the financial year in which the assessment is made or such later day as may be approved by the Commissioner, pay the amount assessed to the Commissioner.

35

30

5

10

15

20

10

15

20

25

30

- (4) If the required contribution assessed for a financial year is less than the amount of the advance payment required to be made under this Division by the company for that financial year, the Commissioner is to credit the amount of the difference against:
 - (a) any instalments that remain to be paid in respect of the advance payment for the financial year in which the assessment is made, and
 - (b) any instalments that will be required to be paid in respect of the advance payment to be made during the following financial year,

in such manner as the Commissioner may determine and, if any balance is outstanding at the end of the financial year referred to in paragraph (b), the Commissioner is to pay the amount outstanding to the company not later than the next 30 June.

- (5) If an insurance company:
 - (a) is entitled to a credit referred to in subsection (4) in respect of an advance payment under this Division, and
 - (b) did not receive, and was not entitled to receive, in the financial year in which the advance payment was made, any premium in respect of which it would have been required by this Division to submit a return, and
 - (c) the liabilities of the company in relation to the contributions under this Part have been discharged,

the Commissioner must, as soon as practicable, pay to the company the amount of the credit or, as the case may be, the balance outstanding.

115 Liability of owner where foreign insurer involved

- (1) This section applies to a person who is the owner of property in respect of which an insurance company has received a premium referred to in section 113 if the insurance company is not authorised under a law of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory to carry on insurance business.
- (2) The Commissioner may notify a person to whom this section applies that the person is to be responsible for the contributions required to be paid by the insurance company under this Part because of premiums received by the company in respect of the person's property, and in such a case:

New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

- (a) the person must pay to the Commissioner any amounts that would otherwise be payable by the company under this Part in respect of those premiums, and
- (b) the provisions of this Division are to apply to the person as if the person were the insurance company that received those premiums, subject to any modification of those provisions required by the regulations.

10

15

20

25

(3) An owner who fails to pay such an amount within 30 days after it falls due is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: 10 penalty units.

(4) The amount of such a payment may be deducted from any premium recoverable in the State by or on behalf of the company on the issue or renewal of any fire policy on the property or may be recovered from the company as a debt by the person making the payment.

(5) This section applies whether the premium concerned was received in or outside the State.

116 Returns by insurance companies

- (1) An insurance company must during September in each financial year, or at such other time during the financial year as the Commissioner may notify in the Gazette, submit to the Commissioner:
 - (a) a return in the approved form showing the total amount of premiums received by or due to the company for the previous financial year in respect of the insurance against loss of or damage to any property in the State under the classes of policies specified in Schedule 2, and
 - (b) a certificate in the approved form from an auditor.
- (2) An insurance company that ceases to receive, and to be entitled to receive, any premiums in respect of which it would have been required by this section to submit a return must, within 30 days, notify the Commissioner accordingly in writing.

10

15

20

25

- (3) If a notification under subsection (2) is received by the Commissioner:
 - (a) before 31 March in a financial year—the company is not discharged from its liability to pay any unpaid instalments of its advance payment under section 112 for that year, or
 - (b) on or after 31 March in a financial year—the company is not discharged from its liability to pay any unpaid instalments of its advance payment for that year or its advance payment for the next financial year.
- (4) An insurance company is guilty of an offence if it:
 - (a) fails to lodge a return or notify the Commissioner as required by this section, or
 - (b) lodges a return under this section that is false or misleading in a material particular.

Maximum penalty (subsection (4)):

- (a) under paragraph (a)—1 penalty unit for each day the default continues, or
- (b) under paragraph (b)—10 penalty units.

117 Audit of accounts of insurance companies

- (1) At the request of the Minister, the Auditor-General may examine and audit, or cause to be examined and audited, the accounts (and any books and documents relating to the accounts) of any insurance company liable to pay contributions under this Part.
- (2) The examination and audit is to be in respect of matters relating to or arising out of the provisions of this Part.
- (3) The Auditor-General is to forward a report on the audit to the Minister as soon as practicable after it is completed.
- (4) It is an offence for a person:
 - (a) to obstruct the Auditor-General, or any person acting on behalf of the Auditor-General, when exercising functions under this section, or

10

15

20

25

30

- (i) an amount equal to the proceeds of sale of any such equipment, and
- (ii) any amount recovered (whether under a policy of from **Fighters** insurance, tine Bush Fire Fund under Workers Compensation the Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Act 1987, or otherwise) in respect of the damage to, or destruction or loss of, any such equipment, and
- (b) if a part only of the cost of the purchase or construction of any such equipment was met by money to the credit of the Fund—an amount which bears to the amount that would be required by this subsection to be paid if the whole of that cost had been met by money to the credit of the Fund the same proportion as that part of the cost bears to the whole of that cost.
- (5) A council must take care of and maintain in the condition required by the Service Standards any fire fighting equipment vested in it under this section.
- (6) The Commissioner may, with the concurrence of the council in which fire fighting equipment is vested under this section, use any of the equipment not reasonably required by the council to deal with incidents in the area of the council to deal with incidents outside the area.

120 Consolidated fund of councils

- (1) Any of the following purposes are purposes to which the consolidated fund of a council may be applied under section 409 of the *Local Government Act 1993*:
 - (a) the purchase, distribution, maintenance and storage of fire fighting apparatus for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush and other fires,
 - (b) the organising of rural fire brigades and such matters as are relevant to doing so, including the establishment of fire stations and fire control centres,
 - (c) the establishment and maintenance of fire breaks.

New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

- (d) the removal or destruction of combustible matter,
- (e) the taking of measures generally for the prevention, mitigation or suppression of bush fires.

5

10

15

(2) For the purposes of section 495 of the *Local Government Act* 1993, any work relating to the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush and other fires is work in respect of which a council may make a special rate.

121 Distribution of annual report

As soon as practicable after the annual report which includes the financial statement prepared in accordance with Division 3 of Part 3 of the *Public Finance and Audit Act 1983* relating to the Fund has been laid before both Houses of Parliament or transmitted to the Clerk of the Parliaments and the Clerk of the Legislative Assembly, the Minister is to furnish to each council and each insurance company contributing to the Fund a copy of the annual report.

Part 6 Rural Fire Service Advisory Council

Note. Part 6 establishes a Rural Fire Service Advisory Council and provides for its composition, functions and procedure.

122 Establishment of Rural Fire Service Advisory Council

There is established by this Act a Rural Fire Service Advisory Council.

.

123 Membership and procedure of Advisory Council

- (1) The Rural Fire Service Advisory Council is to consist of 9 members as follows:
 - (a) the Commissioner, who is to be the Chairperson of the Council.

10

- (b) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Insurance Council of Australia.
- (c) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Local Government Association of New South Wales.

15

- (d) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Shires Association of New South Wales,
- (e) 3 persons appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the NSW Rural Fire Service Association, 2 of whom are to be members of rural fire brigades and one of whom is to be a fire control officer,

20

- (f) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the NSW Farmers Association,
- (g) a person nominated by the Nature Conservation Council of

25

(2) Schedule 1 has effect with respect to the members and procedures of the Advisory Council.

124 Functions of the Advisory Council

New South Wales.

(1) The Advisory Council has the following functions:

30

(a) to advise and report to the Minister and the Commissioner on any matter relating to the administration of rural fire services under this Act.

- (b) to advise the Commissioner on public education programs relating to rural fire matters and on training of rural fire fighters,
- (c) to advise the Commissioner on the issue of Service Standards,
- (d) such other functions as may be conferred or imposed on it by or under this or any other Act.
- (2) The Advisory Council may give advice and make reports whether or not the advice or reports were requested.

Part 7 Miscellaneous

125 Act binds Crown

This Act binds the Crown in right of New South Wales and, in so far as the legislative power of Parliament permits, the Crown in all its other capacities.

5

Councils and other bodies to furnish information to 126 Commissioner and the Co-ordinating Committee

Any person or body on which a function is conferred by or under this Act must furnish such information (and in such form) relating to the exercise of that function or the administration of this Act as the Commissioner or Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may reasonably require.

10

Liability of persons in respect of loss or damage caused by 127 bush or other fires

Except as expressly provided in this Act, nothing in this Act and no conviction, payment of penalty or proceeding taken under this Act affects or prejudices any civil claim, action or proceeding in respect of any loss or damage caused by any bush or other fire to which this Act relates or for any trespass committed.

15

Protection from liability 128

20

A matter or thing done or omitted to be done by a protected (1)person or body does not, if the matter or thing was done in good faith for the purpose of executing any provision (other than section 33) of this or any other Act, subject such person personally, or the Crown, to any action, liability, claim or demand.

25

30

In this section: (2)

protected person or body means the following:

- the Minister. (a)
- the Commissioner and any person acting under the (b) authority of the Commissioner,
- (c) any member of the Service,
- (d) a member of the Advisory Council or Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee,

- (e) the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades, the commissioner constituting the Forestry Commission, the Director-General of National Parks and Wildlife and any person acting under the authority of those persons,
- (f) an interstate fire brigade acting in pursuance of section 43.

Note. See section 731 of the *Local Government Act 1993* in respect of protection from liability of councils, councillors and employees of councils.

129 Commissioner may be represented at inquiry

- (1) The Commissioner may, at any inquest or inquiry relating to the cause or origin of any fire, be represented by a person appointed by the Commissioner for the purpose.
- (2) The Commissioner's representative may adduce evidence, examine witnesses and address the court at the inquest or inquiry.

130 Giving of notices

Except as otherwise expressly provided by this Act, a notice or direction required by or under this Act to be served on a person may be served as provided by the regulations.

20

25

131 Penalty notices

- (1) An authorised officer may serve a penalty notice on a person if it appears to the officer that the person has committed an offence against this Act or the regulations, being an offence prescribed by the regulations.
- (2) A penalty notice is a notice to the effect that, if the person served does not wish to have the matter determined by a court, the person may pay, within the time and to the person specified in the notice, the penalty prescribed by the regulations for the offence if dealt with under this section.
- (3) A penalty notice may be served personally or by post.
- (4) If the amount of the penalty prescribed for an alleged offence is paid under this section, no person is liable to any further proceedings for the alleged offence.
- (5) Payment under this section is not an admission of liability for the purposes of, and does not affect or prejudice, any civil claim, action or proceeding arising out of, the same occurrence.

(6)	The regulations may:			
	(a) prescribe an offence for the purposes of this section by specifying the offence by referring to the provision creating the offence, and			
	(b) prescribe the amount of penalty for an offence if dealt with under this section, and			
	(c) prescribe different amounts of penalty for different offences or classes of offences.			
(7)	The amount of penalty prescribed under this section for an offence may not exceed the maximum amount of penalty which could be imposed for the offence by a court.			
(8)	This section does not limit the operation of any other provision of, or made under, this or any other Act relating to proceedings which may be taken in respect of offences.			
(9)	In this section, <i>authorised officer</i> means, in relation to a particular offence, a person belonging to a class of persons specified in the regulations in relation to that offence.			
2 Po	wers of police officers			
(1)	A police officer who has reasonable grounds to suspect that person is committing an offence against this Act or regulations may direct the person:			
	(a) to state the person's full name and residential address to the police officer, or			
	(b) to produce any permit, notice or other document by or under the authority of which the person claims that a fire has been lit.			
(2)	contravention of a provision of this Act or the regulations:			
	(a) to extinguish the fire, or(b) if the fire is in the open air, to extinguish the fire before leaving the fire.			
(3)	A person to whom a direction is given under this section must not fail to comply with the direction.			
	Maximum penalty: 5 penalty units.			

- (4) A person is not guilty of an offence under this section unless the police officer explained to the person, when giving the direction, that failure to comply with the direction is an offence.
- (5) In this section:

light a fire includes:

5

10

15

20

- (a) maintain or use a fire, and
- (b) cause a fire to be lit, maintained or used.

133 Powers affecting land near certain bush fires

- (1) An authorised officer of a fire fighting authority may enter land within the prescribed distance from the land for which the fire fighting authority is responsible and do all such things as are reasonably necessary to suppress, or prevent the spread of, a bush fire from the land to the land for which the fire fighting authority is responsible.
- (2) An authorised officer may take the action referred to in subsection (1) whether or not the authorised officer has been requested to assist in suppressing or preventing the spread of the fire by the officer in charge of the land. However, if the authorised officer takes such action any arrangements set out in any bush fire management plan applying to the land or agreed with the authority responsible for the land must be observed.
- (3) In this section:

prescribed distance from land for which a fire fighting authority is responsible means:

(a) 8 kilometres from the land, or

(b) if another distance is specified in a bush fire management plan applying to land in the vicinity of the land for which the fire fighting authority is responsible—the distance specified.

134 Proceedings for offences

(1) Proceedings for an offence against this Act or the regulations are to be disposed of summarily before a Local Court constituted by a Magistrate sitting alone.

30

20

25

(2)	Part 9A of the <i>Criminal Procedure Act 1986</i> (which relates to the summary disposal of certain indictable offences unless an election is made to proceed on indictment) applies to and in respect of an offence under section 100 (1).
(3)	Proceedings for such an offence may be commenced at any time within 2 years after the date on which the offence is alleged to have been committed.
Requ	lations

135 Regulations

- (1) The Governor may make regulations, not inconsistent with this Act, for or with respect to any matter that by this Act is required or permitted to be prescribed or that is necessary or convenient to be prescribed for carrying out or giving effect to this Act.
- (2) Without limiting subsection (1), regulations may be made for or with respect to:
 - (a) the appointment of fire control officers, deputy fire control officers and acting fire control officers,
 - (b) appeals under this Act,
 - (c) the issue of permits,
 - (d) the establishment of fire breaks,
 - (e) the use of fire in the open,
 - (f) the escape of sparks into the open,
 - (g) the operation of internal combustion engines,
 - (h) the storage of combustible materials,
 - (i) the classification of substances as combustible,
 - (j) the constitution, rules and functions of committees,
 - (k) the service of notices or directions given under this Act,
 - (l) conduct and discipline of members of the Service,
 - (m) the membership, officers, functions and operation of rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades.
- (3) The regulations may create offences punishable by a penalty not exceeding 50 penalty units.

136 Repeal of Bush Fires Act 1949

The Bush Fires Act 1949 is repealed.

Clause 137

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Part 7

Miscellaneous

137 Savings and transitional provisions

Schedule 3 has effect.

138 Amendment of other laws

The Acts and statutory instruments specified in Schedule 4 are amended as set out in that Schedule.

5

139 Review of Act

- (1) The Minister is to review this Act to determine whether the policy objectives of the Act remain valid and whether the terms of the Act remain appropriate for securing those objectives.
- (2) The review is to be undertaken as soon as possible after the period of 5 years from the date of assent to this Act.
- (3) A report on the outcome of the review is to be tabled in each House of Parliament within 12 months after the end of the period of 5 years.

Schedule 1 Constitution and procedure of Advisory Council and Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

(Sections 47 and 123)

Part 1 General

5

1 Definitions

In this Schedule:

appointed member means a member of the Advisory Council or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee who is appointed by the Minister.

10

Chairperson means the Chairperson of the Advisory Council or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

member means any member of the Advisory Council or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

Part 2 Constitution

15

2 Terms of office of appointed members

Subject to this Schedule, an appointed member holds office for such period (not exceeding 5 years) as is specified in the member's instrument of appointment, but is eligible (if otherwise qualified) for re-appointment.

20

3 Remuneration

An appointed member is entitled to be paid such remuneration (including travelling and subsistence allowances) as the Minister may from time to time determine in respect of the member.

4 Deputies

25

(1) A member (other than an appointed member) may, from time to time, appoint a person to be the member's deputy, and may revoke any such appointment.

	nuidi Files bili 1997	
Schedule	Constitution and procedure of Advisory Council and Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	
(2)	The Minister may, from time to time, appoint a person to be the deputy of an appointed member, and may revoke any such appointment.	
(3)	The deputy of a member appointed on the recommendation of a particular body, group or person is to be appointed on the recommendation of that body, group or person.	5
(4)	In the absence of a member, the member's deputy may, if available, act in the place of the member.	
(5)	While acting in the place of a member, a person:	
	(a) has all the functions of the member and is taken to be a member, and	10
	(b) is entitled to be paid such remuneration (including travelling and subsistence allowances) as the Minister may from time to time determine in respect of the person.	
(6)	For the purposes of this clause, a vacancy in the office of a member is taken to be an absence of the member.	15
(7)	This clause does not operate to confer on a deputy of a member who is the Chairperson the member's functions as Chairperson.	
5 Vac	ancy in office of member	
(1)	The office of a member becomes vacant if the member:	20
	(a) dies, or	
	(b) completes a term of office and is not re-appointed, or	
	(c) resigns the office by instrument in writing addressed to the Minister, or	
	(d) is removed from office by the Minister under this clause or by the Governor under Part 8 of the <i>Public Sector Management Act 1988</i> , or	25
	(e) is absent from 3 consecutive meetings of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee of which reasonable notice has been given to the member personally or by post, except on leave granted by the Chairperson or unless the member is excused by the Chairperson for having been absent from those meetings, or	30

		(f)	becomes bankrupt, applies to take the benefit of any law for the relief of bankrupt or insolvent debtors, compounds with his or her creditors or makes an assignment of his or her remuneration for their benefit, or				
		(g)	becomes a mentally incapacitated person, or	5			
		(h)	is convicted in New South Wales of an offence that is punishable by penal servitude or imprisonment for 12 months or more or is convicted elsewhere than in New South Wales of an offence that, if committed in New South Wales, would be an offence so punishable.	10			
	(2)		Minister may at any time remove an appointed member office.				
6	Filling	g of v	acancy in office of appointed member				
			If the office of any appointed member becomes vacant, a person is, subject to this Act, to be appointed to fill the vacancy.				
7	7 Chairperson						
	(1)	The	Chairperson vacates office as Chairperson if:				
		(a)	he or she is removed from office by the Minister under this clause, or				
		(b)	ceases to be a member.	20			
	(2)	The office	Minister may at any time remove the Chairperson from e as Chairperson.				
8	Discl	osure	of pecuniary interests				
	(1)	If:					
		(a)	a member has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a matter being considered or about to be considered at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee, and	25			
		(b)	the interest appears to raise a conflict with the proper performance of the member's duties in relation to the consideration of the matter,	30			

Constitution and procedure of Advisory Council and Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

the member must, as soon as possible after the relevant facts have come to the member's knowledge, disclose the nature of the interest at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

- (2) A disclosure by a member at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee that the member:
 - (a) is a member, or is in the employment, of a specified company or other body, or
 - (b) is a partner, or is in the employment, of a specified person, or
 - (c) has some other specified interest relating to a specified company or other body or to a specified person,

is a sufficient disclosure of the nature of the interest in any matter relating to that company or other body or to that person which may arise after the date of the disclosure and which is required to be disclosed under subclause (1).

- (3) Particulars of any disclosure made under this clause must be recorded by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee in a book kept for the purpose and that book must be open at all reasonable hours for inspection by any person on payment of the fee determined by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (4) After a member has disclosed the nature of an interest in any matter, the member must not, unless the Minister or the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee otherwise determines:
 - (a) be present during any deliberation of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee with respect to the matter, or
 - (b) take part in any decision of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee with respect to the matter.
- (5) For the purposes of the making of a determination by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee under subclause (4), a member who has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a matter to which the disclosure relates must not:

35

5

10

15

20

- (a) be present during any deliberation of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee for the purpose of making the determination, or
- (b) take part in the making by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee of the determination.
- (6) A contravention of this clause does not invalidate any decision of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

9 Effect of certain other Acts

- (1) Part 2 of the *Public Sector Management Act 1988* does not apply to or in respect of the appointment of a member.
- (2) If by or under any Act provision is made:
 - (a) requiring a person who is the holder of a specified office to devote the whole of his or her time to the duties of that office, or
 - (b) prohibiting the person from engaging in employment outside the duties of that office,

the provision does not operate to disqualify the person from holding that office and also the office of a member or from accepting and retaining any remuneration payable to the person under this Act as a member.

(3) The office of a member is not, for the purposes of any Act, an office or place of profit under the Crown.

Part 3 Procedure

10 General procedure

The procedure for the calling of meetings of the Advisory Council and the Co-ordinating Committee and for the conduct of business at those meetings is, subject to this Act and the regulations, to be as determined by the Chairperson.

11 Validity of certain acts or proceedings

Any act or proceeding of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee is, even though at the time when the act or proceeding was done, taken or commenced there was: 5

10

15

20

25

Council or Co-ordinating Committee, or

a vacancy in the office of a member of the Advisory

(b) any defect in the appointment, or any disqualification of a member of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

as valid as if the vacancy, defect or disqualification did not exist and the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee were fully and properly constituted.

12 Quorum

- (1) The quorum for a meeting of the Advisory Council is 5 10 members.
- (2) The quorum for a meeting of the Co-ordinating Committee is 7 members.

13 Presiding member

(a)

- (1) The Chairperson (or, in the absence of the Chairperson, another member elected to chair the meeting by the members present) is to preside at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (2) The presiding member has a deliberative vote and, in the event of an equality of votes, has a second or casting vote.

14 Voting

A decision supported by a majority of the votes cast at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee at which a quorum is present is the decision of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

15 Subcommittees

- (1) The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may establish subcommittees to assist the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee in the exercise of its functions.
- (2) At least one of the members of a subcommittee must be a member of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee but it does not matter if none of the other members of a subcommittee is a member of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

15

20

25

- (3) The procedures for calling meetings of a subcommittee and for the conduct of those meetings are to be determined by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee (or, subject to any determination by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee) by the subcommittee.
- (4) The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may delegate to a subcommittee any of the functions of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee, other than this power of delegation.

16 Transaction of business outside meetings or by telephone

- (1) The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may, if it thinks fit, transact any of its business by the circulation of papers among all the members of the Council or Committee for the time being, and a resolution in writing approved in writing by a majority of those members is taken to be a decision of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (2) The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may, if it thinks fit, transact any of its business at a meeting at which members (or some members) participate by telephone, closed-circuit television or other means, but only if any member who speaks on a matter before the meeting can be heard by the other members.
- (3) For the purposes of:
 - (a) the approval of a resolution under subclause (1), or
 - (b) a meeting held in accordance with subclause (2), the Chairperson and each member have the same voting rights as they have at an ordinary meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (4) A resolution approved under subclause (1) is, subject to the regulations, to be recorded in the minutes of the meetings of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (5) Papers may be circulated among the members for the purposes of subclause (1) by facsimile or other transmission of the information in the papers concerned.

17 First meeting

The Minister may call the first meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee in such manner as the Minister thinks fit.

10

15

20

25

Schedule 2 Contributions of insurance companies

(Section 112)

	Column 1	Column 2
	Classes of policies of insurance	Amount of premiums subject to contribution
(1)	Any insurance of property and including consequential loss but not including any insurance of a class specified in items (2)–(8)	80%
(2)	Houseowners and householders, however designated (buildings or contents or both)	50%
(3)	Personal combined on personal jewellery and clothing, personal effects and works of art	10%
(4)	Motor vehicle and motor cycle	2.5%
(5)	Marine and baggage—any insurance confined to maritime perils or confined to risks involving transportation on land or in the air, and including storage incidental to the transportation by sea, land or air, but not including other Static Risks which are to be declared under item (1)	1%
	Note. Static Risks includes all movements of goods and/or stock and/or material associated with processing or storage operations at any situation.	
(6)	(a) Combined fire and hail on growing crops	1%
	(b) Livestock	1%
(7)	Aviation hull	Nil
(8)	Any insurance solely covering:	
	(a) Loss by theft	Nil
	(b) Plate glass	Nil
	(c) Machinery—confined to mechanical breakdown and/or consequential loss arising from mechanical breakdown	Nil
	(d) Explosion or collapse of boiler and pressure vessels—confined to damage other than by fire	Nil

Schedule 3 Savings and transitional provisions

(Section 137)

5

20

25

Part 1 General

1 Regulations

- (1) The regulations may contain provisions of a savings or transitional nature consequent on the enactment of this Act.
- (2) Any such provision may, if the regulations so provide, take effect from the date of assent to this Act or a later day.
- (3) To the extent to which any such provision takes effect from a date that is earlier than the date of its publication in the Gazette, the provision does not operate so as:
 - (a) to affect, in a manner prejudicial to any person (other than the State or an authority of the State), the rights of that person existing before the date of its publication, or
 - (b) to impose liabilities on any person (other than the State or an authority of the State) in respect of anything done or omitted to be done before the date of its publication.

Part 2 Provisions consequent on this Act

2 Commissioner and other public service staff

The repeal of the *Bush Fires Act 1949* does not affect the appointment of the person holding office as the Commissioner of Bush Fire Services at the time of the repeal or of any other staff under the *Public Sector Management Act 1988*.

3 Dissolution of Bush Fire Council, Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee and Finance Committee

(1) In this clause:

replaced body means:

(a) the Bush Fire Council, or

Page 81

15

20

25

30

35

(b)	the	Bush	Fire	Co-ordinating	Committee,	or
-----	-----	------	------	---------------	------------	----

(c) the Finance Committee,

within the meaning of the Bush Fires Act 1949, as in force immediately before the commencement of this clause.

- (2) On the commencement of this clause each replaced body is dissolved.
- (3) A person who, immediately before the commencement of this clause held office as a member of a replaced body:
 - (a) ceases to hold that office, and
 - (b) is not entitled to any remuneration or compensation 10 because of that loss of office,

but is entitled (if otherwise eligible) to hold the office on a replacing body.

4 Fire control officer

A person holding office as a fire control officer or deputy fire control officer for a bush fire district under the *Bush Fires Act* 1949 immediately before the commencement of section 34 is taken to have been appointed as the fire control officer or deputy fire control officer for that district as constituted as a rural fire district under this Act.

5 Bush fire brigades

- (1) A bush fire brigade formed or organised for a bush fire district under the *Bush Fires Act 1949* immediately before the commencement of section 15 is taken to be the rural fire brigade for the district as constituted as a rural fire district under this Act.
- (2) A member or officer of a bush fire brigade formed or organised for a bush fire district under the *Bush Fires Act 1949* immediately before the commencement of section 15 is taken to be a member or officer of the rural fire brigade for the district as constituted as a rural fire district under this Act.

6 Nomenclature

Despite clause 7, a bush fire brigade that by the operation of that clause is taken to be a rural fire brigade may resolve that it continue to be known as the "X bush fire brigade", X being the name of the rural fire brigade.

7 Reference to bodies

On and from the commencement of the relevant provision of this Act, a reference (however expressed) in any other Act (whether assented to before, on or after the commencement of this clause) or in any other instrument:

5

- (a) to a bush fire district is to be read as a reference to a rural fire district under this Act.
- (b) to a fire control officer for a bush fire district is to be read as a reference to a fire control officer for a rural fire district under this Act.

10

- (c) to a bush fire brigade is to be read as a reference to a rural fire brigade under this Act,
- (d) to a group of bush fire brigades is to be read as a reference to a group of rural fire brigades under this Act,

15

(e) to the New South Wales Bush Fire Fighting Fund is to be read as a reference to the New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund,

20

(f) to a Bush Fire Management Committee within the meaning of the *Bush Fires Act 1949* is to be read as a reference to a Bush Fire Management Committee constituted under Part 3,

25

(g) to a plan of operations or fuel management plan approved under section 41A of the *Bush Fires Act 1949* is to be read as a reference to a plan of operations or bush fire risk management plan, respectively, within the meaning of this Act.

8 Bush fire management plans

A plan of operations or fuel management plan prepared and submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee by a Bush Fire Management Committee within the meaning of the *Bush Fires Act 1949* is taken, until the day that is 2 years after the day it was approved under section 41A of that Act or unless it is sooner revoked, to be a plan of operations or bush fire risk management plan, respectively, that is in force under this Act.

Transfer of assets of Fire Prevention Associations

(1)	In	thic	0	ause:
()	111	11115		ause.

assets means any legal or equitable estate or interest (whether present or future and whether vested or contingent) in real or personal property of any description (including money), and includes choses in action and documents.

Association means Fire Prevention Association within the meaning of the Bush Fires Act 1949.

liabilities means all liabilities, debts and obligations (whether present or future and whether vested or contingent).

(2)On the commencement of this clause:

- the assets and liabilities of an Association become assets and liabilities of the Crown, and
- all proceedings by or against an Association pending (b) immediately before that day become proceedings pending by or against the Crown.

Certain fire control officers who are councillors to cease to hold office

- Despite section 36, a fire control officer or a deputy fire control (1)officer who, immediately before the commencement of that section is a councillor, continues, subject to this Act, to be such an officer for the balance of his or her term of office as a councillor.
- Any such fire control officer or a deputy fire control officer does (2)not, by virtue of holding that office, hold an office or place of profit for the purposes of section 275 (2) of the Local Government Act 1993.
- (3)In this clause:

councillor has the same meaning as it has in the Local Government Act 1993.

Fire patrol officers

A person who, immediately before the commencement of this clause, held office as a fire patrol officer, or honorary fire patrol officer, under the Bush Fires Act 1949:

- (a) ceases to hold that office, and
- is not entitled to any remuneration or compensation because of that loss of office.

Page 84

5

10

20

15

25

30

Schedule 4 Amendment of other laws

(Section 138)

4.1 Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust Regulation 1993

Clause 13 Damage to Trust lands, vegetation etc

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from clause 13 (j) (i). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

5

4.2 Clean Air (Control of Burning) Regulation 1995

Clause 4

Omit the clause. Insert instead:

4 Bush fire hazard reduction

10

This Regulation does not limit or affect any right or obligation to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work under the *Rural Fires Act 1997* that, in the opinion of the authority authorised to carry out the work, or local authority requiring the work to be carried out, is reasonably necessary for the protection of life, property or the environment.

15

4.3 Coroners Act 1980 No 27

Section 15 Inquiries into fires and explosions

Omit section 15 (3) (b). Insert instead:

20

(b) in the case of a bush fire within the meaning of the Rural Fires Act 1997 by the Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service, or

4.4	Criminal	Procedure	Act	1986	No	209	

[1] Section 33K Maximum penalties for Table 2 offences

Insert at the end of section 33K (2):

for an offence under section 100 (1) of the Rural Fires Act 1997—imprisonment for 2 years, or a fine of 100 penalty units, or both.

[2] Part 9A, Table 2 Indictable offences that are to be dealt with summarily unless prosecuting authority elects otherwise

Insert after Part 4:

Part 5 Offences relating to fires

10

9 Rural Fires Act 1997

An offence under section 100 (1) of the Rural Fires Act 1997.

4.5 Crown Lands (General Reserves) By-law 1995

Clause 23 Regulation of conduct within reserve

15

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from clause 23 (2) (1) (i). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.6 **Dangerous Goods Regulation 1978**

Clause 16 Prescription of dangerous goods

Insert after clause 16 (e):

20

(f) any matches other than those so made as to strike only on a preparation attached to the containing box or a box containing the same description of matches.

4.7	7	Driving	Instructors	Regulation	1993
•••		2		riogalation	

[1] Clause 4 Certain persons are not driving instructors (section 4 (3))

Omit "Bush Fire Services" from clause 4 (2). Insert instead "Rural Fire Service".

5

[2] Clause 4 (3)

Omit "bush fire brigades". Insert instead "rural fire brigades".

[3] Section 4 (3)

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

10

4.8 Environmental Offences and Penalties Act 1989 No 150

Section 27A Exemptions for Fire Brigades, rural fire brigades and other emergency services

Omit "bush fire brigade". Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

4.9 Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 1994

15

Clause 65 What additional matters must a consent authority take into consideration in determining a development application?

Omit "Bush Fire Services" from paragraph (e). Insert instead "Rural Fire Service".

\sim	. L	ed	 ۱.	4

Amendment of other laws

4.10 Fire Brigades Act 1989 No 19	4.10	Fire	Brigades	Act	1989	No	19
-----------------------------------	------	------	-----------------	-----	------	----	----

[1] Section 3 Definitions

Omit "bush fire brigade" from the definitions of *fire brigade* and *volunteer fire brigade* in section 3 (1).

Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

.

[2] Section 13 General powers of officers at fires and hazardous material incidents

Omit "section 41A of the *Bush Fires Act 1949*" from section 13 (2). Insert instead "section 52 of the *Rural Fires Act 1997*".

[3] Section 80 Information to policy holders

10

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 80 (2) (b). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.11 Forestry Act 1916 No 55

Section 11 Powers and duties of the commission

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 11 (1) (i). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

15

4.12 Freedom of Information (General) Regulation 1995

Schedule 3 Public Authorities

Omit the matter relating to the Bush Fire Council from Part 3. Insert instead:

20

Rural Fire Service Advisory Council NSW Rural Fire Service

4.13 Land and Environment Court Act 1979 No 204

Section 20 Class 4 environmental planning and protection and development contract civil enforcement

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949;" from section 20 (3) (a). Insert in alphabetical order of Acts "Rural Fires Act 1997,".

4.14 Local Government Act 1993 No 30

[1] Section 22 Other functions

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" and "Bush Fire Council" from the note to section 22.

Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997" and "Rural Fire Service Advisory Council" respectively.

[2] Section 428 Annual reports

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 428 (2) (i1). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.15 Lord Howe Island Act 1953 No 39

Section 11 General functions of the Board

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949 as amended by subsequent Acts" from section 11 (4) (b). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.16 Motor Traffic Regulations 1935

Regulation 34 Other exemptions from registration, licensing etc

Omit "bush fire brigade" from Regulation 34 (1) (a1). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

5

10

15

-				
Sch			-	A
->CI	160	ш	$\boldsymbol{\rho}$	4

Amendment of other laws

4 17	Motor	Vehicles	Taxation	Act	1988	No	111
4.17	MOLOI	VEHILLIES	Iaxaliuli	ACL	1300	110	

Section 16 Vehicles totally exempt from tax (cf Act No 34 of 1949, s 7)

Omit "bush fire brigade" from section 16 (1) (e). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

5

4.18 National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 No 80

[1] Sections 91AA (3) (b), 118A (3) (c), 118C (5) (c) and 118D (2) (c)

Omit "the *Bush Fires Act 1949*" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Part 2 of the *Rural Fires Act 1997*".

[2] Sections 99 (3) (a) and 112G (4) (a)

10

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.19 Occupational Health and Safety (Hazardous Substances) Regulation 1996

Dictionary

15

Omit paragraphs (c) and (h) of the definition of *emergency service*. Insert instead:

- (c) a rural fire brigade,
- (h) the Rural Fire Service.

4.20 Pay-roll Tax Act 1971 No 22

20

Section 10 Exemption from pay-roll tax

Omit "bush fire brigade under the Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 10 (1) (0).

Insert instead "rural fire brigade under the Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.21	Public	Finance	and	Δudit	Act	1983	No	152
7.21	I UDIIC	Illiance	anu	Auuii	ALL	1303	IVO	132

Schedule 3 Departments

Omit the matter relating to the Department of Bush Fire Services. Insert in alphabetical order of Departments:

Department of Rural Fire Service

Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service

5

4.22 Public Sector Management Act 1988 No 33

[1] Schedule 1 Departments

Omit the matter relating to the Department of Bush Fire Services. Insert in alphabetical order of Departments:

10

Department of Rural Fire Service

Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service

[2] Schedule 3B Senior executive positions

Omit the matter relating to the Department of Bush Fire Services from Part 1.

15

Insert in alphabetical order of Departments:

Department of Rural Fire Service

Senior Assistant Commissioner

Executive Director, Corporate Services

20

25

Director, Office for Emergency Services

4.23 Soil Conservation Act 1938 No 10

Section 21D Authority to destroy timber on protected land

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 21D (3) (f). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

Sched	 4	Amer

Amendment of other laws

4.24	State Emergency	and	Rescue	Management	Act	1989
	No 165					

[1] Section 3 Definitions

Omit "Bush Fire Brigades" from the definition of *emergency services organisation* in section 3 (1).

Insert instead "Rural Fire Brigades".

5

[2] Section 32A Definitions

Omit "bush fire brigade" from the definition of *emergency services* officer in section 32A.

Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

10

[3] Section 43 Composition of Board

Omit "Commissioner of Bush Fire Services" from section 43 (1) (e). Insert instead "Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service".

4.25 State Environmental Planning Policy No 4— Development Without Consent

15

[1] Clause 6 Subdivision

Omit "bush fire brigade" from clause 6 (1) (f). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

[2] Clause 11D Bush fire hazard reduction

Omit "plan of operations, within the meaning of section 41A of the Bush Fires Act 1949," from clause 11D (2) (a). Insert instead "bush fire management plan referred to in section 52 of the Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.26	State Environmental Planning Policy No 46—Protecti	or
	and Management of Native Vegetation	

Schedule 3 Exemptions

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from paragraph (f). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

5

4.27 Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995 No 101

Sections 71 (3), 88 (3) and 114 (3) (b)

Omit "the Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Part 2 of the Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.28 Western Lands Regulation 1992

10

Clause 28 Exemptions from the requirement to obtain a clearing licence (s 18DB (4) (c))

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from clause 28 (9). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.29 Workers Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Act 1987 No 83

15

[1] Section 5 Definitions (cf former s 17B (1))

Omit "bush fire brigade" and "bush fire brigades" wherever occurring (except in the definition of *bush fire brigade*). Insert instead "rural fire brigade" and "rural fire brigades" respectively.

20

[2] Section 5, definition of "bush fire brigade"

Omit the definition. Insert instead in alphabetical order:

rural fire brigade means any rural fire brigade formed under the Rural Fires Act 1997.

[3]	Section 8 Associated	operation	or	work	(cf	definition	of	"injury"	in
	former s 17B (1))								

Omit "bush fire brigade" wherever occurring. Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

[4] Section 18 Exclusion from Part—fire districts (cf former s 17A (1))

Omit "bush fire brigade" wherever occurring in section 18 (2). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

[5] Section 20 Assessment and payment of contributions to Fund (cf former s 17G)

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring from section 20 (3)–(6).

Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

[6] Section 20 (4)

Omit "New South Wales Bush Fire Fighting Fund".

Insert instead "New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund".

15

4.30 Workers Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Regulation 1995

[1] Clause 3 Definitions

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from the definition of fire control officer. 20
Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

[2] Clause 9 Associated operation or work fund-raising activities

Omit "bush fire brigade". Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

10

15

20

25

30

Dictionary

In this Act:

Advisory Council means the Rural Fire Service Advisory Council.

approved form means a form approved for the time being by the Minister.

area of a local authority means the area in relation to which the local authority exercises its functions.

authorised officer of a fire fighting authority or other authority means an officer of, or person authorised to exercise functions, conferred on authorised officers under this Act by, a fire fighting authority or other authority.

brigade member means a person shown on the register of a rural fire brigade as a member of the brigade.

bush fire includes a grass fire.

bush fire danger period means a period fixed by or under section 81 or 82 as a bush fire danger period.

bush fire hazard reduction notice means a notice under section 66.

bush fire hazard reduction work means:

- (a) the establishment or maintenance of fire breaks on land, and
- (b) the controlled application of appropriate fire regimes or other means for the reduction or modification of available fuels within a predetermined area to mitigate against the spread of a bush fire but does not include construction of a track, trail or road.

bush fire management plan means a plan of operations or a bush fire risk management plan.

bush fire risk management plan means a plan prepared under Division 4 of Part 3 for the purpose referred to in section 54.

combat agency see section 4.

combustible matter means:

- (a) any matter or substance capable of ignition by the application of heat, fire, flame or sparks or spontaneously, and
- (b) any matter or substance prescribed by the regulations as combustible matter for the purposes of this definition.

Commissioner means the Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service.	
Co-ordinating Committee means the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.	
council means a council or county council within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1993.	
Crown land has the same meaning as in the Crown Lands Act 1989.	5
Note. Crown land, as defined in the <i>Crown Lands Act 1989</i> , means land that is vested in the Crown or was acquired under the Closer Settlement Acts as in force before their repeal, not in either case being: (a) land dedicated for a public purpose, or (b) land that has been sold or lawfully contracted to be sold and in respect of which the purchase price or other consideration for the sale has been received by the Crown.	10
Displan see section 4.	
emergency see section 4.	
emergency services organisation see section 4.	15
exercise of a function includes the performance of a duty.	
financial year means the period from 1 July to the following 30 June.	
fire brigade means a fire brigade within the meaning of the Fire Brigades Act 1989.	
fire control officer means a fire control officer appointed under this Act.	20
fire district means land within a fire district constituted under the Fire Brigades Act 1989.	
<i>fire fighting apparatus</i> includes all vehicles, equipment and other things used for or in connection with the prevention or suppression of fire or the protection of life or property in case of fire.	25
fire fighting authority means the following:	
(a) the Service,	
(b) New South Wales Fire Brigades,	
(c) the National Parks and Wildlife Service,	
(d) the Forestry Commission,	30
(e) any other body prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this definition.	

fire I	permit	means	a	permit	issued	under	section	89
--------	--------	-------	---	--------	--------	-------	---------	----

Forestry Commission means the Forestry Commission of New South Wales.

function includes a power, authority or duty.

Fund means the New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund.

group of rural fire brigades means two or more rural fire brigades that comprise a group of rural fire brigades formed under section 15.

insurance company see section 101.

light a fire see section 85.

local authority means:

- (a) in relation to land that is situated within an area within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1993—the council of the area, or
- (b) in relation to land within the Western Division—the Western Lands Commissioner, or
- (c) in relation to Lord Howe Island—the Lord Howe Island Board.

managed land means land that is:

- (a) dedicated or reserved, or acquired for the purpose of dedication or reservation, under the *Forestry Act 1916*, or in respect of which the Forestry Commission has obtained the benefit of a forestry right as referred to in section 11 (1) (m) (iia) of that Act, or
- (b) dedicated or reserved, or acquired for the purpose of dedication or reservation, under the *National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974*, or
- (c) vested in, or under the control of, the State Rail Authority or Rail Access Corporation, or
- (d) land within the catchment area of a water authority, or
- (e) other land prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this definition.

Management Committee means a Bush Fire Management Committee constituted under Part 3.

members	of	the	Service	means	the	persons	comprising	the	NSW	Rural	Fire
Service.						-					

occupier of land means:

(a) the person who has the management or beneficial use of the land (whether resident on the land or not), or

(b) if the land is a public reserve or park—the trustees or any person having the care, control and management of the land.

officer of a rural fire brigade (or group of rural fire brigades) means the holder of a rank designated as the position of an officer by the Commissioner under section 12.

or the

officer in charge at a fire at which a rural fire brigade is present for the purpose of mitigating or suppressing the fire means:

- (a) the Commissioner, or
- (b) if the Commissioner is absent, the person for the time being in charge of the members of the rural fire brigade present at that fire.

15

20

5

10

owner of land:

- (a) in relation to Crown land, means the Crown and includes:
 - (i) a lessee of land from the Crown, and
 - (ii) a person to whom the Crown has lawfully contracted to sell the land but in respect of which the purchase price or other consideration for the sale has not been received by the Crown, and
- (b) in relation to land other than Crown land, includes:
 - (i) every person who jointly or severally, whether at law or in equity, is entitled to the land for any estate of freehold in 25 possession, and
 - (ii) every such person who is entitled to receive, or is in receipt of, or if the land were let to a tenant would be entitled to receive, the rents and profits of the land, whether as beneficial owner, trustee, mortgagee in possession, or otherwise, and

	(iii)	in the case of land that is the subject of a strata scheme under the Strata Titles Act 1973 or a leasehold strata scheme under the Strata Titles (Leasehold) Act 1986, the body corporate under that scheme, and	
	(iv)	in the case of land that is a community, precinct or neighbourhood parcel within the meaning of the <i>Community Land Development Act 1989</i> , the association for the parcel, and	5
	(v)	every person who by this Act is taken to be the owner, and	
(c)		ation to land subject to a mining lease under the <i>Mining Act</i> the holder of the lease.	10
		rations means a plan prepared under Division 4 of Part 3 for the ferred to in section 53.	
and a	ny land	cludes any building of any description or any part of a building if whether built on or not but does not include any building on, or g part of, managed lands.	15
public	auth	ority means:	
(a)		ublic or local authority constituted by or under an Act other than act, or	
(b)	any C	Sovernment Department, or	
(c)	a stat	utory body representing the Crown, or	20
(d)	a Sta	te owned corporation, or	
(e)	any p	erson prescribed by the regulations as a public authority.	
rural	fire b	rigade means a rural fire brigade formed under Part 2.	
rural	fire di	istrict means a rural fire district within the meaning of Part 1.	
rural	fire s	ervices see section 9 (4).	25
Servi	ce mea	ans the NSW Rural Fire Service established under Part 2.	
<i>Servio</i> under	ce Star	and and ards means the policy statements issued by the Commissioner on 13 as in force from time to time.	
		a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades means the the brigade or group as determined under section 19.	30

Rural Fires Bill 1997

Dictionary

tree includes bush, shrub, scrub, timber, grass or vegetative or other material.

unoccupied Crown land means Crown land that is not:

- (a) held under lease or licence, or
- (b) vested in, or under the control of, trustees.

vehicle means any means of transport whether self-propelled or not, and whether used on land or water or in the air.

5

Western Division means the Western Division established under the Crown Lands Act 1989.



Rural Fires Act 1997 No 65

Contents

		Page
Part 1	Preliminary	
	1 Name of Act	2
	2 Commencement	2
	3 Objects of Act	2
	4 Definitions	2
	5 Notes	3
	6 Rural fire districts	3
	7 Responsible local authorities in rural fire districts	4
Part 2	NSW Rural Fire Service	
	Division 1 The Service	
	8 NSW Rural Fire Service	5
	9 Functions of Service	5

	ı	Page
Divisi	ion 2 The Commissioner and other staff of Service	
10	The Commissioner and other staff	6
11	Ministerial control	7
12	Functions of Commissioner	7
13	Service Standards	8
14	Delegation by Commissioner	8
Divisi	ion 3 Rural fire brigades	
15	Formation of rural fire brigades	8
16	Formation of groups of rural fire brigades	9
17	Disbandment of rural fire brigades	9
18	Area of operations and officers of rural fire brigades	10
19	Area of operations and officers of groups of rural fire brigades	10
20	Members of rural fire brigades	10
21	Functions of officers of rural fire brigades	10
22	General powers of rural fire brigade officers	11
23	Power to enter premises	11
24	Closure of streets and public places	11
25	Making premises safe	12
26	Use of water and works	12
27	Permission of State Rail Authority or Rail Access	40
00	Corporation required	12 13
28	Damage to property	13
29	Notice of entry	13
30 31	Care to be taken Use of force	13
32	Authority to enter premises	14
33	Voluntary work by rural fire brigade	14
33	Voluntary work by rural life brigade	14
Divis	ion 4 Fire control officers	
34	Appointment of fire control officer and deputies	15
35	Acting fire control officer	16
36	Councillors not to be appointed as fire control	
	officers, deputy fire control officers or acting fire	
c=	control officers	16
37 38	Responsibility of fire control officer and local authority	17 17
.38	FUNCTIONS OF THE CONTROL OUICEL	1/

			Dane
			Page
	Divis	ion 5 Command structure	
	39	Commissioner may authorise officers and members of rural fire brigades to exercise functions	18
	40	Officer in charge may authorise others to exercise functions	18
	41	Duty to recognise authority of officers	19
	42	Obstruction etc of Commissioner and other members of Service	19
	43	Interstate assistance at fires	19
Part 3	Co-c	ordinated bush fire fighting	
	Divis	ion 1 Co-ordination of bush fire fighting by Commissioner	
	44	Commissioner's responsibility	21
	45	Power to give directions etc	22
	Divis	ion 2 Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	
	46	Constitution of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	23
	47	Membership and procedure of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	23
	48	Functions of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	24
	49	Delegation	25
	Divis	ion 3 Bush Fire Management Committees	
	50	Bush Fire Management Committees	25
	51	Functions of Bush Fire Management Committees	25
	Divis	ion 4 Preparation of draft bush fire management plans	
	52	Bush Fire Management Committees to prepare plans	26
	53	Content of draft plan of operations	26
	54	Content of draft bush fire risk management plan	27
	55	General content	27
	56	Failure of Management Committee	28

			Page
	Divis	ion 5 Public participation in preparation of plans	
	57	Public notice of draft bush fire risk management plans	28
	58	Adoption of bush fire risk management plans	28
	59	Adoption of bush fire plans of operation	29
	60	Co-ordination of planning by bush fire management plans	30
	61	Amendment, revocation and cessation of bush fire management plans	31
	62	Public availability of bush fire management plans and draft bush fire management plans	31
Part 4	Bus	h fire prevention	
	Divis	ion 1 Duty to prevent bush fires	
	63	Duties of public authorities and owners and occupiers of land to prevent bush fires	32
	64	Occupiers to extinguish fires or notify fire fighting authorities	33
	Divis	ion 2 Bush fire hazard reduction	
	65	Reduction of fire hazards on unoccupied Crown land and managed land	33
	66	Bush fire hazard reduction work required by local authorities	34
	67	Objection to notices	35
	68	Appeal against notices	36
	69	Duties of local authority	37
	70	Bush fire hazard reduction work in default of compliance with notice	38
	71	Defence to court proceedings	39
	72	Certain damage to property caused by bush fire hazard reduction work covered by fire insurance	39
	73	Bush fire hazard reduction by the Commissioner	39
	74	Local authority to review incidence of bush fire hazards	40

		Page
Divis	sion 3 Damage by fire to dividing fences and other matters	
75	Definitions	40
76	Notices to repair or restore dividing fences	41
77	Recovery of costs	42
78	Jurisdiction of Local Court	42
79	Entry to land to extinguish fire	42
80	Entry to certain land to establish fire breaks	42
Divis	sion 4 Bush fire danger period	
81	General bush fire danger period	43
82	Local bush fire danger period	43
83	Concurrence required before local bush fire danger period declaration made	44
84	Notice of bush fire danger period	44
Divi	sion 5 Permits and notice requirements	
85	Definitions	44
86	Notice required before certain fires lit	45
87	Lighting fires for land clearance or fire breaks in bush fire danger period	45
88	Lighting fires that are dangerous to buildings in fire districts	45
89	Issue of permits	46
90	Duration of permits	46
91	Cancellation or suspension of permits	46
92	Conditions of permit	47
93	Refusal to issue fire permit	47
94	Notice to be given of issue of fire permit	47
95	Permit not required for fires lit by public authorities	48
96	Appropriate authorities not determining authorities	48
97	Reporting requirements	48
98	Issue of permit does not affect duty to prevent bush fires	49
Divis	sion 6 Total fire bans	
99	Lighting of fires prohibited in certain circumstances	49
Divis	sion 7 Lighting fires without authority	
100	Offences	50

			Page
Part 5	New	South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund	
	Divisi	on 1 Preliminary	
	101	Definitions	52
	Divisi	on 2 The Fund	
	102	New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund	52
	Division	on 3 Estimates of Fund expenditure and contributions	
	103	Estimate to be prepared by Minister	53
		Councils etc to furnish information to Minister	54
		Times for instalment payments	54
		Contributions due and payable within 60 days of assessment	54
		Deficits and excesses in contributions	55
	Divisio	on 4 Contributions by Treasurer	
	108	Contributions by Treasurer	55
	Divisio	on 5 Contributions by local government areas	
	109	Contributions required from councils	55
		Determination of contributions of councils	56
	Divisio	on 6 Contributions by insurance companies	
	111	Contributions required from insurance companies	56
	112	Advance payment by insurance companies	57
		Definition of "total amount of the premiums"	57
		Adjustments	58
		Liability of owner where foreign insurer involved	59
		Returns by insurance companies	60
	117	Audit of accounts of insurance companies	61
		on 7 Miscellaneous	
		Application of the Fund	62
	119	Maintenance and disposal of fire fighting equipment purchased from Fund	62
	120	Consolidated fund of councils	63
	121	Distribution of annual report	64

			Page
Part 6	Rura	al Fire Service Advisory Council	
	122 123	Establishment of Rural Fire Service Advisory Council Membership and procedure of Advisory Council	65 65
	124		65
 Part 7	Misc	cellaneous	
	125	Act binds Crown	67
	126	Councils and other bodies to furnish information to Commissioner and the Co-ordinating Committee	67
	127	Liability of persons in respect of loss or damage caused by bush or other fires	67
	128	Protection from liability	67
	129	Commissioner may be represented at inquiry	68
	130	Giving of notices	68
	131	Penalty notices	68
	132	Powers of police officers	69
	133	Powers affecting land near certain bush fires	70
	134	Proceedings for offences	70
	135	Regulations	71
	136	Repeal of Bush Fires Act 1949	71
	137	Savings and transitional provisions	72
	138	Amendment of other laws	72
	139	Review of Act	72
Schedu	les		
	1	Constitution and procedure of Advisory Council and Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee	73
	2	Contributions of insurance companies	80
	3	Savings and transitional provisions	81
	4	Amendment of other laws	85
 Dictiona	ary		95

74						
						STATE OF STREET
The second secon	The second state of the se	The state of the s	CONTRACTOR OF THE PERSON OF TH		CONTRACTOR OF THE PROPERTY OF	



Rural Fires Act 1997 No 65

Act No 65, 1997

An Act to establish the NSW Rural Fire Service and define its functions; to make provision for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of rural fires; to repeal the *Bush Fires Act 1949*; to amend certain other Acts; and for other purposes. [Assented to 10 July 1997]

Part 1

Preliminary

The Legislature of New South Wales enacts:

Part 1 Preliminary

Note. This Part contains provisions that are helpful in understanding the Act as a whole, as well as some machinery provisions. It also provides for the constitution of all those parts of the State that are not within fire districts (within the meaning of the *Fire Brigades Act 1989*) as rural fire districts.

1 Name of Act

This Act is the Rural Fires Act 1997.

2 Commencement

This Act commences on a day or days to be appointed by proclamation.

3 Objects of Act

The objects of this Act are to provide:

- (a) for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush and other fires in local government areas (or parts of areas) and other parts of the State constituted as rural fire districts, and
- (b) for the co-ordination of bush fire fighting and bush fire prevention throughout the State, and
- (c) for the protection of persons from injury or death, and property from damage, arising from fires, and
- (d) for the protection of the environment by requiring certain activities referred to in paragraphs (a)–(c) to be carried out having regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the *Protection of the Environment Administration Act 1991*.

4 Definitions

(1) Definitions are contained in the Dictionary at the end of this Act.

Note. Expressions used in this Act (or in a particular provision of this Act) that are defined in the *Interpretation Act 1987* have the meanings set out in that Act.

- (2) Words and expressions used in the State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989 and in this Act have the same meanings in this Act as they have in the 1989 Act.
- (3) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply to the extent that the context or subject-matter otherwise indicates or requires.

Note. Some expressions defined in the State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989 that are used in this Act are:

combat agency means the agency identified in Displan as the agency primarily responsible for responding to a particular emergency.

Displan means the State Disaster Plan referred to in section 12.

emergency means an emergency due to an actual or imminent occurrence (such as fire, flood, storm, earthquake, explosion, accident, epidemic or warlike action) which:

- (a) endangers, or threatens to endanger, the safety or health of persons in the State, or
- (b) destroys or damages, or threatens to destroy or damage, property in the State.

being an emergency which requires a significant and co-ordinated response. **emergency services organisation** means the Police Service, Fire Brigades, Rural Fire Brigades, Ambulance Service, State Emergency Service, Volunteer Rescue Association or any other agency which manages or controls an accredited rescue unit.

5 Notes

Notes in the text of this Act do not form part of this Act.

6 Rural fire districts

(1) A rural fire district is constituted by this section for the area of each local authority, with boundaries of the district being the same as the boundaries of the area as at the date of commencement of this section.

Note. The Dictionary defines **area** of a local authority. The area of a council is land within the local government area of the council. The area of the Western Lands Commissioner is the Western Division. The area of the Lord Howe Island Board is Lord Howe Island.

(2) A rural fire district is not constituted by this section for, and does not include, any land within an area that is within a fire district.

Note. A *fire district* means land within a fire district constituted under the *Fire Brigades Act 1989*.

- (3) If the boundaries of the area of a local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted by this section change after the commencement of this section, the boundaries of the rural fire district change so as to correspond to the boundaries of the area.
- (4) If the whole of the area of a local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted by this section is dissolved after the commencement of this section, the rural fire district is dissolved.
- (5) If part of the area of a local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted is dissolved after the commencement of this section, the rural fire district constituted for the area is taken to have been constituted for the remaining part of the area.

7 Responsible local authorities in rural fire districts

- (1) A function conferred or imposed by or under this Act on a local authority for and in respect of a rural fire district is to be exercised:
 - (a) by the local authority for the area for which the district is constituted under section 6, or
 - (b) if, under subsection (2), two or more local authorities agree to combine responsibility for and in respect of their rural fire districts—by the local authority or local authorities nominated in the agreement, or
 - (c) if, under subsection (3), two local authorities agree that one of the local authorities is to have responsibility for and in respect of the whole or part of the rural fire district of the other local authority—by the local authority nominated in the agreement as the local authority to be responsible for the whole or part of that rural fire district.
- (2) Two or more local authorities may, with the approval of the Minister, agree in writing to combine responsibility for and in respect of their rural fire districts and nominate which of them is to be responsible for those rural fire districts.
- (3) A local authority may, with the approval of the Minister, agree in writing with another local authority that the other local authority have responsibility for or in respect of the whole or part of the rural fire district for the area of the local authority.

Part 2 Division 1

Part 2 NSW Rural Fire Service

Note. This Part establishes the NSW Rural Fire Service, and provides for its composition, functions and management. The Service is to be managed and controlled by the Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service. The Commissioner is responsible for issuing the Service Standards, which are the guidelines in respect of the standard operating procedures to be followed by members of the Service. The Commissioner determines the duties of certain members of the Service (staff of the Service and the fire control officers and deputy fire control officers). The fire control officers and deputy fire control officers are appointed by the local authorities of areas constituting rural fire districts and are responsible for a number of functions, including the supervision and direction of functions exercised by or under the Act by rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades.

Division 1 The Service

8 NSW Rural Fire Service

- (1) There is established by this Act the NSW Rural Fire Service.
- (2) The Service comprises the following members:
 - (a) the Commissioner and other staff of the Service,
 - (b) fire control officers and deputy fire control officers,
 - (c) volunteer rural fire fighters.
- (3) In this Act:

volunteer rural fire fighters means:

- (a) officers and other members of rural fire brigades, and
- (b) any person other than a member of a rural fire brigade who, without remuneration or reward, voluntarily and without obligation engages in fighting (or in activities associated with fighting) a fire with the consent of or under the authority and supervision of an officer of a rural fire brigade.

9 Functions of Service

- (1) The NSW Rural Fire Service has the following functions:
 - (a) to provide rural fire services for New South Wales,
 - (b) to assist other emergency services organisations at incidents and at emergencies under the control of those organisations,

NSW Rural Fire Service

Note. The State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989 provides for Displan to identify combat agencies primarily responsible for responding to an emergency. The Service is identified as the agency primarily responsible for responding to an emergency due to fire occurring in rural fire districts.

- (c) to carry out such other functions as may be assigned to it by or under this or any other Act,
- (d) to do anything necessary for, or incidental to, the exercise of its functions.
- (2) The functions of the Service are to be exercised in accordance with the State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989 and, in particular, with the requirements under Displan or any state of emergency under that Act.
- (3) The Service is to have regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the *Protection of the Environment Administration Act 1991* in carrying out any function that affects the environment.
- (4) In this section:

rural fire services includes the following:

- (a) services for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of fires in rural fire districts,
- (b) the protection of persons from dangers to their safety and health, and property from destruction or damage, arising from fires in rural fire districts.
- (c) the provision of services referred to in paragraphs (a) and(b) throughout the State in accordance with Part 3,
- (d) any other service prescribed by the regulations.

Note. Other provisions of this Act also affect the exercise of Service functions. See, for example, sections 38 and 133 (2).

Division 2 The Commissioner and other staff of Service

10 The Commissioner and other staff

(1) A Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service and such other staff as may be necessary for the purposes of this Act are to be employed under Part 2 of the *Public Sector Management Act* 1988.

- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply to the members of the Service referred to in section 8 (2) (b) and (c).
- (3) The Commissioner may arrange for the use of the services of any staff (by secondment or otherwise) or facilities of a Government Department or public authority.
- (4) For the purposes of this Act, a person whose services are made use of under this section is a member of the staff of the Service.

11 Ministerial control

The Commissioner is, in the exercise of the Commissioner's functions, subject to the control and direction of the Minister.

12 Functions of Commissioner

- (1) The Commissioner is responsible for managing and controlling the activities of the Service and has such other functions as are conferred or imposed on the Commissioner by or under this or any other Act.
- (2) The Commissioner may determine the various duties that members of the staff of the Service, fire control officers and deputy fire control officers are required to perform and allocate the duties to be carried out by each member of staff of the Service, fire control officers and deputy fire control officers.
- (3) The Commissioner may, when the Commissioner considers it appropriate to do so, conduct an audit of all or any activities of members of the Service to determine whether the members are carrying out the activities effectively and doing so efficiently and in compliance with the Service Standards.
- (4) The ranks of members of the Service are to be determined by the Commissioner.
- (5) The Commissioner (on behalf of the Crown) may make or enter into contracts or arrangements with any person for the carrying out of works or the performance of services or the supply of goods or materials in connection with the exercise of the functions of the Service.
- (6) This section is subject to the other provisions of this Act and the regulations.

NSW Rural Fire Service

13 Service Standards

- (1) The Commissioner may from time to time issue written policy statements to members of the Service for or with respect to procedures to be followed in connection with the operation, management and control of the Service.
- (2) Without limiting the matters with respect to which statements may be issued under this section, statements may be issued in respect of standard operating procedures, including procedures in respect of the following:
 - (a) fire reporting,
 - (b) operational co-ordination,
 - (c) operational planning,
 - (d) bush fire risk management planning,
 - (e) fire fighting assistance planning,
 - (f) standards of fire cover reporting,
 - (g) implementation of training standards,
 - (h) communications,
 - (i) brigade management,
 - (j) community education,
 - (k) protocols on relevant matters,
 - (l) health and safety.
- (3) The Commissioner is, wherever practicable, to consult with the Advisory Council before issuing policy statements under this section.

14 Delegation by Commissioner

The Commissioner may delegate to any member of the Service any of the Commissioner's functions under this Act, other than this power of delegation.

Division 3 Rural fire brigades

15 Formation of rural fire brigades

(1) A local authority may form one or more rural fire brigades for any rural fire district constituted for its area or part of its area.

- (2) Two or more local authorities may jointly form a rural fire brigade for a rural fire district constituted for their areas.
- (3) A rural fire brigade may be formed on the initiative of the local authority or local authorities concerned or on the request of any interested person.
- (4) The Commissioner may form a rural fire brigade for a rural fire district if any local authority requested to form a rural fire brigade for that district refuses or fails to do so within the period prescribed by the regulations after being requested to do so by the Commissioner.

16 Formation of groups of rural fire brigades

The fire control officer for a rural fire district may form two or more rural fire brigades formed for the district into a group of rural fire brigades.

17 Disbandment of rural fire brigades

- (1) A rural fire brigade may be disbanded at any time by the person or body who formed it by notice in writing given to the officer in charge of the rural fire brigade.
- (2) The disbandment takes effect 21 days after the notice is given.
- (3) The officer in charge of the rural fire brigade concerned may, with the agreement of a majority of the members of the rural fire brigade, lodge an appeal in writing to the Minister against the decision to disband the rural fire brigade.
- (4) The appeal must be lodged before the disbandment takes effect.
- (5) After hearing the appeal, the Minister may:
 - (a) confirm the disbandment, or
 - (b) withdraw the notice.
- (6) The disbandment of a rural fire brigade that is the subject of an appeal does not take effect until the appeal is either withdrawn or finally determined by the Minister and the result notified to the officer in charge of the rural fire brigade concerned.

Part 2 Division 3 **NSW Rural Fire Service**

18 Area of operations and officers of rural fire brigades

The body or person that forms a rural fire brigade is:

- (a) to determine the territory in which the brigade is to operate, and
- (b) to appoint as the officers for the brigade those persons selected, in accordance with the Service Standards, to be officers for the brigade by the members of the brigade.

Note. Under section 47 of the *Interpretation Act 1987*, conferral of a power to appoint a person to an office includes a power to remove or suspend the person from the office.

19 Area of operations and officers of groups of rural fire brigades

- (1) The fire control officer who forms a group of rural fire brigades is to determine the territory in which the group is to operate.
- (2) The officers of the rural fire brigades forming a group of rural fire brigades are those persons selected, in accordance with the Service Standards, to be officers for the group by the members of the rural fire brigades forming the group. A person selected to be an officer holds office for the period specified in the Service Standards.

20 Members of rural fire brigades

- (1) The body or person that forms a rural fire brigade is required to keep a register of members of the brigade in accordance with the Service Standards.
- (2) The members of a rural fire brigade are the persons listed on the register for the brigade kept under this section.

21 Functions of officers of rural fire brigades

(1) An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades has the functions conferred or imposed on the officer by or under this or any other Act.

Note. Functions may be conferred under the Act by the Service Standards.

- (2) An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may exercise a function conferred or imposed on the officer:
 - (a) at a fire, incident or other emergency in the rural fire district for which the brigade or group was formed, or

- (b) at a place outside that rural fire district:
 - (i) with the approval of the Commissioner or of the fire control officer for the rural fire district in which the place is located, or
 - (ii) in accordance with a bush fire management plan or in circumstances prescribed by the regulations, or
 - (iii) within a fire district—with the approval of an officer of New South Wales Fire Brigades.
- (3) An officer or member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades is not, merely because of the authority conferred on the officer or member to exercise any functions under this Act, to be taken to be an employee of the State, a Minister of the State or a local authority.

22 General powers of rural fire brigade officers

- (1) An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades of a rank designated by the Commissioner may, for the purpose of controlling or suppressing a fire or protecting persons or property from an existing or imminent danger arising out of a fire, incident or other emergency, take any action authorised by or under this Act.
- (2) The officer may exercise such a function with such persons as the officer considers necessary for the purpose.
- (3) The following provisions of this Division are intended to be particular examples of the way in which functions referred to in this section can be exercised and are not intended to limit the generality of this section.

23 Power to enter premises

An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may enter any premises for the purpose of exercising any function conferred or imposed on the officer by or under this Act.

Note. Premises is defined in the Dictionary.

24 Closure of streets and public places

The officer in charge of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may cause any street or public place in the vicinity of a fire, incident or other emergency to be closed to traffic.

Part 2 Division 3 **NSW Rural Fire Service**

25 Making premises safe

An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may, if persons are, or property is, endangered or likely to be endangered by a fire, incident or other emergency, do any of the following things:

- (a) pull down, cut and remove or cause to be pulled down, cut and removed, fences on any land,
- (b) destroy, pull down or remove or cause to be destroyed, pulled down or removed any buildings or structures on any land,
- (c) destroy or remove or cause to be destroyed or removed any living or dead vegetation on any land,
- (d) establish fire breaks on any land or cause fire breaks to be established on any land.

26 Use of water and works

An officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades may for the purpose of controlling or suppressing a fire:

- (a) take and use without any payment any water from any source on any land, or
- (b) use without any payment all or any water mains, water plugs, valves, pipes and works of water supply vested in or under the management or control of any water supply authority, public authority or body.

27 Permission of State Rail Authority or Rail Access Corporation required

The functions conferred by this Division may not be exercised in relation to land or property vested in, or under the control of, the State Rail Authority or Rail Access Corporation without the permission of the Authority or Corporation or of a person authorised by the Authority or Corporation to give the permission.

Part 2 Division 3

28 Damage to property

- (1) Any damage to property that is caused by any person exercising any function conferred by or under this Division in good faith is to be taken to be damage by fire within the meaning of any policy of insurance against fire covering the property so damaged.
- (2) Any provision, stipulation, covenant or condition in any agreement that negates, limits or modifies or purports to negate, limit or modify the operation of this section is void and of no effect.

29 Notice of entry

- (1) A person authorised to enter premises under this Division may enter the premises without giving notice:
 - (a) if entry to the premises is made with the consent of the owner or occupier, or
 - (b) if the entry is made to a part of the premises that is open to the public, or
 - (c) if entry is required urgently and the case is one in which the Commissioner has authorised in writing (either generally or in a particular case) entry without notice.
- (2) In any other case, the person must give the owner or occupier of the premises reasonable written notice of the intention to enter the premises.

30 Care to be taken

In the exercise of a function under this Division, a person authorised to enter premises must do as little damage as possible.

31 Use of force

- (1) Reasonable force may be used for the purpose of gaining entry to premises but only if the Commissioner:
 - (a) has authorised in writing the use of force in the particular case, or
 - (b) has specified in writing the circumstances that are required to exist before force may be used and the particular case falls within those circumstances.

NSW Rural Fire Service

- (2) If a person authorised to enter premises uses force to do so, the person must, as soon as practicable, inform the Commissioner.
- (3) The Commissioner must give notice of the use of force to such persons or authorities as appear to the Commissioner to be appropriate in the circumstances.

32 Authority to enter premises

- (1) A power to enter premises, or to take action on premises, may not be exercised unless the person proposing to exercise the power is in possession of an authority and produces the authority if required to do so by the owner or occupier of the premises.
- (2) The authority must be a written authority that:
 - (a) states that it is issued under this Act, and
 - (b) gives the name of the person to whom it is issued, and
 - (c) describes the nature of the powers conferred and the source of the powers, and
 - (d) states the date (if any) on which it expires, and
 - (e) describes the kind of premises to which the power extends, and
 - (f) bears the signature of the Commissioner.

33 Voluntary work by rural fire brigade

- (1) With the consent of the fire control officer for the rural fire district in which it operates or the Commissioner, a rural fire brigade may, in or out of the rural fire district, voluntarily co-operate with a public authority in the exercise of any function of the public authority prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this section.
- (2) If:
 - (a) a public authority, or any member of a public authority, has immunity from legal proceedings that would otherwise lie in relation to the exercise by the authority or member of a function, and

(b) a rural fire brigade co-operates under this section in the exercise of the function,

each officer and other member of the brigade taking part has the same immunity.

Division 4 Fire control officers

34 Appointment of fire control officer and deputies

- (1) The local authority responsible for a rural fire district:
 - (a) must appoint a person, approved by the Commissioner, as fire control officer for the district, and
 - (b) may appoint one or more persons, approved by the Commissioner, as deputy fire control officers for the district.
- (2) Appointments to the positions of fire control officer and deputy fire control officer are to be made in accordance with the Service Standards. Service Standards for this purpose have effect only to the extent that the matters with which they deal are not fixed by, and are not inconsistent with, any provisions for the appointment to such a position having effect under the *Local Government Act* 1993.
- (3) The local authority may, with the approval of the Commissioner, revoke an appointment under this section at any time.
- (4) The Commissioner may, after consultation with the local authority that made the appointment, revoke an appointment under this section at any time.
- (5) Nothing in this section affects any terms or conditions of employment applicable to a fire control officer or deputy fire control officer under the *Local Government Act 1993* as a member of the staff of a local authority.
- (6) A fire control officer or deputy fire control officer is not, merely because of the authority conferred on the officer to exercise any function under this Act, to be taken to be an employee of the State, a Minister of the State or a local authority.

- (7) A deputy fire control officer is to act as fire control officer for the district:
 - (a) at the direction of the fire control officer, or
 - (b) in the event of the absence, illness or other inability to act of the fire control officer, or
 - (c) during a vacancy in the office of the fire control officer.
- (8) A deputy fire control officer:
 - (a) when acting as a fire control officer under this section, has and may exercise all the functions of a fire control officer by or under this Act, and
 - (b) when acting under the direction of a fire control officer (other than a direction under subsection (7)) has and may exercise such of the functions conferred on a fire control officer by or under this Act as may be necessary or convenient to be exercised for the purpose of carrying out the direction.

35 Acting fire control officer

- (1) If both the fire control officer and all the deputy fire control officers for a rural fire district are absent from duty, the local authority responsible for the rural fire district may appoint a person, approved by the Commissioner, to be acting fire control officer during the absence.
- (2) An acting fire control officer has the functions of the fire control officer and anything done by the acting fire control officer in the exercise of those functions has effect as if it were done by the fire control officer.

36 Councillors not to be appointed as fire control officers, deputy fire control officers or acting fire control officers

- (1) A councillor within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1993 is not eligible to be appointed as a fire control officer, deputy fire control officer or acting fire control officer.
- (2) Any fire control officer, deputy fire control officer or acting fire control officer who becomes a councillor ceases to be such an officer on a date that is 3 months after the date on which his or her election as a councillor takes effect unless the officer otherwise vacates his or her office before that date.

(3) Any such fire control officer, deputy fire control officer or acting fire control officer does not, by virtue of holding office as such an officer, hold an office or place of profit for the purposes of section 275 (2) of the *Local Government Act 1993*.

37 Responsibility of fire control officer and local authority

- (1) A fire control officer is, subject to any direction of the Commissioner, responsible for the control and co-ordination of the activities of the Service in the rural fire district for which he or she is appointed as fire control officer.
- (2) A local authority that appoints a fire control officer is responsible for ensuring that the fire control officer carries out the responsibilities imposed on the fire control officer by this section in accordance with the Service Standards.
- (3) A local authority that appoints a fire control officer must provide facilities and accommodation to enable the fire control officer to exercise his or her functions.
- (4) Any such facilities and accommodation are to be of a standard approved by the Commissioner in consultation with the local authority.

38 Functions of fire control officer

- (1) A fire control officer appointed under this Part has all the powers and immunities conferred on an officer in charge of a rural fire brigade.
- (2) A fire control officer:
 - (a) has the supervision and direction of the functions exercised by or under this Act by all rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades in the rural fire district for which the fire control officer has been appointed and of the officers of the brigades, and
 - (b) has the right to use any fire fighting apparatus in the rural fire district other than fire fighting apparatus under the control of the authority responsible for managed land, and
 - (c) must inspect, or cause to be inspected, at least once each year all fire fighting apparatus in the rural fire district other than fire fighting apparatus under the control of the authority responsible for managed land, and

- (d) must take or cause to be taken all necessary measures for suppressing fires in the rural fire district and protecting and saving life and property in case of fire, and
- (e) except on managed land, is to perform such other duties relating to functions conferred or imposed on the Service as are imposed on the fire control officer by the local authority that appointed the fire control officer.
- (3) Subsection (2) does not affect the power of a local authority that appoints a fire control officer to require the fire control officer to perform any function if the performance of the function is consistent with the performance of a function imposed by that subsection.
- (4) A fire control officer may exercise a function referred to in subsection (2) (d) only if the fire control officer (and any member of the Service assisting the fire control officer in the exercise of the function) complies with the conditions (if any) imposed on the exercise of the function specified in any relevant bush fire management plan or other relevant plan of the authority responsible for the managed land of which the fire control officer is aware.

Division 5 Command structure

39 Commissioner may authorise officers and members of rural fire brigades to exercise functions

- (1) Any function conferred or imposed on the Commissioner by this Act may be exercised by any officer or member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades authorised for the purpose by the Commissioner.
- (2) Such an authorisation need not be in writing and operates to authorise the exercise of the functions accordingly. However, the Commissioner must keep a record of all authorisations given under this section.

40 Officer in charge may authorise others to exercise functions

(1) The officer in charge at a fire, incident or other emergency may authorise any officer or member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades to exercise all or specified functions under this Act of the officer in charge at a fire, incident or other emergency.

(2) Such an authorisation need not be in writing and operates to authorise the exercise of the functions accordingly.

41 Duty to recognise authority of officers

- (1) Every member of the Police Service and all other persons are to recognise:
 - (a) the authority of the Commissioner and any member of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades or fire control officer acting under the Commissioner's directions, and
 - (b) the authority of the officer in charge at a fire, incident or other emergency at which a rural fire brigade is present or of an officer of a rural fire brigade directly assisting the person primarily responsible for responding to a fire, incident or other emergency.
- (2) It is the duty of every member of the Police Service to support the authority of such a person and to assist him or her in enforcing compliance with any directions given under this Act or the regulations.
- (3) This section applies only in respect of the protection of persons from injury or death, or of property from damage, when the persons are or the property is endangered by fire or there is imminent danger of such a fire.

42 Obstruction etc of Commissioner and other members of Service

A person who obstructs or hinders or incites or encourages any person to obstruct or hinder the Commissioner, a fire control officer or an officer of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades in the exercise of the Commissioner's or officer's functions under this Act, or any person acting under the direction of any such person, is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 2 years, or both.

43 Interstate assistance at fires

(1) A person who is a member of an interstate fire brigade and is present at a fire within a rural fire district for the purpose of mitigating or suppressing that fire must:

NSW Rural Fire Service

- (a) obey any orders given to the person by the officer in charge at the fire, and
- (b) place any gear or equipment in the person's charge at the disposal of the officer in charge at the fire.
- (2) While there is no officer in charge at the fire, the member of the interstate fire brigade who has the charge of the members of that brigade present at the fire is, for the purposes of this Act, to be considered the officer in charge at the fire.
- (3) A member of an interstate fire brigade who is present at a fire within a rural fire district for the purpose of mitigating or suppressing that fire is taken to have and may exercise all the functions that, if the fire were in the area of a rural fire brigade, the officer in charge of that rural fire brigade would have and be capable of exercising and performing.
- (4) In this section:

interstate fire brigade means a fire brigade (by whatever name called) established under a law of any place outside New South Wales.

Part 3 Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

Note. This Part charges the Commissioner with the responsibility of controlling and co-ordinating the action to be taken by persons and bodies involved in or associated with the prevention, mitigation or suppression of bush fires in dealing with fires requiring a response beyond the area or locality in which the fires are burning. The Commissioner is authorised to give directions to persons, members of the Service, officers of other emergency services organisations and others in relation to the prevention, mitigation and suppression of fires in these circumstances.

The Part also provides for the establishment of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, the principal responsibility of which is to plan for bush fire prevention and for co-ordinated bush fire fighting. The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is required to constitute Bush Fire Management Committees for rural fire districts and may constitute them for other parts of the State. These committees are responsible for the preparation of bush fire management plans for the areas for which they are constituted.

Division 1 Co-ordination of bush fire fighting by Commissioner

44 Commissioner's responsibility

- (1) The Commissioner is to take charge of bush fire fighting operations and bush fire prevention measures and to take such measures as the Commissioner considers necessary to control or suppress any bush fire in any part of the State if, in the opinion of the Commissioner:
 - (a) a bush fire has assumed or is likely to assume such proportions as to be incapable of control or suppression by the fire fighting authority or authorities in whose area or locality it is burning, or
 - (b) the prevailing conditions are conducive to the outbreak of a bush fire likely to assume such proportions, or
 - (c) a bush fire is not being effectively controlled or suppressed by the fire fighting authority or authorities in whose area or locality it is burning, or
 - (d) a bush fire is burning in a place that is not the responsibility of any fire fighting authority.

Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

- (2) The Commissioner may delegate the Commissioner's functions under this Division (other than this power of delegation) to an officer or member of a rural fire brigade, an officer or member of New South Wales Fire Brigades, officers of the Forestry Commission, officers of the National Parks and Wildlife Service or any other person.
- (3) The Commissioner is not subject to the control and direction of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee in exercising the Commissioner's functions under this Division but must, in exercising those functions, take into consideration any relevant bush fire management plan and, in the case of managed land, any relevant plan of the authority responsible for the managed land of which the Commissioner is aware.

45 Power to give directions etc

- (1) The Commissioner may give such directions as the Commissioner considers necessary to fire control officers, deputy fire control officers, officers of rural fire brigades, local authorities, officers or members of New South Wales Fire Brigades, members of the Police Service and other persons in connection with the prevention, control or suppression of any bush fire in the area or locality in which the Commissioner has taken charge or is taking measures under this Division.
- (2) Without limiting the powers conferred on the Commissioner, the Commissioner may exercise, in any part of the State, any functions conferred by section 21 on an officer in charge of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades in respect of the rural fire district for which the brigade is formed.
- (3) Any person (other than a police officer) who fails to observe any direction given under this section by the Commissioner is guilty of an offence.
 - Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.

- (4) The provisions of this section have effect despite anything contained in this or any other Act to the contrary.
- (5) Nothing in this Division enables the Commissioner to commandeer equipment or resources (human or otherwise).

Division 2 Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

46 Constitution of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

- (1) There is constituted by this Act a corporation with the corporate name of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.
- (2) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is a statutory body representing the Crown.

47 Membership and procedure of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

- (1) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is to consist of 12 members as follows:
 - (a) the Commissioner, who is to be the Chairperson of the Committee,
 - (b) an officer of New South Wales Fire Brigades nominated by the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades,
 - (c) an officer of the Forestry Commission nominated by the commissioner constituting the Forestry Commission,
 - (d) an officer of the National Parks and Wildlife Service nominated by the Director-General of National Parks and Wildlife,
 - (e) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Local Government Association of New South Wales,
 - (f) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Shires Association of New South Wales,

- (g) a fire control officer appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the NSW Rural Fire Service Association.
- (h) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Commissioner of Police,
- (i) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Minister for the Environment,
- (j) a person nominated by the Nature Conservation Council of New South Wales,
- (k) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the NSW Farmers Association,
- (l) an officer of the Department of Community Services nominated by the Minister for Community Services.
- (2) Schedule 1 has effect with respect to the members and procedures of the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

48 Functions of Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

- (1) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee:
 - (a) is responsible for planning in relation to bush fire prevention and co-ordinated bush fire fighting, and
 - (b) is responsible for advising the Commissioner on bush fire prevention, mitigation and co-ordinated bush fire suppression, and
 - (c) has such other functions as are conferred or imposed on it by or under this or any other Act.
- (2) Without limiting subsection (1), the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee:
 - (a) must report to the Minister on any matter referred by the Minister to it and may report on any matter relating to the prevention and suppression of bush fires whether referred to it or not, and
 - (b) may enter into arrangements with the Minister for Land and Water Conservation or any public authority with respect to the reduction of bush fire hazards.

Part 3 Division 2

(3) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is to have regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the *Protection of the Environment Administration Act* 1991 in carrying out any function that affects the environment.

49 Delegation

The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may delegate to the Commissioner any function (other than this power of delegation) conferred or imposed on it by or under this Act.

Division 3 Bush Fire Management Committees

50 Bush Fire Management Committees

- (1) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee must constitute a Bush Fire Management Committee for the whole of the area of any local authority for which a rural fire district is constituted.
- (2) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may constitute a Bush Fire Management Committee for:
 - (a) an area of a local authority that is constituted solely as a fire district, or
 - (b) a part of the State other than a rural fire district or a fire district.
- (3) Committees may be constituted for separate rural fire districts or for groups of rural fire districts.
- (4) A Bush Fire Management Committee is to be constituted in accordance with the regulations.

51 Functions of Bush Fire Management Committees

(1) A Bush Fire Management Committee has such functions as are conferred or imposed on it by or under this or any other Act.

Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

(2) A Bush Fire Management Committee is to have regard to the principles of ecologically sustainable development described in section 6 (2) of the *Protection of the Environment Administration Act* 1991 in carrying out any function that affects the environment.

Division 4 Preparation of draft bush fire management plans

52 Bush Fire Management Committees to prepare plans

- (1) Each Bush Fire Management Committee must, in accordance with this Division, prepare and submit to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee a draft of each of the following kinds of bush fire management plans for the rural fire district or other part of the State for which it is constituted:
 - (a) a plan of operations, and
 - (b) a bush fire risk management plan.
- (2) Draft bush fire management plans of both kinds must be prepared and submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee by a Bush Fire Management Committee within 3 months after the constitution of the Bush Fire Management Committee and:
 - (a) in the case of a plan of operations—within each successive 2 year period following the constitution of the Committee, and
 - (b) in the case of a bush fire risk management plan—within each successive 5 year period following the constitution of the Committee.

53 Content of draft plan of operations

A draft plan of operations for a rural fire district or other part of the State is to set out the procedures to be followed if:

(a) a bush fire breaks out in the rural fire district or other part of the State and assumes or is likely to assume such proportions as to be incapable of suppression by the fire fighting authority or authorities in that part of the State, or (b) the prevailing conditions are conducive to the outbreak of a bush fire likely to assume such proportions.

54 Content of draft bush fire risk management plan

- (1) A draft bush fire risk management plan for a rural fire district or other part of the State is to set out schemes for the reduction of bush fire hazards in the rural fire district or other part of the State.
- (2) Without limiting the matters that may be contained in a draft bush fire risk management plan, it may restrict or prohibit the use of fire or other particular fire hazard reduction activities in all or specified circumstances or places to which the plan applies.

Note. A plan might, for example, prohibit the use of fire because of its effect on fauna or flora in, or the cultural heritage of, a particular place.

55 General content

- (1) A draft bush fire management plan may:
 - (a) include schemes for the exercise in the rural fire district or other part of the State to which it applies of functions conferred or imposed by this Act, and
 - (b) confer or impose functions on the Commissioner, the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades, the commissioner constituting the Forestry Commission, the Director-General of National Parks and Wildlife or any other person or body associated with the prevention, mitigation or suppression of bush fires in that part of the State.
- (2) A draft bush fire management plan must include any provisions that the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee has advised the Bush Fire Management Committee concerned to include in the plan.

Part 3 Division 4 Co-ordinated bush fire fighting

56 Failure of Management Committee

The Commissioner may exercise the functions of a Bush Fire Management Committee under this Division if the Committee has failed to submit a draft bush fire management plan in accordance with the Division or has submitted a draft plan that, in the opinion of the Commissioner, is inadequate.

Division 5 Public participation in preparation of plans

57 Public notice of draft bush fire risk management plans

- (1) The Bush Fire Management Committee or Commissioner must:
 - (a) in accordance with the regulations, give public notice of and exhibit, for the purpose of receiving submissions from any interested persons, any draft bush fire risk management plan for a rural fire district or other part of the State prepared by the Committee or Commissioner, and
 - (b) concurrently display for information any draft plan of operations or plan of operations for that rural fire district or part of the State.
- (2) The Bush Fire Management Committee or Commissioner is to ensure that no addresses or telephone numbers of fire control officers or other operational contact information is displayed.

58 Adoption of bush fire risk management plans

- (1) After considering all submissions received concerning the draft bush fire risk management plan, the Bush Fire Management Committee or the Commissioner (if the Commissioner is exercising the functions of the Committee under section 56) may decide to amend the draft plan or to submit it to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee without amendment as the proposed bush fire risk management plan for the rural fire district or part of the State concerned.
- (2) When a draft bush fire risk management plan for a rural fire district or any other part of the State is submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee it must:

- (a) consider all submissions received by it concerning the draft plan, and
- (b) review the provisions of the draft plan and of any current bush fire risk management plan for that part of the State.
- (3) After considering the submissions and the review, the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may:
 - (a) approve the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee) and revoke any other bush fire risk management plan to the extent that it makes corresponding provisions for that part of the State, or
 - (b) vary another bush fire risk management plan for some or all of the same part of the State so as to incorporate in the other plan some or all of the provisions of the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee).
- (4) If the Bush Fire Management Committee, the Commissioner (if the Commissioner is exercising the functions of the Committee under section 56) or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee decides to amend the draft plan:
 - (a) they may publicly exhibit the amended draft plan in accordance with this Division, or
 - (b) if of the opinion that the amendments are not substantial, the Bush Fire Management Committee or Commissioner may submit, or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may adopt, the amended draft plan without public exhibition as the bush fire risk management plan for the area concerned.

59 Adoption of bush fire plans of operation

- (1) After preparing a draft plan of operations for the rural fire district or other part of the State for which it is constituted, the Bush Fire Management Committee is to submit the plan to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.
- (2) When a draft plan of operations is submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, it must review the provisions, of the draft plan and of any current plan of operations.

- (3) After the review, the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may:
 - (a) approve the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee) and revoke any other plan of operations to the extent that it makes corresponding provisions for that part of the State, or
 - (b) vary another plan of operations for some or all of the same part of the State so as to incorporate in the other plan some or all of the provisions of the draft plan (as submitted or after amendment by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee).

60 Co-ordination of planning by bush fire management plans

- (1) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee is not to approve or vary a bush fire management plan so as to impose a requirement on a public authority within the administration of a Minister if the authority objects to the requirement.
- (2) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may, with the consent of a public authority:
 - (a) vary or revoke any provision of an approved bush fire management plan imposing a requirement on the authority, or
 - (b) vary an approved bush fire management plan so as to impose a requirement on the authority.
- (3) Any dispute between the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee and a public authority about the imposition of a requirement on the authority is to be decided by the Minister and, if the authority is within the administration of another Minister, that other Minister. The decision of the Minister or Ministers is binding on the parties to the dispute.
- (4) If agreement cannot be reached between the Ministers, the dispute is to be resolved by the Premier whose decision is binding on the parties to the dispute.
- (5) A bush fire management plan may be communicated in such manner as the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee thinks fit to any public authority to which it relates.

(6) A bush fire management plan communicated to a public authority to which it relates is to be adopted by that authority and, as far as practicable, carried into effect by the authority in the circumstances indicated by the plan.

61 Amendment, revocation and cessation of bush fire management plans

- (1) A Bush Fire Management Committee, the Commissioner or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may amend a bush fire management plan adopted under this Division by another bush fire management plan that is prepared and adopted in accordance with sections 57–60.
- (2) A bush fire management plan may be revoked by a bush fire management plan adopted under this Division by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

62 Public availability of bush fire management plans and draft bush fire management plans

A bush fire management plan or draft bush fire management plan must be available for public inspection at, and be able to be obtained free of charge from, the office of the local authority for the area to which it relates during ordinary office hours.

Part 4 Division 1 Bush fire prevention

Part 4 Bush fire prevention

Note. Part 4 deals with the prevention and minimisation of the spread of bush fires throughout the State. It provides for bush fire hazard reduction work to be done, for limitation of the lighting of fires without a permit during bush fire danger periods and the imposition of total fire bans. It imposes responsibilities on the owners and occupiers of land and public authorities in relation to these and other matters.

Division 1 Duty to prevent bush fires

63 Duties of public authorities and owners and occupiers of land to prevent bush fires

- (1) It is the duty of a public authority to take the notified steps (if any) and any other practicable steps to prevent the occurrence of bush fires on, and to minimise the danger of the spread of a bush fire on or from:
 - (a) any land vested in or under its control or management, or
 - (b) any highway, road, street, land or thoroughfare, the maintenance of which is charged on the authority.
- (2) It is the duty of the owner or occupier of land to take the notified steps (if any) and any other practicable steps to prevent the occurrence of bush fires on, and to minimise the danger of the spread of bush fires on or from, that land.
- (3) A public authority or owner or occupier is liable for the costs incurred by it in performing the duty imposed by this section.
- (4) The Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may advise a person on whom a duty is imposed by this section of any steps (whether or not included in a bush fire risk management plan) that are necessary for the proper performance of the duty.
- (5) In this section:

notified steps means:

- (a) any steps that the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee advises a person to take under subsection (4), or
- (b) any steps that are included in a bush fire risk management plan applying to the land.

Part 4 Division 1

64 Occupiers to extinguish fires or notify fire fighting authorities

- (1) If a fire (not being a fire or part of a fire lit under the authority of this Act or any other Act) is burning on any land at any time during a bush fire danger period applicable to the land the occupier of the land must:
 - (a) immediately on becoming aware of the fire and whether the occupier has lit or caused the fire to be lit or not, take all possible steps to extinguish the fire, and
 - (b) if the occupier is unable without assistance to extinguish the fire and any practicable means of communication are available, inform or cause to be informed an appropriate officer of the existence and locality of the fire if it is practicable to do so without leaving the fire unattended.
- (2) In this section, appropriate officer means:
 - (a) if the fire is burning within any fire district constituted under the *Fire Brigades Act 1989*—the nearest available officer or fire fighter of the fire brigades in the fire district, or
 - (b) if the fire is burning outside any such fire district—the nearest available officer or member of a rural fire brigade or fire control officer or deputy fire control officer or officer of the Forestry Commission or the National Parks and Wildlife Service.

Maximum penalty: 20 penalty units or imprisonment for 6 months, or both.

Division 2 Bush fire hazard reduction

Note. Bush fire hazard reduction work and bush fire hazard reduction notice are defined in the Dictionary.

65 Reduction of fire hazards on unoccupied Crown land and managed land

(1) In this section:

authorised person, in relation to land, means:

(a) any officer of a rural fire brigade for the time being nominated for the purposes of this section by the local authority for the area in which the land is situated, or

Bush fire prevention

- (b) any person for the time being nominated for the purposes of this section by the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, or
- (c) a person exercising functions under a bush fire risk management plan, or
- (d) an authorised officer of a fire fighting authority.
- (2) An authorised person may, with the permission of the fire fighting authority or other authority responsible for unoccupied Crown land or managed land or a person for the time being nominated by the authority to give such permission, enter the land and carry out bush fire hazard reduction work with the assistance of such other persons as the authorised person considers to be necessary for the purpose.
- (3) The authority responsible for unoccupied Crown land or managed land is to be taken to have given the permission under this section to the extent necessary to give effect to a bush fire risk management plan.
- (4) If permission under this section is given subject to conditions, the conditions must be complied with.

66 Bush fire hazard reduction work required by local authorities

- (1) The local authority of an area may, by notice in writing, require the occupier or owner (not being a public authority) of any land within the area to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work specified in the notice on the land.
- (2) The local authority must serve a notice under this section if required to do so by a bush fire risk management plan applicable to the land that is in force.
- (3) The notice may specify the circumstances in which, conditions under which, places at which and manner and time within which the bush fire hazard reduction work is to be carried out and is to specify any means other than fire by which the bush fire hazard reduction work is to be carried out and alternative means other than fire by which the work should, if practicable, be carried out.
- (4) The time within which bush fire hazard reduction work is to be carried out must not be less than 7 days after the notice is given.

- (5) The requirements and conditions so specified must include any requirements specified in a bush fire risk management plan that is applicable to the land and is in force and may include a requirement or condition that the burning of fire breaks or of combustible matter or other material:
 - (a) must, in a fire district constituted under the *Fire Brigades*Act 1989, be carried out by or under the supervision of the fire brigade in the district or the officer or fire fighter in charge of the fire brigade, or
 - (b) must, outside a fire district, be carried out by or under the supervision of the rural fire brigade specified in the notice or an appropriate officer of the rural fire brigade or any fire control officer.
- (6) A notice requiring the establishment of a fire break cannot require an occupier or owner to kill or remove any trees that are reasonably necessary:
 - (a) for shade, shelter, windbreak or fodder purposes, or
 - (b) for the protection of threatened species, populations, communities or critical habitats within the meaning of the *Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995*.

Note. See section 54 (2) for other possible limitations.

- (7) An occupier or owner to whom a bush fire hazard reduction notice is given must, despite the fact that a fire permit has not been granted under Division 5, comply with the requirements specified in the notice.
 - Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months.
- (8) A notice under this section that is the subject of an objection or appeal under section 67 or 68 does not have effect until the objection or appeal is finally determined.

67 Objection to notices

(1) The owner or occupier of land on whom a notice has been served under section 66 may, within 7 days of the service of the notice, lodge an objection with the fire control officer for the local authority for the area in which the land is situated stating the grounds of objection.

Bush fire prevention

- (2) If a person lodges an objection, the fire control officer and the person must genuinely attempt to resolve the matter by consultation having regard to:
 - (a) the provisions of any bush fire risk management plan applicable to the land that is in force, and
 - (b) the matters referred to in section 66 (5), and
 - (c) the proper needs for conservation, and
 - (d) such other matters as may be prescribed by the regulations.
- (3) Within 14 days of the lodging of an objection, the fire control officer must:
 - (a) confirm the notice, or
 - (b) vary the notice, if the fire control officer is satisfied that the variation will appropriately address the threat of fire, or
 - (c) withdraw the notice, if the fire control officer is satisfied that there is no longer any need for the notice to be served.
- (4) If the fire control officer confirms or varies the notice, that officer must give the person who lodged the objection notice of his or her decision and must specify a time after the notice is given within which the person must comply with the notice as confirmed or varied.

68 Appeal against notices

- (1) If a person has lodged an objection under section 67 and:
 - (a) the fire control officer has failed to confirm, vary or withdraw the notice within 14 days, or
 - (b) the person is not satisfied with the confirmation or variation of the notice,

the person may appeal in writing to the Commissioner within 7 days of the end of the 14 day period or the date of the confirmation or variation, whichever is earlier, stating the grounds of appeal.

- (2) The Commissioner must:
 - (a) consider the appeal within a reasonable time, and
 - (b) take into account all relevant circumstances, including the matters referred to in section 67 (2), and
 - (c) advise the local authority that an appeal has been received.

- (3) After considering the appeal, the Commissioner must:
 - (a) confirm the notice, or
 - (b) vary the notice in any way the Commissioner thinks fit, or
 - (c) cancel the notice,

and advise the local authority accordingly.

(4) If the Commissioner confirms or varies the notice, the Commissioner must give the person who lodged the appeal notice of his or her decision and must specify a time after the notice is given within which the person must comply with the notice as confirmed or varied.

69 Duties of local authority

- (1) The fire control officer for a local authority, or an officer or member of a fire brigade or other person authorised by the local authority, may for the purpose of forming an opinion as to:
 - (a) whether the local authority should serve a notice under section 66 on the occupier or owner of any land, or
 - (b) whether or not such a notice has been complied with,

enter during the daytime any part of the land (other than a dwelling-house) that it is necessary to inspect in order to form that opinion.

- (2) A local authority that requires an occupier or owner of land to take action under a bush fire hazard reduction notice must give notice in the approved form to such persons or bodies as may be prescribed by the regulations.
- (3) It is a duty of a local authority to keep a record of whether or not bush fire hazard reduction work has been carried out on land within the area of the local authority in accordance with a bush fire hazard reduction notice.

Note. The Land and Environment Court has jurisdiction to hear and dispose of proceedings under this Act. See section 20 of the *Land and Environment Court Act 1979*.

Bush fire prevention

70 Bush fire hazard reduction work in default of compliance with notice

(1) In this section:

relevant notice means:

- (a) a bush fire hazard reduction notice, or
- (b) if a bush fire hazard reduction notice is the subject of an objection or appeal, a notice under section 67 (4) or 68 (4), respectively.
- (2) If within the time specified in the relevant notice the owner or occupier to whom it is given fails to comply with any requirement of the notice, the local authority or any officers or members of any fire brigade or rural fire brigade or other persons authorised by the local authority may, without prejudice to the liability of the owner or occupier, enter on the land and carry out the bush fire hazard reduction work the owner or occupier was required to do under the notice.
- (3) The expenses of carrying out the bush fire hazard reduction work are a debt recoverable from the owner or occupier of the land in any court of competent jurisdiction.
- (4) The local authority must exercise its power under this section if the requirement that has not been complied with is made by a bush fire risk management plan.
- (5) The provisions of the *Local Government Act 1993*, with respect to:
 - (a) the charge of a rate under that Act on the land in respect of which it is levied, and
 - (b) the time within which proceedings for the recovery of the rate may be taken,

apply to and in respect of any judgment recovered under this section against the owner of land by the local authority and recorded in the books, as if the amount of the judgment and of any costs awarded to the local authority in respect of its claim were a rate levied under that Act in respect of the land concerned.

Part 4 Division 2

71 Defence to court proceedings

If:

- (a) the occupier and the owner of the land in respect of which a bush fire hazard reduction notice is given are not the same person, and
- (b) the owner of that land has been prosecuted under section 66 or an action for recovery of expenses has been taken against the owner under section 70,

it is a defence to that prosecution or action if the court is satisfied that that owner had no legal right, as between the owner and the occupier of that land, to enter that land and comply with the requirements of the notice.

72 Certain damage to property caused by bush fire hazard reduction work covered by fire insurance

- (1) Any damage to property caused by a person in the exercise in good faith of a power conferred by or under this Division is to be taken to be damage by fire within the meaning of any policy of insurance against fire covering the damaged property.
- (2) This section does not apply in relation to an entry on land that is authorised by section 70 (which relates to entry on land after failure to comply with a bush fire hazard reduction notice).

73 Bush fire hazard reduction by the Commissioner

- (1) The Commissioner may carry out bush fire hazard reduction work on any land in the manner required by a bush fire risk management plan if any such work has not been carried out on that land when required by the plan or has not been carried out in the manner required by the plan.
- (2) Any costs incurred by the Commissioner in carrying out such work may be recovered as a debt due to the Crown in a court of competent jurisdiction.
- (3) Any such work may be carried out by the Commissioner whether or not the owner or occupier of the land or a local authority has a duty to carry out the work.

Part 4 Division 2 Bush fire prevention

- (4) Any dispute between the Commissioner and a public authority about whether bush fire hazard reduction work has or has not been carried out on any land when or in the manner required by a bush fire risk management plan may be decided by the Minister and, if the public authority is within the administration of another Minister, the other Minister. The decision of the Minister or Ministers is binding on the parties to the dispute.
- (5) If agreement cannot be reached between the Ministers, the dispute is to be resolved by the Premier whose decision is binding on the parties to the dispute.

74 Local authority to review incidence of bush fire hazards

- (1) A local authority is to review annually the incidence of bush fire hazards on such private lands as it determines in its area.
- (2) Within 3 months (or such other period as the Commissioner specifies) of the end of each year, a local authority must report to the Commissioner on the incidence of bush fire hazards.
- (3) The local authority must remove or reduce (or facilitate the reduction or removal by the owners or occupiers of) bush fire hazards on the land identified by the local authority.
- (4) If the Commissioner is satisfied that a local authority is not making full use of its power to require bush fire hazard reduction work to be done, the Commissioner may, by notice in writing served on the local authority, require it to exercise those powers as stated in the notice.
- (5) A local authority served with a notice under this section must comply with the requirements of the notice.

Division 3 Damage by fire to dividing fences and other matters

75 Definitions

In this Division:

adjoining owners means the owners or occupiers of land (other than excluded land) on either side of a dividing fence.

dividing fence means a fence separating land owned or occupied by different persons.

excluded land means land that a bush fire management plan specifies to be excluded for the purposes of this Division.

fence means a structure, ditch or embankment, or a hedge or similar vegetation barrier, enclosing or bounding land, whether or not continuous or extending along the whole of the boundary separating the land from other land and includes:

- (a) any gate, cattlegrid or apparatus necessary for the operation of the fence, and
- (b) any foundation or support necessary for the support and maintenance of the fence.

76 Notices to repair or restore dividing fences

- (1) An adjoining owner who has cleared land on the adjoining owner's side of a dividing fence of all combustible matter for a distance of 6 metres from the fence may, by notice in writing, require the adjoining owner on the other side of the fence to repair or restore the dividing fence if it is damaged or destroyed by a bush fire caused by the failure of the other adjoining owner to clear the adjoining owner's side of the fence of all combustible matter for the same distance.
- (2) The adjoining owner to whom a notice is given must repair or restore the dividing fence at that adjoining owner's expense:
 - (a) within one month of being given the notice, or
 - (b) within such longer period as a Local Court may allow on application by the adjoining owner to the Local Court.
- (3) The dividing fence is to be restored to a reasonable standard, having regard to its state before damage or destruction.
- (4) The adjoining owner may apply to the Local Court for an order authorising the adjoining owner to repair or restore the fence if:
 - (a) the adjoining owner to whom a notice is given fails to repair or restore the fence in the required time, or
 - (b) the adjoining owner has not, after making reasonable inquiries, been able to ascertain the whereabouts of the adjoining owner for the purposes of serving the notice.

Part 4 Division 3 Bush fire prevention

- (5) An adjoining owner who repairs or restores a fence under this section (including the owner's employees or agents) may, at any reasonable time, enter on the land adjoining the dividing fence for the purpose of carrying out the work.
- (6) This section does not apply to an adjoining owner that is a public authority other than a local authority.

77 Recovery of costs

- (1) An adjoining owner who repairs or restores a fence in accordance with an order under section 76 (4) is entitled to recover from the other adjoining owner the cost of carrying out the work.
- (2) Any money that an adjoining owner is required or liable to pay under this section may be recovered as a debt in a court of competent jurisdiction.
- (3) In any proceedings for the recovery of money the certificate of a Local Court as to the making and content of an order made by it under section 76 is evidence of the matters set out in the certificate.

78 Jurisdiction of Local Court

A Local Court has jurisdiction to hear and determine any matter arising under this Division.

79 Entry to land to extinguish fire

An adjoining owner who has cleared land in the manner referred to in section 76 may enter the land of an adjoining owner who has failed to so clear that adjoining owner's land and take all necessary steps to extinguish any unattended fire that at its closest point has approached a distance that unreasonably endangers or threatens the adjoining owner's land and any fence or property on it.

80 Entry to certain land to establish fire breaks

The owner or occupier of land that adjoins any unoccupied Crown land or Crown land that is not excluded land or land reserved or dedicated, or acquired for reservation or dedication, under the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 may enter on the land for the purpose of undertaking bush fire hazard reduction work on the land not more than 6 metres wide along the boundary of the land.

Division 4 Bush fire danger period

81 General bush fire danger period

For the purposes of this Act, the **bush fire danger period** in respect of land in the State is, except as provided by section 82, the period commencing on 1 October and ending on 31 March in the following year.

82 Local bush fire danger period

- (1) A local authority may, by notice published in a newspaper circulating generally in the area:
 - (a) declare that there is no bush fire danger period for its area or part of its area, or
 - (b) specify a different period to that set out in section 81 as the bush fire danger period for its area or part of its area.

Note. Under section 377 of the *Local Government Act 1993* a council may, by resolution, delegate its functions under this section to the General Manager or another person or body.

- (2) As soon as practicable after publishing a notice under subsection (1), the local authority is to publish a copy of the notice in the Gazette.
- (3) Despite section 81, if a declaration is made in accordance with this section specifying a different bush fire danger period in relation to any area or part of an area of a local authority the bush fire danger period in that area or part is the period specified in the declaration.
- (4) Unless it is sooner revoked, a declaration remains in force for such period as is specified in the declaration.
- (5) A local authority is to notify the Commissioner within 24 hours of the making of a declaration under this section and, if concurrence is required under section 83, is to forward a copy of the concurrence to the Commissioner.

Part 4 Division 4 Bush fire prevention

83 Concurrence required before local bush fire danger period declaration made

- (1) The Commissioner may, by order published in the Gazette, declare land to be a special area for the purposes of this Division and require the concurrence in writing of the Forestry Commission and the National Parks and Wildlife Service to be obtained before a declaration is made under section 82 in relation to the land.
- (2) A local authority is not to make a declaration under section 82 in relation to a special area without the concurrence of the Forestry Commission and the National Parks and Wildlife Service or, if concurrence is not given within 3 days after notice requesting concurrence has been given to the Forestry Commission and the National Parks and Wildlife Service, without the consent of the Minister.

84 Notice of bush fire danger period

If a local authority makes a declaration under section 82 in relation to its area or part of its area, the local authority is to give notice of the bush fire danger period for that part of the State in a newspaper circulating generally in that area or part.

Division 5 Permits and notice requirements

85 Definitions

In this Division:

appropriate authority, in relation to a fire permit in respect of land, means:

- (a) in the case of a local government area—the council of the area,
 - **Note.** On delegation of council's functions see sections 377 and 378 of the *Local Government Act 1993*.
- (b) in the case of Lord Howe Island—the Lord Howe Island Board or a person authorised by the Board to issue the permit,
- (c) in the case of land in a fire district—the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades,
- (d) in the case of any other land or in circumstances set out in the Service Standards—the Commissioner.

land clearance means clearing land of bush, stubble, scrub, timber, trees, grass or vegetative or other material.

light a fire includes:

- (a) maintain or use a fire, and
- (b) cause a fire to be lit, maintained or used.

86 Notice required before certain fires lit

A person who lights a fire on land:

- (a) for the purpose of land clearance or for burning any fire break, or
- (b) in circumstances in which doing so would be likely to be dangerous to any building,

is guilty of an offence unless the person has given notice in accordance with the regulations to the persons prescribed by the regulations.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.

87 Lighting fires for land clearance or fire breaks in bush fire danger period

A person who lights a fire on land for the purpose of land clearance or for burning any fire break during a bush fire danger period that applies to the land is guilty of an offence unless the person:

- (a) is authorised to do so by a fire permit issued by the appropriate authority and the person complies with any conditions set out in the fire permit, and
- (b) has given notice in accordance with section 86.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.

88 Lighting fires that are dangerous to buildings in fire districts

A person who lights a fire on land within a local government area that is in a fire district in circumstances in which doing so would be likely to be dangerous to any building is guilty of an offence unless the person: Bush fire prevention

- (a) is authorised to do so by a fire permit issued by an officer of New South Wales Fire Brigades or by the Commissioner and the person complies with any conditions set out in the fire permit, and
- (b) has given notice in accordance with section 86.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.

89 Issue of permits

An appropriate authority may issue to any person a fire permit in writing authorising the person to light a fire on land specified in the permit for the purpose specified in the permit.

90 Duration of permits

- (1) A fire permit, unless sooner cancelled or suspended, remains in force for the period (not exceeding 21 days) specified in the permit.
- (2) A fire permit has no force or effect during any period during which a direction prohibiting the lighting of fires under section 99 is in force.

91 Cancellation or suspension of permits

- (1) A fire permit may be cancelled or suspended by the appropriate authority at any time by notice given to the permit holder.
- (2) Notice of cancellation or suspension of a permit must be given in writing unless the appropriate authority is of the opinion that the weather conditions are conducive to the outbreak or spread of bushfires or that conditions conducive to the outbreak or spread of bushfires are imminent.
- (3) In those circumstances notice may be given orally or in such other manner (including, if no other means are practicable, by broadcast by a television or radio station transmitting to the area in which the land to which the permit relates is situated) as the authority considers appropriate.

Part 4 Division 5

92 Conditions of permit

- (1) A fire permit is subject to:
 - (a) the condition that it be carried by the holder of the fire permit at the time a fire authorised by the permit is lit, and
 - (b) such conditions as are prescribed by the regulations or specified in the permit.

Note. A fire permit might, for example, include a condition that any fire lit in a rural fire district or fire district be lit under the supervision of the rural fire brigade or fire brigade for the district or an officer of the brigade or a fire control officer.

(2) A person who, being the holder of a fire permit, contravenes any condition of the fire permit is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units.

93 Refusal to issue fire permit

An appropriate authority may refuse to issue a permit if:

- (a) issue of the permit would be inconsistent with any bush fire risk management plan, or
- (b) if the appropriate authority is a local authority—the local authority has determined in writing that no permits be issued for fires to be lit in its area (or any part of its area) because of the seriousness of bush fire danger in the area, or
- (c) the appropriate authority is otherwise authorised or required by the regulations or by or under this or any other Act to refuse to issue the permit.

94 Notice to be given of issue of fire permit

- (1) A council that issues a fire permit to light a fire on land in a fire district must notify the officer in charge of the fire station that is nearest to the land when issuing the permit.
- (2) An appropriate authority who issues a fire permit to light a fire on land specified in the regulations must give notice in an approved form to such persons or bodies as are prescribed by the regulations.

Bush fire prevention

(3) An appropriate authority who gives a notice under this section must notify the person or body concerned if the appropriate authority cancels or suspends the permit.

95 Permit not required for fires lit by public authorities

- (1) Nothing in this Division requires a public authority or a person acting under the direction of a public authority to hold a permit to light a fire.
- (2) However, a public authority:
 - (a) must not light a fire in any area of a local authority (or part of such an area) if it has been notified that a determination referred to in section 93 (b) has been made in respect of the area, and
 - (b) must not light a fire in any rural fire district unless the fire control officer for the district has been advised that it is to be lit, and
 - (c) must not light a fire on land in any fire district unless the officer in charge of the fire station that is nearest to the land has been advised that it is to be lit.

96 Appropriate authorities not determining authorities

- (1) An appropriate authority is not, for the purposes of granting a fire permit, a determining authority within the meaning of Part 5 of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979*. In addition, an appropriate authority is not a determining authority within the meaning of that Act merely because the authority can authorise another person to grant a permit.
- (2) The issue of a fire permit under this Division does not affect any requirement to obtain a licence under Part 6 of the *Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995*.

97 Reporting requirements

(1) Within 3 months (or such other period as the Commissioner specifies) of the end of each financial year, a local authority must report to the Commissioner with respect to fire permits issued by it during the year.

(2) A report is to include:

- (a) details of the circumstances surrounding any bush fires in its area that appear to have been caused by the lighting of a fire authorised by a fire permit issued by the local authority, and
- (b) details of any action taken with respect to permits that is inconsistent with any bush fire risk management plan applying to the area.

98 Issue of permit does not affect duty to prevent bush fires

The issue of a fire permit to an owner or occupier of land under this Division does not limit or affect the duty to prevent bush fires imposed on the owner or occupier under section 63.

Division 6 Total fire bans

99 Lighting of fires prohibited in certain circumstances

- (1) If the Minister is of the opinion that it is necessary or expedient in the interests of public safety to do so, the Minister may, by order in writing, direct that in the part or parts of the State specified in the order:
 - (a) the lighting, maintenance or use of any fire or class of fire in the open air is prohibited for such period or periods as may be specified in the order, and
 - (b) such special conditions as may be specified in the order be observed by persons lighting, maintaining or using any fire or class of fire in the open air and for such period or periods as may be specified in the order, and
 - (c) such action as may be specified in the order be taken by such persons or class of persons as may be specified in the order for preventing the outbreak or the spread of any bush fire or for controlling or suppressing any bush fire.
- (2) As soon as practicable after making a direction under this section, the Minister is:
 - (a) to cause notice of the direction to be broadcast by a television or radio station transmitting to the part or parts of the State concerned and in a newspaper circulating in those parts, and

Bush fire prevention

- (b) to cause a copy of the order by which the direction is given to be published in the Gazette.
- (3) The specification in any notice or order under this section of part of the State by reference to a zone defined by the regulations for the purpose is sufficient specification of a part of the State for the purposes of this section.
- (4) If part of a local government area is specified in any order under this section the order applies to the whole of the local government area.
- (5) The Minister may delegate to the Commissioner any of the Minister's functions under this section, other than this power of delegation.
- (6) Any person who fails to comply with any direction given by the Minister is guilty of an offence.
 - Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.
- (7) The provisions of this section have effect despite anything contained in this Act or any other Act to the contrary.

Division 7 Lighting fires without authority

100 Offences

- (1) A person who, without lawful authority:
 - (a) sets fire or causes fire to be set to the land or property of another person, the Crown or any public authority, or
 - (b) being the owner or occupier of any land, permits a fire to escape from that land under such circumstances as to cause or be likely to cause injury or damage to the person, land or property of another person or the land or property of the Crown or a public authority,

is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: 1,000 penalty units or imprisonment for 5 years, or both.

- (2) A person who, without lawful authority, leaves whether temporarily or otherwise any fire which the person has lit or used in the open air before the fire is thoroughly extinguished is guilty of an offence.
 - Maximum penalty: 50 penalty units or imprisonment for 12 months, or both.
- (3) Nothing in subsection (2) requires any person to extinguish a fire in the open air that has been lit or used for the purpose of cooking, heating or preparing meals or boiling water or for any similar purpose in accordance with the regulations if, at the time of the person leaving it, the fire continues to be used by some other person.

Part 5 Division 1 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

Part 5 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

Note. This Part requires local government councils and insurance companies to contribute, along with the State Government, to the costs of rural fire brigade expenditure. The total amount required to be contributed is based on estimated rural fire brigade expenditure.

Division 1 Preliminary

101 Definitions

In this Part:

insurance company means any body corporate, partnership, association, underwriter or person that or who:

- (a) issues or undertakes liability under policies of insurance against loss of or damage to any property situated in New South Wales, or
- (b) receives premiums in respect of such policies of insurance on behalf of or for transmission to any body corporate, partnership, association, underwriter or person outside New South Wales.

rural fire brigade expenditure, in relation to a specified period, means the aggregate of:

- (a) recurrent expenditure incurred during the period in the exercise of the Commissioner's functions under this Act, and
- (b) recurrent expenditure incurred during that period in respect of the administrative costs of the Service, Advisory Council, the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee or the Minister incurred under the authority of this Act.

Division 2 The Fund

102 New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

(1) There is to be established in the Special Deposits Account in the Treasury a New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund into which are to be paid all contributions and other money received under this Part.

- (2) There is payable from the Fund:
 - (a) money to assist in meeting the costs of rural fire brigade expenditure, and
 - (b) any money payable in connection with the exercise of the duties imposed on the Commissioner by section 45 and the construction and maintenance of fire trails and other fire prevention and hazard reduction works, and
 - (c) all money directed to be paid from the Fund by or under this or any other Act.

Note. See for example section 20 of the *Workers Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Act 1987.*

- (3) The costs directly attributable to the administration of this Part and all expenses incurred by the Minister in the exercise of the Minister's functions under this Part must not, during any financial year, exceed 10% of the total expenditure from the Fund in respect of that financial year.
- (4) A written statement of the Minister is conclusive evidence as to the costs directly attributable to the administration of this Part and all expenses incurred by the Minister in the exercise of the Minister's functions under this Part.

Division 3 Estimates of Fund expenditure and contributions

103 Estimate to be prepared by Minister

- (1) The Minister must, before or as soon as practicable after the end of a financial year, prepare and, subject to the concurrence of the Treasurer, adopt:
 - (a) an estimate of the probable rural fire brigade expenditure, and
 - (b) an estimate of the parts of such expenditure applicable to each area of council,

for the next financial year.

New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

(2) Before preparing the estimate, the Minister is to consider the report and recommendation of the Commissioner in respect of the matters referred to in subsection (1).

104 Councils etc to furnish information to Minister

For the purpose of enabling the Minister to prepare the estimates referred to in section 103 a council or rural fire brigade or a fire control officer must, at such times and in such manner as the Commissioner may require, furnish to the Commissioner such information relating to the rural fire brigades or other fire fighting personnel, the fire fighting apparatus of the rural fire brigades or personnel and such other matters relating to the organisation of the rural fire brigades or personnel as the Commissioner may require.

105 Times for instalment payments

The contributions payable under this Part (including advance payments) are to be paid on or before 1 July, 1 October, 1 January and 1 April in each financial year, or on or before such other days as the Commissioner may direct and notify to the contributors concerned.

106 Contributions due and payable within 60 days of assessment

- (1) Contributions payable under this Part are due and payable on assessment by the Minister and any such contribution not paid within 60 days of the date of assessment shown on the assessment notice is, unless the Minister otherwise determines, to be increased by 10% of the amount of the contribution payable.
- (2) Contributions or any part of contributions not paid by any insurance company or council within 90 days of the date of assessment and all penalties incurred in respect of failure to pay any contribution constitute a debt due and payable to the Minister and are recoverable in any court of competent jurisdiction by the Minister.

107 Deficits and excesses in contributions

- (1) If, in any financial year, the amount received by the Minister from contributions under this Part falls short of the expenditure based on the estimate for that financial year, the deficit is to be added to the estimate of expenditure for the following year and the contributions are to be increased accordingly.
- (2) If the amount received by the Minister in any financial year, from contributions under this Part exceeds the expenditure based on the estimate for that financial year, then the excess is to be treated as a credit in favour of the estimated income of the following year and the contributions reduced accordingly.
- (3) For the purposes of this section any deficit or excess in respect of any financial year is to be the deficit or excess as certified by the Auditor-General.

Division 4 Contributions by Treasurer

108 Contributions by Treasurer

- (1) Of the amount required to be contributed to the Fund, the Treasurer must contribute 14%.
- (2) The Treasurer may, in addition to the contribution to the Fund under subsection (1), from time to time advance such money to the Fund subject to such terms and conditions as the Treasurer may determine.
- (3) Any money payable by the Treasurer under this section is to be paid out of money provided by Parliament.

Division 5 Contributions by local government areas

109 Contributions required from councils

(1) Of the amount required to be contributed to the Fund, 12.3% is to be contributed by the councils of each local government area or areas the whole or part of which is outside any fire district constituted under the *Fire Brigades Act 1989*.

New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

- (2) Funds of a council derived from donations and other voluntary contributions made for the purposes of this Act may not be used towards payments by the council under subsection (1) unless the Minister so approves.
- (3) If it is shown to the Governor that the danger from bush fires in a local government area is negligible the Governor may, on the recommendation of the Minister, exempt the council of that area from making contributions to the Fund.
- (4) If the council of any area has been exempted under subsection (3) from making contributions to the Fund no payment is to be made in or towards any of the purposes specified in section 118 for the benefit of the area in respect of which the exemption has been granted.

110 Determination of contributions of councils

- (1) The contributions of councils are to be determined as follows:
 - (a) that part of the estimated expenditure applicable to any rural fire district that is to be contributed by councils is to be contributed by those councils the areas or any parts of which are within the rural fire district, and
 - (b) the total amount of the contribution of any council is to be determined by the Minister.
- (2) The amount of the contribution payable by any council may be raised if necessary, and despite any statutory limit of such rates, by an increase of the ordinary rate by such a sum in the dollar as will be sufficient to provide the amount of the contribution, and that increase is for all purposes to be taken to form part of the ordinary rate.
- (3) Every council and every officer of the council must, when so required by the Minister, furnish the Minister with all such documents, papers and information as the Minister may require to determine the contribution of the council.

Division 6 Contributions by insurance companies

111 Contributions required from insurance companies

Of the total amount required to be contributed to the Fund for a financial year, 73.7% is to be contributed by insurance companies in accordance with this Division.

112 Advance payment by insurance companies

- (1) An insurance company must, in each financial year, make an advance payment to the Commissioner pending an assessment under section 106.
- (2) The advance payment is to be an amount equal to the percentage fixed by the Minister in respect of that year of the total amount of the premiums subject to contribution under subsection (4) received by or due to the company during the financial year that ended one year before the financial year for which the advance payment is due.
- (3) The percentage fixed by the Minister is to be the percentage that will provide the total amount to be contributed under this Part by all insurance companies in respect of all rural fire districts in the financial year for which the contribution is required.
- (4) The amount of the premiums under any class of policies of insurance specified in Schedule 2 that is to be subject to contribution under this section is as indicated in that Schedule in respect of that class of policies of insurance.
- (5) If the Minister is satisfied that at least two-thirds of the insurance companies liable to contribute under this section desire that Schedule 2 be amended in a certain manner, and the Commissioner recommends the amendment, the Minister may by notice published in the Gazette, amend that Schedule accordingly.
- (6) Any such amendment takes effect from 1 July, or such other date, following publication of the notice as the Minister directs in the notice.

113 Definition of "total amount of the premiums"

For the purposes of this Division:

total amount of the premiums includes any brokerage or commission paid or due to be paid or allowed on:

- (a) any such premium, or
- (b) any bonuses or return premiums allowed in respect of any policy of insurance the subject of any such premium, or

New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

(c) such part of the premiums received by or due to the company as is paid or due to be paid by way of reinsurance by the company to any other insurance company in New South Wales,

but does not include stamp duty payable in respect of any policy of insurance the subject of any such premium.

114 Adjustments

(1) If an insurance company submits a return under this Division in a financial year, the Commissioner is to notify the company of the required contribution in relation to the company for that year assessed in accordance with the following formula:

required contribution =
$$\frac{a \times b}{c}$$

where:

- "a" is the total amount of premiums subject to contribution specified in the return made by the company,
- "b" is the total amount to be contributed under this Division by all insurance companies in respect of all rural fire districts for the year to which the return relates,
- "c" is the total amount of all premiums subject to contribution specified in returns under this Division made by all insurance companies in respect of that year.
- (2) If the required contribution assessed in relation to an insurance company for a financial year is greater than the advance payment required to be made under this Division by the company for that financial year, the company must, not later than 31 December in the financial year in which the assessment is made or such later day as may be approved by the Commissioner, pay to the Commissioner the amount of the difference between the advance payment and the assessed amount.
- (3) If the required contribution is assessed for a financial year in which the company did not make an advance payment under this Division, the company must, not later than 31 December in the financial year in which the assessment is made or such later day as may be approved by the Commissioner, pay the amount assessed to the Commissioner.

- (4) If the required contribution assessed for a financial year is less than the amount of the advance payment required to be made under this Division by the company for that financial year, the Commissioner is to credit the amount of the difference against:
 - (a) any instalments that remain to be paid in respect of the advance payment for the financial year in which the assessment is made, and
 - (b) any instalments that will be required to be paid in respect of the advance payment to be made during the following financial year,

in such manner as the Commissioner may determine and, if any balance is outstanding at the end of the financial year referred to in paragraph (b), the Commissioner is to pay the amount outstanding to the company not later than the next 30 June.

- (5) If an insurance company:
 - (a) is entitled to a credit referred to in subsection (4) in respect of an advance payment under this Division, and
 - (b) did not receive, and was not entitled to receive, in the financial year in which the advance payment was made, any premium in respect of which it would have been required by this Division to submit a return, and
 - (c) the liabilities of the company in relation to the contributions under this Part have been discharged,

the Commissioner must, as soon as practicable, pay to the company the amount of the credit or, as the case may be, the balance outstanding.

115 Liability of owner where foreign insurer involved

- (1) This section applies to a person who is the owner of property in respect of which an insurance company has received a premium referred to in section 113 if the insurance company is not authorised under a law of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory to carry on insurance business.
- (2) The Commissioner may notify a person to whom this section applies that the person is to be responsible for the contributions required to be paid by the insurance company under this Part because of premiums received by the company in respect of the person's property, and in such a case:

- (a) the person must pay to the Commissioner any amounts that would otherwise be payable by the company under this Part in respect of those premiums, and
- (b) the provisions of this Division are to apply to the person as if the person were the insurance company that received those premiums, subject to any modification of those provisions required by the regulations.
- (3) An owner who fails to pay such an amount within 30 days after it falls due is guilty of an offence.

Maximum penalty: 10 penalty units.

- (4) The amount of such a payment may be deducted from any premium recoverable in the State by or on behalf of the company on the issue or renewal of any fire policy on the property or may be recovered from the company as a debt by the person making the payment.
- (5) This section applies whether the premium concerned was received in or outside the State.

116 Returns by insurance companies

- (1) An insurance company must during September in each financial year, or at such other time during the financial year as the Commissioner may notify in the Gazette, submit to the Commissioner:
 - (a) a return in the approved form showing the total amount of premiums received by or due to the company for the previous financial year in respect of the insurance against loss of or damage to any property in the State under the classes of policies specified in Schedule 2, and
 - (b) a certificate in the approved form from an auditor.
- (2) An insurance company that ceases to receive, and to be entitled to receive, any premiums in respect of which it would have been required by this section to submit a return must, within 30 days, notify the Commissioner accordingly in writing.

- (3) If a notification under subsection (2) is received by the Commissioner:
 - (a) before 31 March in a financial year—the company is not discharged from its liability to pay any unpaid instalments of its advance payment under section 112 for that year, or
 - (b) on or after 31 March in a financial year—the company is not discharged from its liability to pay any unpaid instalments of its advance payment for that year or its advance payment for the next financial year.
- (4) An insurance company is guilty of an offence if it:
 - (a) fails to lodge a return or notify the Commissioner as required by this section, or
 - (b) lodges a return under this section that is false or misleading in a material particular.

Maximum penalty (subsection (4)):

- (a) under paragraph (a)—1 penalty unit for each day the default continues, or
- (b) under paragraph (b)—10 penalty units.

117 Audit of accounts of insurance companies

- (1) At the request of the Minister, the Auditor-General may examine and audit, or cause to be examined and audited, the accounts (and any books and documents relating to the accounts) of any insurance company liable to pay contributions under this Part.
- (2) The examination and audit is to be in respect of matters relating to or arising out of the provisions of this Part.
- (3) The Auditor-General is to forward a report on the audit to the Minister as soon as practicable after it is completed.
- (4) It is an offence for a person:
 - (a) to obstruct the Auditor-General, or any person acting on behalf of the Auditor-General, when exercising functions under this section, or

- (b) to fail, without lawful excuse when requested to do so for the purposes of this section by the Auditor-General or a person so acting, to produce any account, book or record in the person's possession or under the person's control, or
- (c) to fail to answer any question asked by the Auditor-General or a person so acting, for the purposes of this section.

Maximum penalty: 5 penalty units.

Division 7 Miscellaneous

118 Application of the Fund

- (1) Money to the credit of the Fund may be applied by the Treasurer in or towards rural fire brigade expenditure incurred under the authority of this Act.
- (2) The Treasurer may pay such money out of the Fund on the certificate of the Minister.

119 Maintenance and disposal of fire fighting equipment purchased from Fund

- (1) In this section:
 - *fire fighting equipment* means fire fighting apparatus, buildings, water storage towers or lookout towers.
- (2) All fire fighting equipment purchased or constructed wholly or partly from money to the credit of the Fund is to be vested in the council of the area for or on behalf of which the fire fighting equipment has been purchased or constructed.
- (3) A council must not sell or otherwise dispose of any fire fighting equipment purchased or constructed wholly or partly from money to the credit of the Fund without the written consent of the Commissioner.
- (4) There is to be paid to the credit of the Fund:
 - (a) if the whole of the cost of the purchase or construction of any fire fighting equipment was met by money to the credit of the Fund:

- (i) an amount equal to the proceeds of sale of any such equipment, and
- any amount recovered (whether under a policy of (ii) from the Bush Fire insurance. Workers Compensation Fund under the Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Act 1987, or otherwise) in respect of the damage to, or destruction or loss of, any such equipment, and
- (b) if a part only of the cost of the purchase or construction of any such equipment was met by money to the credit of the Fund—an amount which bears to the amount that would be required by this subsection to be paid if the whole of that cost had been met by money to the credit of the Fund the same proportion as that part of the cost bears to the whole of that cost.
- (5) A council must take care of and maintain in the condition required by the Service Standards any fire fighting equipment vested in it under this section.
- (6) The Commissioner may, with the concurrence of the council in which fire fighting equipment is vested under this section, use any of the equipment not reasonably required by the council to deal with incidents in the area of the council to deal with incidents outside the area.

120 Consolidated fund of councils

- (1) Any of the following purposes are purposes to which the consolidated fund of a council may be applied under section 409 of the *Local Government Act 1993*:
 - (a) the purchase, distribution, maintenance and storage of fire fighting apparatus for the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush and other fires,
 - (b) the organising of rural fire brigades and such matters as are relevant to doing so, including the establishment of fire stations and fire control centres,
 - (c) the establishment and maintenance of fire breaks,

New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund

- (d) the removal or destruction of combustible matter,
- (e) the taking of measures generally for the prevention, mitigation or suppression of bush fires.
- (2) For the purposes of section 495 of the *Local Government Act* 1993, any work relating to the prevention, mitigation and suppression of bush and other fires is work in respect of which a council may make a special rate.

121 Distribution of annual report

As soon as practicable after the annual report which includes the financial statement prepared in accordance with Division 3 of Part 3 of the *Public Finance and Audit Act 1983* relating to the Fund has been laid before both Houses of Parliament or transmitted to the Clerk of the Parliaments and the Clerk of the Legislative Assembly, the Minister is to furnish to each council and each insurance company contributing to the Fund a copy of the annual report.

Part 6 Rural Fire Service Advisory Council

Note. Part 6 establishes a Rural Fire Service Advisory Council and provides for its composition, functions and procedure.

122 Establishment of Rural Fire Service Advisory Council

There is established by this Act a Rural Fire Service Advisory Council.

123 Membership and procedure of Advisory Council

- (1) The Rural Fire Service Advisory Council is to consist of 9 members as follows:
 - (a) the Commissioner, who is to be the Chairperson of the Council,
 - (b) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Insurance Council of Australia,
 - (c) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Local Government Association of New South Wales.
 - (d) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the Shires Association of New South Wales,
 - (e) 3 persons appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the NSW Rural Fire Service Association, 2 of whom are to be members of rural fire brigades and one of whom is to be a fire control officer,
 - (f) a person appointed by the Minister on the recommendation of the NSW Farmers Association,
 - (g) a person nominated by the Nature Conservation Council of New South Wales.
- (2) Schedule 1 has effect with respect to the members and procedures of the Advisory Council.

124 Functions of the Advisory Council

- (1) The Advisory Council has the following functions:
 - (a) to advise and report to the Minister and the Commissioner on any matter relating to the administration of rural fire services under this Act,

- (b) to advise the Commissioner on public education programs relating to rural fire matters and on training of rural fire fighters,
- (c) to advise the Commissioner on the issue of Service Standards.
- (d) such other functions as may be conferred or imposed on it by or under this or any other Act.
- (2) The Advisory Council may give advice and make reports whether or not the advice or reports were requested.

Part 7

Part 7 Miscellaneous

125 Act binds Crown

This Act binds the Crown in right of New South Wales and, in so far as the legislative power of Parliament permits, the Crown in all its other capacities.

126 Councils and other bodies to furnish information to Commissioner and the Co-ordinating Committee

Any person or body on which a function is conferred by or under this Act must furnish such information (and in such form) relating to the exercise of that function or the administration of this Act as the Commissioner or Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee may reasonably require.

127 Liability of persons in respect of loss or damage caused by bush or other fires

Except as expressly provided in this Act, nothing in this Act and no conviction, payment of penalty or proceeding taken under this Act affects or prejudices any civil claim, action or proceeding in respect of any loss or damage caused by any bush or other fire to which this Act relates or for any trespass committed.

128 Protection from liability

- (1) A matter or thing done or omitted to be done by a protected person or body does not, if the matter or thing was done in good faith for the purpose of executing any provision (other than section 33) of this or any other Act, subject such person personally, or the Crown, to any action, liability, claim or demand.
- (2) In this section:

protected person or body means the following:

- (a) the Minister.
- (b) the Commissioner and any person acting under the authority of the Commissioner,
- (c) any member of the Service,
- (d) a member of the Advisory Council or Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee,

- (e) the Commissioner of NSW Fire Brigades, the commissioner constituting the Forestry Commission, the Director-General of National Parks and Wildlife and any person acting under the authority of those persons,
- (f) an interstate fire brigade acting in pursuance of section 43.

Note. See section 731 of the *Local Government Act 1993* in respect of protection from liability of councils, councillors and employees of councils.

129 Commissioner may be represented at inquiry

- (1) The Commissioner may, at any inquest or inquiry relating to the cause or origin of any fire, be represented by a person appointed by the Commissioner for the purpose.
- (2) The Commissioner's representative may adduce evidence, examine witnesses and address the court at the inquest or inquiry.

130 Giving of notices

Except as otherwise expressly provided by this Act, a notice or direction required by or under this Act to be served on a person may be served as provided by the regulations.

131 Penalty notices

- (1) An authorised officer may serve a penalty notice on a person if it appears to the officer that the person has committed an offence against this Act or the regulations, being an offence prescribed by the regulations.
- (2) A penalty notice is a notice to the effect that, if the person served does not wish to have the matter determined by a court, the person may pay, within the time and to the person specified in the notice, the penalty prescribed by the regulations for the offence if dealt with under this section.
- (3) A penalty notice may be served personally or by post.
- (4) If the amount of the penalty prescribed for an alleged offence is paid under this section, no person is liable to any further proceedings for the alleged offence.
- (5) Payment under this section is not an admission of liability for the purposes of, and does not affect or prejudice, any civil claim, action or proceeding arising out of, the same occurrence.

- (6) The regulations may:
 - (a) prescribe an offence for the purposes of this section by specifying the offence by referring to the provision creating the offence, and
 - (b) prescribe the amount of penalty for an offence if dealt with under this section, and
 - (c) prescribe different amounts of penalty for different offences or classes of offences.
- (7) The amount of penalty prescribed under this section for an offence may not exceed the maximum amount of penalty which could be imposed for the offence by a court.
- (8) This section does not limit the operation of any other provision of, or made under, this or any other Act relating to proceedings which may be taken in respect of offences.
- (9) In this section, *authorised officer* means, in relation to a particular offence, a person belonging to a class of persons specified in the regulations in relation to that offence.

132 Powers of police officers

- (1) A police officer who has reasonable grounds to suspect that a person is committing an offence against this Act or the regulations may direct the person:
 - (a) to state the person's full name and residential address to the police officer, or
 - (b) to produce any permit, notice or other document by or under the authority of which the person claims that a fire has been lit.
- (2) A police officer may direct any person who has lit a fire in contravention of a provision of this Act or the regulations:
 - (a) to extinguish the fire, or
 - (b) if the fire is in the open air, to extinguish the fire before leaving the fire.
- (3) A person to whom a direction is given under this section must not fail to comply with the direction.

Maximum penalty: 5 penalty units.

- (4) A person is not guilty of an offence under this section unless the police officer explained to the person, when giving the direction, that failure to comply with the direction is an offence.
- (5) In this section:

light a fire includes:

- (a) maintain or use a fire, and
- (b) cause a fire to be lit, maintained or used.

133 Powers affecting land near certain bush fires

- (1) An authorised officer of a fire fighting authority may enter land within the prescribed distance from the land for which the fire fighting authority is responsible and do all such things as are reasonably necessary to suppress, or prevent the spread of, a bush fire from the land to the land for which the fire fighting authority is responsible.
- (2) An authorised officer may take the action referred to in subsection (1) whether or not the authorised officer has been requested to assist in suppressing or preventing the spread of the fire by the officer in charge of the land. However, if the authorised officer takes such action any arrangements set out in any bush fire management plan applying to the land or agreed with the authority responsible for the land must be observed.
- (3) In this section:

prescribed distance from land for which a fire fighting authority is responsible means:

- (a) 8 kilometres from the land, or
- (b) if another distance is specified in a bush fire management plan applying to land in the vicinity of the land for which the fire fighting authority is responsible—the distance specified.

134 Proceedings for offences

(1) Proceedings for an offence against this Act or the regulations are to be disposed of summarily before a Local Court constituted by a Magistrate sitting alone.

- (2) Part 9A of the *Criminal Procedure Act 1986* (which relates to the summary disposal of certain indictable offences unless an election is made to proceed on indictment) applies to and in respect of an offence under section 100 (1).
- (3) Proceedings for such an offence may be commenced at any time within 2 years after the date on which the offence is alleged to have been committed.

135 Regulations

- (1) The Governor may make regulations, not inconsistent with this Act, for or with respect to any matter that by this Act is required or permitted to be prescribed or that is necessary or convenient to be prescribed for carrying out or giving effect to this Act.
- (2) Without limiting subsection (1), regulations may be made for or with respect to:
 - (a) the appointment of fire control officers, deputy fire control officers and acting fire control officers,
 - (b) appeals under this Act,
 - (c) the issue of permits,
 - (d) the establishment of fire breaks,
 - (e) the use of fire in the open,
 - (f) the escape of sparks into the open,
 - (g) the operation of internal combustion engines,
 - (h) the storage of combustible materials,
 - (i) the classification of substances as combustible,
 - (j) the constitution, rules and functions of committees,
 - (k) the service of notices or directions given under this Act,
 - (l) conduct and discipline of members of the Service,
 - (m) the membership, officers, functions and operation of rural fire brigades and groups of rural fire brigades.
- (3) The regulations may create offences punishable by a penalty not exceeding 50 penalty units.

136 Repeal of Bush Fires Act 1949

The Bush Fires Act 1949 is repealed.

Section 137

Rural Fires Act 1997 No 65

Part 7

Miscellaneous

137 Savings and transitional provisions

Schedule 3 has effect.

138 Amendment of other laws

The Acts and statutory instruments specified in Schedule 4 are amended as set out in that Schedule.

139 Review of Act

- (1) The Minister is to review this Act to determine whether the policy objectives of the Act remain valid and whether the terms of the Act remain appropriate for securing those objectives.
- (2) The review is to be undertaken as soon as possible after the period of 5 years from the date of assent to this Act.
- (3) A report on the outcome of the review is to be tabled in each House of Parliament within 12 months after the end of the period of 5 years.

Constitution and precedure of Advisory Council and Bush Fire Schedule 1 Co-ordinating Committee

Schedule 1 Constitution and procedure of Advisory Council and Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

(Sections 47 and 123)

Part 1 General

1 Definitions

In this Schedule:

appointed member means a member of the Advisory Council or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee who is appointed by the Minister.

Chairperson means the Chairperson of the Advisory Council or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

member means any member of the Advisory Council or the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

Part 2 Constitution

2 Terms of office of appointed members

Subject to this Schedule, an appointed member holds office for such period (not exceeding 5 years) as is specified in the member's instrument of appointment, but is eligible (if otherwise qualified) for re-appointment.

3 Remuneration

An appointed member is entitled to be paid such remuneration (including travelling and subsistence allowances) as the Minister may from time to time determine in respect of the member.

4 Deputies

(1) A member (other than an appointed member) may, from time to time, appoint a person to be the member's deputy, and may revoke any such appointment.

- (2) The Minister may, from time to time, appoint a person to be the deputy of an appointed member, and may revoke any such appointment.
- (3) The deputy of a member appointed on the recommendation of a particular body, group or person is to be appointed on the recommendation of that body, group or person.
- (4) In the absence of a member, the member's deputy may, if available, act in the place of the member.
- (5) While acting in the place of a member, a person:
 - (a) has all the functions of the member and is taken to be a member, and
 - (b) is entitled to be paid such remuneration (including travelling and subsistence allowances) as the Minister may from time to time determine in respect of the person.
- (6) For the purposes of this clause, a vacancy in the office of a member is taken to be an absence of the member.
- (7) This clause does not operate to confer on a deputy of a member who is the Chairperson the member's functions as Chairperson.

5 Vacancy in office of member

- (1) The office of a member becomes vacant if the member:
 - (a) dies, or
 - (b) completes a term of office and is not re-appointed, or
 - (c) resigns the office by instrument in writing addressed to the Minister, or
 - (d) is removed from office by the Minister under this clause or by the Governor under Part 8 of the *Public Sector Management Act 1988*, or
 - (e) is absent from 3 consecutive meetings of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee of which reasonable notice has been given to the member personally or by post, except on leave granted by the Chairperson or unless the member is excused by the Chairperson for having been absent from those meetings, or

- (f) becomes bankrupt, applies to take the benefit of any law for the relief of bankrupt or insolvent debtors, compounds with his or her creditors or makes an assignment of his or her remuneration for their benefit, or
- (g) becomes a mentally incapacitated person, or
- (h) is convicted in New South Wales of an offence that is punishable by penal servitude or imprisonment for 12 months or more or is convicted elsewhere than in New South Wales of an offence that, if committed in New South Wales, would be an offence so punishable.
- (2) The Minister may at any time remove an appointed member from office.

6 Filling of vacancy in office of appointed member

If the office of any appointed member becomes vacant, a person is, subject to this Act, to be appointed to fill the vacancy.

7 Chairperson

- (1) The Chairperson vacates office as Chairperson if:
 - (a) he or she is removed from office by the Minister under this clause, or
 - (b) ceases to be a member.
- (2) The Minister may at any time remove the Chairperson from office as Chairperson.

8 Disclosure of pecuniary interests

- (1) If:
 - (a) a member has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a matter being considered or about to be considered at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee, and
 - (b) the interest appears to raise a conflict with the proper performance of the member's duties in relation to the consideration of the matter,

the member must, as soon as possible after the relevant facts have come to the member's knowledge, disclose the nature of the interest at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

- (2) A disclosure by a member at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee that the member:
 - (a) is a member, or is in the employment, of a specified company or other body, or
 - (b) is a partner, or is in the employment, of a specified person, or
 - (c) has some other specified interest relating to a specified company or other body or to a specified person,

is a sufficient disclosure of the nature of the interest in any matter relating to that company or other body or to that person which may arise after the date of the disclosure and which is required to be disclosed under subclause (1).

- (3) Particulars of any disclosure made under this clause must be recorded by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee in a book kept for the purpose and that book must be open at all reasonable hours for inspection by any person on payment of the fee determined by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (4) After a member has disclosed the nature of an interest in any matter, the member must not, unless the Minister or the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee otherwise determines:
 - (a) be present during any deliberation of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee with respect to the matter, or
 - (b) take part in any decision of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee with respect to the matter.
- (5) For the purposes of the making of a determination by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee under subclause (4), a member who has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a matter to which the disclosure relates must not:

- (a) be present during any deliberation of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee for the purpose of making the determination, or
- (b) take part in the making by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee of the determination.
- (6) A contravention of this clause does not invalidate any decision of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

9 Effect of certain other Acts

- (1) Part 2 of the *Public Sector Management Act 1988* does not apply to or in respect of the appointment of a member.
- (2) If by or under any Act provision is made:
 - (a) requiring a person who is the holder of a specified office to devote the whole of his or her time to the duties of that office, or
 - (b) prohibiting the person from engaging in employment outside the duties of that office,

the provision does not operate to disqualify the person from holding that office and also the office of a member or from accepting and retaining any remuneration payable to the person under this Act as a member.

(3) The office of a member is not, for the purposes of any Act, an office or place of profit under the Crown.

Part 3 Procedure

10 General procedure

The procedure for the calling of meetings of the Advisory Council and the Co-ordinating Committee and for the conduct of business at those meetings is, subject to this Act and the regulations, to be as determined by the Chairperson.

11 Validity of certain acts or proceedings

Any act or proceeding of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee is, even though at the time when the act or proceeding was done, taken or commenced there was: Constitution and procedure of Advisory Council and Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee

- (a) a vacancy in the office of a member of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee, or
- (b) any defect in the appointment, or any disqualification of a member of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

as valid as if the vacancy, defect or disqualification did not exist and the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee were fully and properly constituted.

12 Quorum

- (1) The quorum for a meeting of the Advisory Council is 5 members.
- (2) The quorum for a meeting of the Co-ordinating Committee is 7 members.

13 Presiding member

- (1) The Chairperson (or, in the absence of the Chairperson, another member elected to chair the meeting by the members present) is to preside at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (2) The presiding member has a deliberative vote and, in the event of an equality of votes, has a second or casting vote.

14 Voting

A decision supported by a majority of the votes cast at a meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee at which a quorum is present is the decision of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

15 Subcommittees

- (1) The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may establish subcommittees to assist the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee in the exercise of its functions.
- (2) At least one of the members of a subcommittee must be a member of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee but it does not matter if none of the other members of a subcommittee is a member of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.

- (3) The procedures for calling meetings of a subcommittee and for the conduct of those meetings are to be determined by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee (or, subject to any determination by the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee) by the subcommittee.
- (4) The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may delegate to a subcommittee any of the functions of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee, other than this power of delegation.

16 Transaction of business outside meetings or by telephone

- (1) The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may, if it thinks fit, transact any of its business by the circulation of papers among all the members of the Council or Committee for the time being, and a resolution in writing approved in writing by a majority of those members is taken to be a decision of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (2) The Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee may, if it thinks fit, transact any of its business at a meeting at which members (or some members) participate by telephone, closed-circuit television or other means, but only if any member who speaks on a matter before the meeting can be heard by the other members.
- (3) For the purposes of:
 - (a) the approval of a resolution under subclause (1), or
 - (b) a meeting held in accordance with subclause (2),
 - the Chairperson and each member have the same voting rights as they have at an ordinary meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (4) A resolution approved under subclause (1) is, subject to the regulations, to be recorded in the minutes of the meetings of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee.
- (5) Papers may be circulated among the members for the purposes of subclause (1) by facsimile or other transmission of the information in the papers concerned.

17 First meeting

The Minister may call the first meeting of the Advisory Council or Co-ordinating Committee in such manner as the Minister thinks fit.

Schedule 2 Contributions of insurance companies

(Section 112)

	Column 1	Column 2
	Classes of policies of insurance	Amount of premiums subject to contribution
(1)	Any insurance of property and including consequential loss but not including any insurance of a class specified in items (2)–(8)	80%
(2)	Houseowners and householders, however designated (buildings or contents or both)	50%
(3)	Personal combined on personal jewellery and clothing, personal effects and works of art	10%
(4)	Motor vehicle and motor cycle	2.5%
(5)	Marine and baggage—any insurance confined to maritime perils or confined to risks involving transportation on land or in the air, and including storage incidental to the transportation by sea, land or air, but not including other Static Risks which are to be declared under item (1)	1%
	Note. Static Risks includes all movements of goods and/or stock and/or material associated with processing or storage operations at any situation.	
(6)	(a) Combined fire and hail on growing crops	1%
	(b) Livestock	1%
(7)	Aviation hull	Nil
(8)	Any insurance solely covering:	
	(a) Loss by theft	Nil
	(b) Plate glass	Nil
	(c) Machinery—confined to mechanical breakdown and/or consequential loss arising from mechanical breakdown	Nil
	(d) Explosion or collapse of boiler and pressure vessels—confined to damage other than by fire	Nil

Schedule 3 Savings and transitional provisions

(Section 137)

Part 1 General

1 Regulations

- (1) The regulations may contain provisions of a savings or transitional nature consequent on the enactment of this Act.
- (2) Any such provision may, if the regulations so provide, take effect from the date of assent to this Act or a later day.
- (3) To the extent to which any such provision takes effect from a date that is earlier than the date of its publication in the Gazette, the provision does not operate so as:
 - (a) to affect, in a manner prejudicial to any person (other than the State or an authority of the State), the rights of that person existing before the date of its publication, or
 - (b) to impose liabilities on any person (other than the State or an authority of the State) in respect of anything done or omitted to be done before the date of its publication.

Part 2 Provisions consequent on this Act

2 Commissioner and other public service staff

The repeal of the Bush Fires Act 1949 does not affect the appointment of the person holding office as the Commissioner of Bush Fire Services at the time of the repeal or of any other staff under the Public Sector Management Act 1988.

3 Dissolution of Bush Fire Council, Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee and Finance Committee

(1) In this clause:

replaced body means:

(a) the Bush Fire Council, or

- (b) the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee, or
- (c) the Finance Committee,

within the meaning of the Bush Fires Act 1949, as in force immediately before the commencement of this clause.

- (2) On the commencement of this clause each replaced body is dissolved.
- (3) A person who, immediately before the commencement of this clause held office as a member of a replaced body:
 - (a) ceases to hold that office, and
 - (b) is not entitled to any remuneration or compensation because of that loss of office.

but is entitled (if otherwise eligible) to hold the office on a replacing body.

4 Fire control officer

A person holding office as a fire control officer or deputy fire control officer for a bush fire district under the *Bush Fires Act* 1949 immediately before the commencement of section 34 is taken to have been appointed as the fire control officer or deputy fire control officer for that district as constituted as a rural fire district under this Act.

5 Bush fire brigades

- (1) A bush fire brigade formed or organised for a bush fire district under the *Bush Fires Act 1949* immediately before the commencement of section 15 is taken to be the rural fire brigade for the district as constituted as a rural fire district under this Act.
- (2) A member or officer of a bush fire brigade formed or organised for a bush fire district under the *Bush Fires Act 1949* immediately before the commencement of section 15 is taken to be a member or officer of the rural fire brigade for the district as constituted as a rural fire district under this Act.

6 Nomenclature

Despite clause 7, a bush fire brigade that by the operation of that clause is taken to be a rural fire brigade may resolve that it continue to be known as the "X bush fire brigade", X being the name of the rural fire brigade.

7 Reference to bodies

On and from the commencement of the relevant provision of this Act, a reference (however expressed) in any other Act (whether assented to before, on or after the commencement of this clause) or in any other instrument:

- (a) to a bush fire district is to be read as a reference to a rural fire district under this Act.
- (b) to a fire control officer for a bush fire district is to be read as a reference to a fire control officer for a rural fire district under this Act.
- (c) to a bush fire brigade is to be read as a reference to a rural fire brigade under this Act,
- (d) to a group of bush fire brigades is to be read as a reference to a group of rural fire brigades under this Act,
- (e) to the New South Wales Bush Fire Fighting Fund is to be read as a reference to the New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund,
- (f) to a Bush Fire Management Committee within the meaning of the *Bush Fires Act 1949* is to be read as a reference to a Bush Fire Management Committee constituted under Part 3,
- (g) to a plan of operations or fuel management plan approved under section 41A of the *Bush Fires Act 1949* is to be read as a reference to a plan of operations or bush fire risk management plan, respectively, within the meaning of this Act.

8 Bush fire management plans

A plan of operations or fuel management plan prepared and submitted to the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee by a Bush Fire Management Committee within the meaning of the Bush Fires Act 1949 is taken, until the day that is 2 years after the day it was approved under section 41A of that Act or unless it is sooner revoked, to be a plan of operations or bush fire risk management plan, respectively, that is in force under this Act.

9 Transfer of assets of Fire Prevention Associations

(1) In this clause:

assets means any legal or equitable estate or interest (whether present or future and whether vested or contingent) in real or personal property of any description (including money), and includes choses in action and documents.

Association means Fire Prevention Association within the meaning of the Bush Fires Act 1949.

liabilities means all liabilities, debts and obligations (whether present or future and whether vested or contingent).

- (2) On the commencement of this clause:
 - (a) the assets and liabilities of an Association become assets and liabilities of the Crown, and
 - (b) all proceedings by or against an Association pending immediately before that day become proceedings pending by or against the Crown.

10 Certain fire control officers who are councillors to cease to hold office

- (1) Despite section 36, a fire control officer or a deputy fire control officer who, immediately before the commencement of that section is a councillor, continues, subject to this Act, to be such an officer for the balance of his or her term of office as a councillor.
- (2) Any such fire control officer or a deputy fire control officer does not, by virtue of holding that office, hold an office or place of profit for the purposes of section 275 (2) of the *Local Government Act 1993*.
- (3) In this clause:

councillor has the same meaning as it has in the Local Government Act 1993.

11 Fire patrol officers

A person who, immediately before the commencement of this clause, held office as a fire patrol officer, or honorary fire patrol officer, under the *Bush Fires Act 1949*:

- (a) ceases to hold that office, and
- (b) is not entitled to any remuneration or compensation because of that loss of office.

Schedule 4 Amendment of other laws

(Section 138)

4.1 Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust Regulation 1993

Clause 13 Damage to Trust lands, vegetation etc

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from clause 13 (j) (i). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.2 Clean Air (Control of Burning) Regulation 1995

Clause 4

Omit the clause. Insert instead:

4 Bush fire hazard reduction

This Regulation does not limit or affect any right or obligation to carry out bush fire hazard reduction work under the Rural Fires Act 1997 that, in the opinion of the authority authorised to carry out the work, or local authority requiring the work to be carried out, is reasonably necessary for the protection of life, property or the environment.

4.3 Coroners Act 1980 No 27

Section 15 Inquiries into fires and explosions

Omit section 15 (3) (b). Insert instead:

(b) in the case of a bush fire within the meaning of the Rural Fires Act 1997 by the Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service, or

4.4 Criminal Procedure Act 1986 No 209

[1] Section 33K Maximum penalties for Table 2 offences

Insert at the end of section 33K (2):

- (i) for an offence under section 100 (1) of the *Rural Fires Act 1997*—imprisonment for 2 years, or a fine of 100 penalty units, or both.
- [2] Part 9A, Table 2 Indictable offences that are to be dealt with summarily unless prosecuting authority elects otherwise

Insert after Part 4:

Part 5 Offences relating to fires

9 Rural Fires Act 1997

An offence under section 100 (1) of the Rural Fires Act 1997.

4.5 Crown Lands (General Reserves) By-law 1995

Clause 23 Regulation of conduct within reserve

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from clause 23 (2) (1) (i). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.6 Dangerous Goods Regulation 1978

Clause 16 Prescription of dangerous goods

Insert after clause 16 (e):

(f) any matches other than those so made as to strike only on a preparation attached to the containing box or a box containing the same description of matches.

4.7 Driving Instructors Regulation 1993

[1] Clause 4 Certain persons are not driving instructors (section 4 (3))

Omit "Bush Fire Services" from clause 4 (2). Insert instead "Rural Fire Service".

[2] Clause 4 (3)

Omit "bush fire brigades". Insert instead "rural fire brigades".

[3] Section 4 (3)

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.8 Environmental Offences and Penalties Act 1989 No 150

Section 27A Exemptions for Fire Brigades, rural fire brigades and other emergency services

Omit "bush fire brigade". Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

4.9 Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 1994

Clause 65 What additional matters must a consent authority take into consideration in determining a development application?

Omit "Bush Fire Services" from paragraph (e). Insert instead "Rural Fire Service".

4.10 Fire Brigades Act 1989 No 192

[1] Section 3 Definitions

Omit "bush fire brigade" from the definitions of *fire brigade* and *volunteer fire brigade* in section 3 (1).

Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

[2] Section 13 General powers of officers at fires and hazardous material incidents

Omit "section 41A of the Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 13 (2). Insert instead "section 52 of the Rural Fires Act 1997".

[3] Section 80 Information to policy holders

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 80 (2) (b). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.11 Forestry Act 1916 No 55

Section 11 Powers and duties of the commission

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 11 (1) (i). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.12 Freedom of Information (General) Regulation 1995

Schedule 3 Public Authorities

Omit the matter relating to the Bush Fire Council from Part 3. Insert instead:

Rural Fire Service Advisory Council NSW Rural Fire Service

4.13 Land and Environment Court Act 1979 No 204

Section 20 Class 4 environmental planning and protection and development contract civil enforcement

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949;" from section 20 (3) (a). Insert in alphabetical order of Acts "Rural Fires Act 1997,".

4.14 Local Government Act 1993 No 30

[1] Section 22 Other functions

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" and "Bush Fire Council" from the note to section 22.

Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997" and "Rural Fire Service Advisory Council" respectively.

[2] Section 428 Annual reports

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 428 (2) (i1). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.15 Lord Howe Island Act 1953 No 39

Section 11 General functions of the Board

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949 as amended by subsequent Acts" from section 11 (4) (b).

Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.16 Motor Traffic Regulations 1935

Regulation 34 Other exemptions from registration, licensing etc

Omit "bush fire brigade" from Regulation 34 (1) (a1). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

4.17 Motor Vehicles Taxation Act 1988 No 111

Section 16 Vehicles totally exempt from tax (cf Act No 34 of 1949, s 7)

Omit "bush fire brigade" from section 16 (1) (e). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

4.18 National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 No 80

[1] Sections 91AA (3) (b), 118A (3) (c), 118C (5) (c) and 118D (2) (c)

Omit "the Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Part 2 of the Rural Fires Act 1997".

[2] Sections 99 (3) (a) and 112G (4) (a)

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.19 Occupational Health and Safety (Hazardous Substances) Regulation 1996

Dictionary

Omit paragraphs (c) and (h) of the definition of *emergency service*. Insert instead:

- (c) a rural fire brigade,
- (h) the Rural Fire Service.

4.20 Pay-roll Tax Act 1971 No 22

Section 10 Exemption from pay-roll tax

Omit "bush fire brigade under the Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 10 (1) (0).

Insert instead "rural fire brigade under the Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.21 Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 No 152

Schedule 3 Departments

Omit the matter relating to the Department of Bush Fire Services. Insert in alphabetical order of Departments:

Department of Rural Fire Service

Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service

4.22 Public Sector Management Act 1988 No 33

[1] Schedule 1 Departments

Omit the matter relating to the Department of Bush Fire Services. Insert in alphabetical order of Departments:

Department of Rural Fire Service

Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service

[2] Schedule 3B Senior executive positions

Omit the matter relating to the Department of Bush Fire Services from Part 1.

Insert in alphabetical order of Departments:

Department of Rural Fire Service

Senior Assistant Commissioner

Executive Director, Corporate

Services

Director, Office for Emergency Services

4.23 Soil Conservation Act 1938 No 10

Section 21D Authority to destroy timber on protected land

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from section 21D (3) (f). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.24 State Emergency and Rescue Management Act 1989 No 165

[1] Section 3 Definitions

Omit "Bush Fire Brigades" from the definition of *emergency* services organisation in section 3 (1).

Insert instead "Rural Fire Brigades".

[2] Section 32A Definitions

Omit "bush fire brigade" from the definition of *emergency services* officer in section 32A.

Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

[3] Section 43 Composition of Board

Omit "Commissioner of Bush Fire Services" from section 43 (1) (e). Insert instead "Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service".

4.25 State Environmental Planning Policy No 4— Development Without Consent

[1] Clause 6 Subdivision

Omit "bush fire brigade" from clause 6 (1) (f). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

[2] Clause 11D Bush fire hazard reduction

Omit "plan of operations, within the meaning of section 41A of the *Bush Fires Act 1949*," from clause 11D (2) (a). Insert instead "bush fire management plan referred to in section 52 of the *Rural Fires Act 1997*".

4.26 State Environmental Planning Policy No 46—Protection and Management of Native Vegetation

Schedule 3 Exemptions

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from paragraph (f). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.27 Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995 No 101

Sections 71 (3), 88 (3) and 114 (3) (b)

Omit "the Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring. Insert instead "Part 2 of the Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.28 Western Lands Regulation 1992

Clause 28 Exemptions from the requirement to obtain a clearing licence (s 18DB (4) (c))

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from clause 28 (9). Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

4.29 Workers Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Act 1987 No 83

[1] Section 5 Definitions (cf former s 17B (1))

Omit "bush fire brigade" and "bush fire brigades" wherever occurring (except in the definition of **bush fire brigade**). Insert instead "rural fire brigade" and "rural fire brigades" respectively.

[2] Section 5, definition of "bush fire brigade"

Omit the definition. Insert instead in alphabetical order:

rural fire brigade means any rural fire brigade formed under the Rural Fires Act 1997.

[3] Section 8 Associated operation or work (cf definition of "injury" in former s 17B (1))

Omit "bush fire brigade" wherever occurring. Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

[4] Section 18 Exclusion from Part—fire districts (cf former s 17A (1))

Omit "bush fire brigade" wherever occurring in section 18 (2). Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

[5] Section 20 Assessment and payment of contributions to Fund (cf former s 17G)

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" wherever occurring from section 20 (3)–(6).

Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

[6] Section 20 (4)

Omit "New South Wales Bush Fire Fighting Fund". Insert instead "New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund".

4.30 Workers Compensation (Bush Fire, Emergency and Rescue Services) Regulation 1995

[1] Clause 3 Definitions

Omit "Bush Fires Act 1949" from the definition of fire control officer.

Insert instead "Rural Fires Act 1997".

[2] Clause 9 Associated operation or work fund-raising activities

Omit "bush fire brigade". Insert instead "rural fire brigade".

Dictionary

In this Act:

Advisory Council means the Rural Fire Service Advisory Council.

approved form means a form approved for the time being by the Minister.

area of a local authority means the area in relation to which the local authority exercises its functions.

authorised officer of a fire fighting authority or other authority means an officer of, or person authorised to exercise functions, conferred on authorised officers under this Act by, a fire fighting authority or other authority.

brigade member means a person shown on the register of a rural fire brigade as a member of the brigade.

bush fire includes a grass fire.

bush fire danger period means a period fixed by or under section 81 or 82 as a bush fire danger period.

bush fire hazard reduction notice means a notice under section 66.

bush fire hazard reduction work means:

- (a) the establishment or maintenance of fire breaks on land, and
- (b) the controlled application of appropriate fire regimes or other means for the reduction or modification of available fuels within a predetermined area to mitigate against the spread of a bush fire but does not include construction of a track, trail or road.

bush fire management plan means a plan of operations or a bush fire risk management plan.

bush fire risk management plan means a plan prepared under Division 4 of Part 3 for the purpose referred to in section 54.

combat agency see section 4.

combustible matter means:

- (a) any matter or substance capable of ignition by the application of heat, fire, flame or sparks or spontaneously, and
- (b) any matter or substance prescribed by the regulations as combustible matter for the purposes of this definition.

Commissioner means the Commissioner of the NSW Rural Fire Service.

Co-ordinating Committee means the Bush Fire Co-ordinating Committee.

council means a council or county council within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1993.

Crown land has the same meaning as in the Crown Lands Act 1989.

Note. Crown land, as defined in the *Crown Lands Act 1989*, means land that is vested in the Crown or was acquired under the Closer Settlement Acts as in force before their repeal, not in either case being:

- (a) land dedicated for a public purpose, or
- (b) land that has been sold or lawfully contracted to be sold and in respect of which the purchase price or other consideration for the sale has been received by the Crown.

Displan see section 4.

emergency see section 4.

emergency services organisation see section 4.

exercise of a function includes the performance of a duty.

financial year means the period from 1 July to the following 30 June.

fire brigade means a fire brigade within the meaning of the Fire Brigades Act 1989.

fire control officer means a fire control officer appointed under this Act.

fire district means land within a fire district constituted under the Fire Brigades Act 1989.

fire fighting apparatus includes all vehicles, equipment and other things used for or in connection with the prevention or suppression of fire or the protection of life or property in case of fire.

fire fighting authority means the following:

- (a) the Service,
- (b) New South Wales Fire Brigades,
- (c) the National Parks and Wildlife Service,
- (d) the Forestry Commission,
- (e) any other body prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this definition.

fire permit means a permit issued under section 89.

Forestry Commission means the Forestry Commission of New South Wales.

function includes a power, authority or duty.

Fund means the New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund.

group of rural fire brigades means two or more rural fire brigades that comprise a group of rural fire brigades formed under section 15.

insurance company see section 101.

light a fire see section 85.

local authority means:

- (a) in relation to land that is situated within an area within the meaning of the *Local Government Act 1993*—the council of the area, or
- (b) in relation to land within the Western Division—the Western Lands Commissioner, or
- (c) in relation to Lord Howe Island—the Lord Howe Island Board.

managed land means land that is:

- (a) dedicated or reserved, or acquired for the purpose of dedication or reservation, under the *Forestry Act 1916*, or in respect of which the Forestry Commission has obtained the benefit of a forestry right as referred to in section 11 (1) (m) (iia) of that Act, or
- (b) dedicated or reserved, or acquired for the purpose of dedication or reservation, under the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974, or
- (c) vested in, or under the control of, the State Rail Authority or Rail Access Corporation, or
- (d) land within the catchment area of a water authority, or
- (e) other land prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this definition.

Management Committee means a Bush Fire Management Committee constituted under Part 3.

members of the Service means the persons comprising the NSW Rural Fire Service.

occupier of land means:

- (a) the person who has the management or beneficial use of the land (whether resident on the land or not), or
- (b) if the land is a public reserve or park—the trustees or any person having the care, control and management of the land.

officer of a rural fire brigade (or group of rural fire brigades) means the holder of a rank designated as the position of an officer by the Commissioner under section 12.

officer in charge at a fire at which a rural fire brigade is present for the purpose of mitigating or suppressing the fire means:

- (a) the Commissioner, or
- (b) if the Commissioner is absent, the person for the time being in charge of the members of the rural fire brigade present at that fire.

owner of land:

- (a) in relation to Crown land, means the Crown and includes:
 - (i) a lessee of land from the Crown, and
 - (ii) a person to whom the Crown has lawfully contracted to sell the land but in respect of which the purchase price or other consideration for the sale has not been received by the Crown, and
- (b) in relation to land other than Crown land, includes:
 - (i) every person who jointly or severally, whether at law or in equity, is entitled to the land for any estate of freehold in possession, and
 - (ii) every such person who is entitled to receive, or is in receipt of, or if the land were let to a tenant would be entitled to receive, the rents and profits of the land, whether as beneficial owner, trustee, mortgagee in possession, or otherwise, and

- (iii) in the case of land that is the subject of a strata scheme under the Strata Titles Act 1973 or a leasehold strata scheme under the Strata Titles (Leasehold) Act 1986, the body corporate under that scheme, and
- (iv) in the case of land that is a community, precinct or neighbourhood parcel within the meaning of the *Community* Land Development Act 1989, the association for the parcel, and
- (v) every person who by this Act is taken to be the owner, and
- (c) in relation to land subject to a mining lease under the *Mining Act* 1992, the holder of the lease.

plan of operations means a plan prepared under Division 4 of Part 3 for the purposes referred to in section 53.

premises includes any building of any description or any part of a building and any land whether built on or not but does not include any building on, or land forming part of, managed lands.

public authority means:

- (a) any public or local authority constituted by or under an Act other than this Act, or
- (b) any Government Department, or
- (c) a statutory body representing the Crown, or
- (d) a State owned corporation, or
- (e) any person prescribed by the regulations as a public authority.

rural fire brigade means a rural fire brigade formed under Part 2.

rural fire district means a rural fire district within the meaning of Part 1.

rural fire services see section 9 (4).

Service means the NSW Rural Fire Service established under Part 2.

Service Standards means the policy statements issued by the Commissioner under section 13 as in force from time to time.

territory of a rural fire brigade or group of rural fire brigades means the territory of the brigade or group as determined under section 19.

Dictionary

tree includes bush, shrub, scrub, timber, grass or vegetative or other material.

unoccupied Crown land means Crown land that is not:

- (a) held under lease or licence, or
- (b) vested in, or under the control of, trustees.

vehicle means any means of transport whether self-propelled or not, and whether used on land or water or in the air.

Western Division means the Western Division established under the Crown Lands Act 1989.

[Minister's second reading speech made in— Legislative Assembly on 28 May 1997 Legislative Council on 25 June 1997]